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(888) 400-2863
NOTICE OF 2021 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
TO BE HELD ON JUNE 15, 2021
“VIRTUAL” MEETING ONLY
To the Stockholders of BioLargo, Inc.:
You are cordially invited to attend the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders of BioLargo, Inc. on June 15, 2021, at 10:00 a.m. Pacific Time, online via a live
webcast at https://agm.issuerdirect.com/blgo (the “Annual Meeting”). In light of the continuing public health impact of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and to support
the health and safety of the Company’s stockholders and attendees, the Annual Meeting will be held in a virtual meeting format on the above date and time via live
audio webcast. There will be no in-person meeting.
Information and procedures to follow on how to participate in the Annual Meeting are included in the 2021 proxy materials and will be disclosed on the Annual
Meeting website (https://agm.issuerdirect.com/blgo). Your Board of Directors and management look forward to greeting those stockholders who are able to attend
online.
The Notice of Annual Meeting and Proxy Statement, which contain information concerning the business to be transacted at the meeting, appear in the
following pages.
It is important that your shares be represented and voted at the Annual Meeting, whether or not you plan to attend online. Stockholders of record as of April
19, 2021, may vote at the Annual Meeting. Please review the proxy statement and vote online, by telephone, by facsimile, or by mailing the enclosed proxy card or voting
instruction form at your earliest convenience.
Your interest and participation in the affairs of the Company are greatly appreciated.

Sincerely

/s/ Dennis P. Calvert
Dennis P. Calvert
President and Chief Executive Officer
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NOTICE OF 2021 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS

Date:
Time:
Place:

Tuesday June 15, 2021
10:00 a.m. Pacific Time
Online only webcast at https://agm.issuerdirect.com/blgo

Proposals to be voted on:
1.

A proposal to elect the following seven individuals to our Board of Directors: Dennis P. Calvert, Kenneth R. Code, Dennis E. Marshall, Joseph L.
Provenzano, Kent C. Roberts II, John S. Runyan and Jack B. Strommen.

2.

Advisory approval of the Company’s executive compensation.

3.

A proposal to ratify the appointment of Haskell & White LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the 2021 fiscal year.

4.

A proposal to re-authorize a reverse stock split of our common stock at a ratio between one-for-four (1:4) and one-for-twenty (1:20), if and as
determined by our board of directors, at any time before the next meeting of stockholders of the Company.

5.

A proposal to authorize a reduction of the number of shares of common stock authorized by our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, if
and in an amount as determined by our board of directors.

The annual meeting will also address such other business as may properly come before the annual meeting or any postponement or adjournment thereof.
The foregoing items of business are more fully described in the Proxy Statement accompanying this Notice.
Only stockholders of record at the close of business on April 19, 2021 are entitled to notice of and to vote at the annual meeting. A Notice of Internet
Availability of Proxy Materials containing instructions on how to access our Proxy Statement and Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2020, and how to vote will be mailed on or about April 29, 2021 to all stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Dennis P. Calvert
President and Chief Executive Officer
April 22, 2021

Important Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials for the Stockholder Meeting to be held virtually on Tuesday, June 15, 2021. The Proxy
Statement and the Annual Report to Stockholders are available at https://agm.issuerdirect.com/blgo.
YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT.
ALL STOCKHOLDERS ARE CORDIALLY INVITED TO ATTEND THE ANNUAL MEETING. WHETHER OR NOT YOU PLAN TO ATTEND THE MEETING, IT IS
IMPORTANT THAT YOUR SHARES BE REPRESENTED. FOR SPECIFIC INSTRUCTIONS ON VOTING, PLEASE REFER TO THE INSTRUCTIONS INCLUDED
WITH THE NOTICE OF INTERNET AVAILABILITY OF PROXY MATERIALS OR THE PROXY CARD OR VOTING INSTRUCTION CARD INCLUDED WITH THE
PROXY MATERIALS.
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BIOLARGO, INC.
PROXY STATEMENT FOR THE
2021 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
INFORMATION CONCERNING SOLICITATION AND VOTING

The enclosed Proxy is solicited on behalf of the Board of Directors of BioLargo, Inc. (“BioLargo” or the “Company”), for use at the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be held on Tuesday, June 15, 2021, at 10:00 a.m. Pacific Time (the “Annual Meeting”), and at any postponement or adjournment thereof. The Annual
Meeting will be held online via webcast at https://agm.issuerdirect.com/blgo. The purposes of the Annual Meeting are set forth in the accompanying Notice of Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.
As permitted by the rules adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, we are making these proxy solicitation materials and the Annual Report
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, including the financial statements, available to our stockholders electronically via the Internet. A Notice of Internet
Availability of Proxy Materials (the “Notice”) containing instructions on how to access our Proxy Statement and Annual Report for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2020, and how to vote will be mailed on or about April 29, 2021, to all stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting. Our principal executive offices are located at 14921
Chestnut Street, Westminster, California 92683. Our telephone number is (888) 400-2863. Our proxy materials are posted on the Internet at
https://agm.issuerdirect.com/blgo.
GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE MEETING
Who May Vote
You may vote if our records show that you own shares of BioLargo as of April 19, 2021 (the “Record Date”). As of the Record Date, we had a total of
239,442,848 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, which were held of record by approximately 650 stockholders, and beneficially by approximately 4,800. As
of the Record Date, we had no shares of preferred stock outstanding. You are entitled to one vote for each share that you own.
Voting Your Proxy
If a broker, bank or other nominee holds your shares, you will receive instructions from them that you must follow in order to have your shares voted. If a bank,
broker or other nominee holds your shares and you wish to attend the meeting and vote in person, you must obtain a “legal proxy” from the record holder of the shares
giving you the right to vote the shares.
If you hold your shares in your own name as a holder of record at the Company’s transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust, you may instruct the proxy
holders how to vote your common stock in one of the following ways:
•

Vote by Internet. You may vote via the Internet by following the instructions provided in the Notice or, if you received printed materials, on your proxy card.
The website for Internet voting is https://www.iproxydirect.com/BLGO and is also printed on the Notice and on your proxy card. Please have your Notice or
proxy card in hand as you will need the information provided to vote your shares. Internet voting is available 24 hours per day until the voting concludes
during the meeting. You will also be given the opportunity to confirm that your instructions have been properly recorded. IF YOU VOTE VIA THE INTERNET,
YOU DO NOT NEED TO RETURN YOUR PROXY CARD.
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•

Vote by Mail. If you would like to vote by mail, then please mark, sign and date your proxy card and return it promptly in the postage-paid envelope provided.

•

Vote by Fax. If you would like to vote via facsimile, then please mark, sign and date your proxy card and return it via facsimile to 202-521-3464.

•

Vote by Phone. If you would like to vote via telephone, you may call (866) 752-8683.
If you sign and return a proxy card without giving specific voting instructions, your shares will be voted as recommended by our Board of Directors.
If you vote by phone, fax, or Internet, please DO NOT mail your proxy card.

Proposals to be Presented
We are not aware of any proposals to be presented other than the proposals described in this Proxy Statement. If any proposals not described in the Proxy
Statement are properly presented at the meeting, the proxy holders will use their own judgment to determine how to vote your shares. If the meeting is adjourned, the
proxy holders can vote your shares on the new meeting date as well, unless you have revoked your proxy instructions.
Changing Your Vote
To revoke your proxy instructions if you are a holder of record, you must (i) advise our Corporate Secretary in writing before the proxy holders vote your
shares, or (ii) deliver later proxy instructions. If your shares are held by a bank, broker or other nominee, you must follow the instructions provided by the bank, broker
or nominee.
Cost of This Proxy Solicitation
We will pay the cost of this proxy solicitation. We may, on request, reimburse brokerage firms and other nominees for their expenses in forwarding proxy
materials to beneficial owners. In addition to soliciting proxies by mail, we expect that our directors, officers and employees may solicit proxies in person or by telephone
or facsimile. None of these individuals will receive any additional or special compensation for doing this, although we will reimburse these individuals for their
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses.
How Votes are Counted
The Annual Meeting will be held if a majority of the outstanding common stock entitled to vote is represented at the meeting. If you have returned valid proxy
instructions or attend the meeting, your common stock will be counted for the purpose of determining whether there is a quorum, even if you wish to abstain from
voting on some or all proposals at the meeting.
Abstentions and Broker Non-Votes
Shares that are voted “WITHHELD” or “ABSTAIN” are treated as being present for purposes of determining the presence of a quorum and as entitled to vote
on a particular proposal at the Annual Meeting. If you hold your common stock through a bank, broker or other nominee, the broker may be prevented from voting
shares held in your account on some proposals (a “broker non-vote”) unless you have given voting instructions to the bank, broker or nominee. Shares that are subject
to a broker non-vote are counted for purposes of determining whether a quorum exists but not for purposes of determining whether a proposal has passed.
-2-
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Our Voting Recommendations
When proxies are properly dated, executed and returned via U.S. mail or by facsimile, or appropriately voted via the Internet or by telephone, the shares
represented by such proxies will be voted at the Annual Meeting in accordance with the instructions of the stockholder. However, if no specific instructions are given,
the shares will be voted in accordance with the following recommendations of our Board of Directors:
●

“FOR” the election of Dennis P. Calvert, Kenneth R. Code, Dennis E. Marshall, Joseph L. Provenzano, Kent C. Roberts II, John S. Runyan and Jack B. Strommen
to the Board of Directors;

●

“FOR” the advisory vote on executive compensation.

●

“FOR” the proposal to ratify the appointment of Haskell & White LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for the 2021 fiscal year.

●

“FOR” the proposal to authorize a reverse stock split of our common stock at a ratio between one-for-four (1:4) and one-for-one twenty (1:20), if and as
determined by our board of directors, at any time before the next meeting of stockholders of the Company.

●

“FOR” the proposal to authorize a reduction of the number of shares of common stock authorized by our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, if
and in an amount as determined by our board of directors.

Deadlines for Receipt of Stockholder Proposals
Stockholders may present proposals for action at a future meeting only if they comply with the requirements of the proxy rules established by the SEC and our
bylaws. Stockholder proposals that are intended to be included in our Proxy Statement and form of Proxy relating to the meeting for our 2022 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders under rules set forth in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act, must be received by us no later than December
31, 2021 to be considered for inclusion. All proposals should be addressed to the Corporate Secretary, BioLargo, Inc., 14921 Chestnut Street, Westminster, California
92683.
-3-
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PROPOSAL ONE
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The nominees listed below have been selected by the Board, and all are currently members of the Board. If elected, each nominee will serve until the annual
meeting of stockholders to be held in 2022 (or action by written consent of stockholders in lieu thereof), or until his successor has been duly elected and qualified.
Composition of Board of Directors
Our bylaws provide that the Board shall consist of not less than two and not more than seven directors. The Board currently consists of seven members. The
Board has fixed the size of the Board to be elected in 2021 at seven members. There are no family relationships among any of our current directors, the nominees for
directors and our executive officers.
In the event that a nominee is unable or declines to serve as a director at the time of the Annual Meeting, the Board’s Nominating/Corporate Governance
Committee would identify and make recommendations to the Board regarding the selection and approval of candidates to fill such vacancy either by election by
stockholders or appointment by the Board. As of the date of this Proxy Statement, the Board is not aware of any nominee who is unable or will decline to serve as a
director. With respect to the nominees for election in 2021, the Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee recommended that the Board nominate for election by the
stockholders the individuals in Proposal One.
Nominees for Election as Directors
The following is certain information as of the Record Date regarding the nominees for election as directors.
Name
Dennis P. Calvert
Kenneth R. Code
Dennis E. Marshall(2)(3)(4)
Joseph L. Provenzano
Kent C. Roberts, II(1)(3)
John S. Runyan(1)(5)(6)
Jack B. Strommen
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

Position with Company
President, Chief Executive Officer, Chairman, and Director
Chief Science Officer, Director
Director
Vice President of Operations, Corporate Secretary and Director
Director
Director
Director

Age
58
74
78
52
61
82
51

Director Since
June 2002
April 2007
April 2006
June 2002
August 2011
October 2011
June 2017

Member of Audit Committee
Member of Compensation Committee
Member of Nominating and Governance Committee
Chairman of Audit Committee
Chairman of Compensation Committee
Chairman of Nominating and Governance Committee

Vote Required
If a quorum is present, the nominees receiving the highest number of votes will be elected to the Board of Directors. Abstentions and broker non-votes will
have no effect on the election of directors.
-4-
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT
STOCKHOLDERS VOTE “FOR” THE ELECTION OF DENNIS P. CALVERT,
KENNETH R. CODE, DENNIS E. MARSHALL, JOSEPH L. PROVENZANO, KENT C. ROBERTS II,
JOHN S. RUNYAN AND JACK B. STROMMEN TO THE BOARD OF
DIRECTORS.

Biographical Information Regarding Directors and Nominees
Dennis P. Calvert is our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board. He also serves in the same positions for BioLargo Life Technologies, Inc.
and BioLargo Water Investment Group., Inc., both wholly owned subsidiaries, and chairman of the board of directors of our subsidiaries Odor-No-More, Inc., Clyra
Medical Technologies, Inc. and BioLargo Water, Inc. (Canada). Mr. Calvert was appointed a director in June 2002 and has served as President and Chief Executive
Officer since June 2002, Corporate Secretary from September 2002 until March 2003 and Chief Financial Officer from March 2003 through January 2008. Mr. Calvert holds
a B.A. degree in Economics from Wake Forest University, where he was a varsity basketball player. Mr. Calvert also studied at Columbia University and Harding
University. He also serves on the board of directors at The Maximum Impact Foundation, a 501(c)(3), committed to bridging the gap for lifesaving work around the globe
for the good of man and in the name of Christ. He serves as a Director of Sustain SoCal, a trade association that seeks to promote economic growth in the Southern
California clean technology industry. He also serves on the Board of Directors at TMA Bluetech the leading regional water cluster promoting science-based ocean water
industries and also serves on the Board of Directors of Tilly’s Life Center, a nonprofit charitable foundation aimed at empowering teens with a positive mindset and
enabling them to effectively cope with crisis, adversity and tough decisions. He serves on the leadership board at Water UCI, which is an interdisciplinary center in the
School of Social Ecology at the University of California- Irvine, that facilitates seamless collaboration across schools, departments, and existing research centers around
questions of fundamental and applied water science, technology, management, and policy. Mr. Calvert is a scholarship sponsor for the National Water Research
Institute. He is also an Eagle Scout. He is married and has two children. Mr. Calvert has an extensive entrepreneurial background as an operator, investor and consultant.
Prior to his work with BioLargo, he had participated in more than 300 consulting projects and more than 50 acquisitions as well as various financing transactions and
companies that ranged from industrial chemicals, healthcare management, finance, telecommunications and consumer products.
Kenneth R. Code is our Chief Science Officer. He has been a director since April 2007. Mr. Code is our single largest stockholder. He is the founder of IOWC,
which is engaged in the research and development of advanced disinfection technology, and from which the Company acquired its core iodine technology in April 2007.
Mr. Code has authored several publications and holds several patents, with additional pending, concerning advanced iodine disinfection. Mr. Code graduated from the
University of Calgary, Alberta, Canada.
Dennis E. Marshall has been a director since April 2006. Mr. Marshall has over 45 years of experience in real estate, asset management, management level
finance and operations-oriented management. Since 1981, Mr. Marshall has been a real estate investment broker in Orange County, California, representing buyers and
sellers in investment acquisitions and dispositions. From March 1977 to January 1981, Mr. Marshall was a real estate syndicator at McCombs Corporation as well as the
assistant to the Chairman of the Board. While at McCombs Corporation, Mr. Marshall became the Vice President of Finance, where he financially monitored numerous
public real estate syndications. From June 1973 to September 1976, Mr. Marshall served as an equity controller for the Don Koll Company, an investment builder and
general contractor firm, at which Mr. Marshall worked closely with institutional equity partners and lenders. Before he began his career in real estate, Mr. Marshall
worked at Arthur Young & Co. (now Ernst & Young) from June 1969 to June 1973, where he served as Supervising Senior Auditor and was responsible for numerous
independent audits of publicly held corporations. During this period, he obtained Certified Public Accountant certification. Mr. Marshall earned a degree in Accounting
from the University of Texas, Austin in 1966 and earned a Master of Science Business Administration from the University of California, Los Angeles in 1969. Mr.
Marshall serves as Chairman of the Audit Committee.
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Joseph L. Provenzano has been a director since June 2002, assumed the role of Corporate Secretary in March 2003, was appointed Executive Vice President of
Operations in January 2008, was elected President of our subsidiary, Odor-No-More, Inc., upon the commencement of its operations in January 2010. He is a co-inventor
on several of the company's patents and proprietary manufacturing processes, and has developed over 30 products from our CupriDyne® technology. Mr. Provenzano
began his corporate career in 1988 in the marketing field. In 2001 he began work with an investment holding company to manage their mergers and acquisitions
department, participating in more than 50 corporate mergers and acquisitions.
Kent C. Roberts II has been a director since August 2011. Presently, Mr. Roberts is a senior member of the investment team at Vulcan Capital where he leads the
Financials and Fintech practice and has held this role since 2017. He was formerly a partner at Acacia Investment Partners, a management consulting firm serving the
asset management industry. He has had a long and successful career in the asset management business as a north American practice leader or at the senior partner
level. His investment experience spans 30 years where he served in a leadership role. Mr. Roberts has worked for both large firms as well as boutiques that bring unique
investment expertise to investors around the world. Those firms include: Global Evolution USA, First Quadrant and Bankers Trust Company. He has presented at
numerous industry conferences and as a guest speaker at numerous industry conferences and events. Prior to entering the financial services industry Mr. Roberts
worked in the oil and gas exploration industry. Mr. Roberts received an MBA in Finance from the University of Notre Dame and a BS in Agriculture and Watershed
Hydrology from the University of Arizona. Mr. Roberts holds a Series 3 license.
John S. Runyan has been a director since October 2011. He has spent his career in the food industry. He began as a stock clerk at age 12, and ultimately served
the Fleming Companies for 38 years, his last 10 years as a Senior Executive Officer in its corporate headquarters where he was Group President of Price Impact Retail
Stores with annual sales of over $3 billion. He retired from Fleming in 2001, and established JSR&R Company Executive Advising, with a primary emphasis in the United
States and international food business. His clients have included Coca Cola, Food 4 Less Price Impact Stores, IGA, Inc., Golden State Foods, Bozzuto Companies
Foodstuffs New Zealand, Metcash Australia and McLane International. In 2005, he joined Associated Grocers in Seattle Washington as President and CEO, overseeing
its purchase in 2007 by Unified Grocers, at which time he became Executive Advisor to its CEO and to its President. Mr. Runyan currently serves on the board of
directors of Western Association of Food Chains and Retailer Owned Food Distributors of America. Additionally, Mr. Runyan served eight years as a board member of
the City of Hope’s Northern California Food Industry Circle, which included two terms as President, and was recognized with the City of Hope “Spirit of Life” award. He
was the first wholesale executive to be voted “Man of the Year” by Food People Publication. He is a graduate of Washburn University, which recognized his business
accomplishments in 2007 as the honoree from the School of Business “Alumni Fellow Award.” Mr. Runyan serves as Chairman of the Compensation Committee.
Jack B. Strommen is a member of the board of directors of our subsidiary, Clyra Medical Technologies, as the representative of Sanatio Capital LLC. Mr.
Strommen is the CEO of PD Instore, a leader in the design, production and installation of retail environments and displays for many Fortune 500 companies including
Target, Adidas, Verizon, Disney and Sony. He is also an angel investor in several private companies ranging from bio-tech to med-tech to real estate, and serves on the
board of directors of several private and public companies. A relentless force of growth, Mr. Strommen has taken his company, PD Instore, to new and ever increasing
levels of success. Mr. Strommen purchased the family owned, local based printing firm, from his grandfather in 1999. With his vision and leadership, it went from a local
company with $25M in revenues to a global company with $180M in global sales. Mr. Strommen led the company in a private sale in 2015, remaining as CEO.
Other Executive Officer of the Company
The following is certain information as of the Record Date regarding the executive officer of the Company not discussed above.
Name
Charles K. Dargan, II

Position with Company
Chief Financial Officer

Age
65

Officer Since
2008

Charles K. Dargan II is our Chief Financial Officer and has served as such since February 2008. Since January 2003, Mr. Dargan has served as founder and
President of CFO 911, an organization of senior executives that provides accounting, finance and operational expertise to both small capitalization public and middle
market private companies in all phases of their business life cycle. From March 2000 to January 2003, Mr. Dargan was the Chief Financial Officer of Semotus Solutions,
Inc., an American Stock Exchange-listed wireless mobility software company. Mr. Dargan also serves as a director of Hiplink Software, Inc. Further, Mr. Dargan began his
finance career in investment banking with Drexel Burnham Lambert and later became Managing Director of two other investment banking firms, including Houlihan
Lokey Howard & Zukin, where he was responsible for the management of the private placement activities of the firm. Mr. Dargan received his B.A. degree in Government
from Dartmouth College, his M.B.A. degree and M.S.B.A. degree in Finance from the University of Southern California. Mr. Dargan is also a CPA (inactive) and CFA.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Our corporate website, www.biolargo.com, contains the charters for our Audit, Compensation and Nominating/Corporate Governance Committees, and certain
other corporate governance documents and policies, including our Code of Ethics. Any changes to these documents and any waivers granted with respect to our code
of ethics will be posted at www.biolargo.com. In addition, we will provide a copy of any of these documents without charge to any stockholder upon written request
made to Corporate Secretary, BioLargo, Inc., 14921 Chestnut St., Westminster, California 92683. The information at www.biolargo.com is not, and shall not be deemed to
be, a part of this Proxy Statement or incorporated by reference into this or any other filing we make with the SEC.
Director Independence
The Board has determined that each of Messrs. Marshall, Roberts, Runyan and Strommen is independent as defined under applicable Nasdaq Stock Market,
LLC (“Nasdaq”) listing standards. The Board has determined that none of Messrs. Calvert, Code or Provenzano is independent as defined under applicable Nasdaq
listing standards. None of Messrs. Calvert, Code or Provenzano serves on any committees of the Board.
Meetings of the Board
Our board of directors held five meetings during 2020, and acted via unanimous written consent three times. Each of the incumbent directors attended all the
meetings of our board of directors and committees on which the director served, except for one absence at the January 2020 quarterly meeting, and two at the April 2020
quarterly meeting. Each of our directors is encouraged to attend our Annual Meeting of Stockholders, when these are held, and to be available to answer any questions
posed by stockholders to such director.
Communications with the Board
The following procedures have been established by the Board in order to facilitate communications between our stockholders and the Board:
•

Stockholders may send correspondence, which should indicate that the sender is a Stockholder, to the Board or to any individual director, by mail to Corporate
Secretary, BioLargo, Inc., 14921 Chestnut Street, Westminster, California 92683.

•

Our Corporate Secretary will be responsible for the first review and logging of this correspondence and will forward the communication to the director or
directors to whom it is addressed unless it is a type of correspondence which the Board has identified as correspondence which may be retained in our files
and not sent to directors. The Board has authorized the Corporate Secretary to retain and not send to directors communications that: (a) are advertising or
promotional in nature (offering goods or services), (b) solely relate to complaints by clients with respect to ordinary course of business customer service and
satisfaction issues or (c) clearly are unrelated to our business, industry, management or Board or committee matters. These types of communications will be
logged and filed but not circulated to directors. Except as set forth in the preceding sentence, the Corporate Secretary will not screen communications sent to
directors.

•

The log of stockholder correspondence will be available to members of the Board for inspection. At least once each year, the Corporate Secretary will provide
to the Board a summary of the communications received from stockholders, including the communications not sent to directors in accordance with the
procedures set forth above.

Our stockholders may also communicate directly with the non-management directors as a group, by mail addressed to Dennis E. Marshall, c/o Corporate
Secretary, BioLargo, Inc., 14921 Chestnut Street, Westminster, California 92683.
Our Audit Committee has established procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints regarding questionable accounting, internal controls,
and financial improprieties or auditing matters. Any of our employees may confidentially communicate concerns about any of these matters by mail addressed to Audit
Committee, c/o Corporate Secretary, BioLargo, Inc., 14921 Chestnut Street, Westminster, California 92683.
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All of the reporting mechanisms are also posted on our corporate website, www.biolargo.com. Upon receipt of a complaint or concern, a determination will be
made whether it pertains to accounting, internal controls or auditing matters and, if it does, it will be handled in accordance with the procedures established by the Audit
Committee.
Committees of the Board of Directors
Our board of directors has established an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, and a Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.
The Audit Committee meets with management and our independent registered public accounting firm to review the adequacy of internal controls and other
financial reporting matters. Dennis E. Marshall served as Chairman of the Audit Committee during 2020 and continues to serve in that capacity. John S. Runyan and
Kent C. Roberts II, current board members, also serve on the Audit Committee. Our board of directors has determined that Mr. Marshall qualifies as an “audit committee
financial expert” as defined in Item 401(h) of Regulation S-K of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Audit Committee met four times in 2020.
The Compensation Committee reviews the compensation for all our officers and directors and affiliates. The Committee also administers our equity incentive
option plan. Mr. Runyan served as Chairman of the Compensation Committee during 2020. Mr. Marshall also serves on the Compensation Committee. The Compensation
Committee acted by consent twice during 2020.
Our board of directors did not modify any action or recommendation made by the Compensation Committee with respect to executive compensation for the
2019 or 2020 fiscal years. It is the opinion of the Compensation Committee that the executive compensation policies and plans provide the necessary total remuneration
program to properly align their performance and the interests of our stockholders using competitive and equitable executive compensation in a balanced and reasonable
manner, for both the short and long term.
The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee was established in November 2018. Its responsibilities include to identify and screen individuals
qualified to become members of the Board, to make recommendations to the Board regarding to the Board regarding the selection and approval of the nominees for
director to be submitted to a stockholder vote at the annual meeting of stockholders, subject to approval by the Board, to development corporate governance guidelines
and oversee corporate governance practices, to develop a process for an annual evaluation of the Board and its committees, to review all director compensation and
benefits, to review, approve and oversee and related party transaction, to develop and recommend director independent standards, and to develop and recommend a
company code of conduct, to investigate any alleged breach and enforce the provisions of the code. This committee did not meet in 2020.
Our board of directors follows the written code of ethics that applies to its principal executive officers, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or
controller, or persons performing similar functions.
Board Leadership Structure
Mr. Calvert serves as both principal executive officer and Chairman of the Board. The Company does not have a lead independent director. Messrs. Marshall,
Roberts, Strommen and Runyan serve as independent directors who provide active and effective oversight of our strategic decisions. As of the date of this filing, the
Company has determined that the leadership structure of the Board has permitted the Board to fulfill its duties effectively and efficiently and is appropriate given the
size and scope of the Company and its financial condition.
The Board’s Role in Risk Oversight
As a smaller company, our executive management team, consisting of Messrs. Calvert and Code, are also members of our Board. Our board of directors,
including our executive management members and independent directors, is responsible for overseeing our executive management team in the execution of its
responsibilities and for assessing our company’s approach to risk management. Our board of directors exercises these responsibilities on an ongoing basis as part of its
meetings and through its committees. Each member of the management team has direct access to the other Board members, and our committees of our board of directors,
to ensure that all risk issues are frequently and openly communicated. Our board of directors closely monitors the information it receives from management and provides
oversight and guidance to our executive management team regarding the assessment and management of risk. For example, our board of directors regularly reviews our
company’s critical strategic, operational, legal and financial risks with management to set the tone and direction for ensuring appropriate risk taking within the business.
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires our directors, certain officers and persons holding 10% or more of the Company’s Common stock
to file reports regarding their ownership and regarding their acquisitions and dispositions of our Common stock with the SEC. Such persons are required by SEC
regulations to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file.
To our knowledge, based solely upon review of Forms 3, 4, and 5 (and amendments thereto) and written representations provided to us by executive officers,
directors and stockholders beneficially owning 10% or greater of the outstanding shares, we believe that such persons filed pursuant to the requirements of the SEC on
a timely basis during the year ended December 31, 2020, except for Form 4s relating to an option issuance on May 1, 2020, and stock issuance on December 31, 2020, by
a board member who is also our Chief Science Officer.
-8-

Table of Contents
EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The following table sets forth all compensation earned for services rendered to our company in all capacities for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and
2020, by our principal executive officer and our three most highly compensated executive officers other than our principal executive officer, collectively referred to as the
“Named Executive Officers.”
Summary Compensation Table
Name and
Principal
Positions

Stock
Awards
Year

Salary

Option
Awards(1)

(1)

All other
Compensation

Total

Dennis P. Calvert,
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer
and President

2019

$

288,603(2)

$

—

$

335,820(3)

$

31,696(4)

$

656,120

2020

$

288,603(2)

$

—

$

388,716(3)

$

31,696(4)

$

709,016

Kenneth R. Code,
Chief Science Officer

2019
2020

$
$

288,603(5)
288,603(5)

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
46,176(6)

$
$

12,600(4)
12,600(4)

$
$

301,203
347,379

Charles K. Dargan
Chief Financial Officer

2019
2020

$
$

$

—

$
$

66,900(7)
128,954(7)

$
$

—
—

$
$

66,900
128,954

Joseph Provenzano,
Corporate Secretary; President OdorNo-More, Inc

2019

$

169,772(8)

$

—

$

26,795(9)

$

13,940(4)

$

210,507

2020

$

169,772(8)

$

—

$

44,495(10)

$

16,789(4)

$

231,056

—
—

(1) Our company recognizes compensation expense for stock option awards on a straight-line basis over the applicable service period of the award, which is the
vesting period. Share-based compensation expense is based on the grant date fair value estimated using the Black-Scholes method. The amounts in the “Stock
Awards” and “Option Awards” columns reflect the aggregate fair value of awards of stock or options calculated as of the grant date, if the award is fully vested at
grant date. These amounts do not represent cash paid to or realized by any of the recipients during the years indicated.
(2) In 2019 and 2020 the employment agreement for Mr. Calvert provided for a base salary of $288,603, other compensation for health insurance and an automobile
allowance. During the year ended December 31, 2019, Mr. Calvert agreed forego $95,900 of cash compensation due to him and accept 498,653 shares of our common
stock in lieu thereof, at prices ranging between $0.16 - $0.23 per share. During the year ended December 31, 2020, Mr. Calvert agreed to forego $142,649 of cash
compensation due to him and accept 963,282 shares of our common stock in lieu thereof, at prices between $0.12 - $0.17 per share. The common stock issued to Mr.
Calvert is subject to a “lock up agreement” that prohibits Mr. Calvert from selling the shares until the earlier of (i) the sale of the Company; (ii) the successful
commercialization of BioLargo products or technologies as demonstrated by its receipt of at least $3,000,000 in cash, or the recognition of $3,000,000 in revenue,
over a 12-month period from the sale of products and/or the license of technology; and (iii) the Company’s breach of the employment agreement between the
Company and Calvert dated May 2, 2017 and resulting in Calvert’s termination. (See “Employment Agreements—Dennis P. Calvert” and “Outstanding Equity
Awards at Fiscal Year-End” below for more details).
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(3) On May 2, 2017, pursuant to his employment agreement, we granted to our president, Dennis P. Calvert, an option to purchase 3,731,322 shares of the Company’s
common stock. The option is a non-qualified stock option, exercisable at $0.45 per share, the closing price of our common stock on the grant date, exercisable for ten
years from the date of grant, and vesting in equal increments on the anniversary of the option agreement for five years. Any portion of the option which has not yet
vested shall immediately vest in the event of, and prior to, a change of control, as defined in the employment agreement. The option cliff vests in 4 equal amounts
on each anniversary of the option agreement. The option agreement contains the other terms standard in option agreements issued by the Company, including
provisions for a cashless exercise. The fair value of this option totaled $1,679,095 and is being amortized monthly through May 2, 2022. During the year ended
December 31, 2019 and 2020, we recorded $335,820 and $335,820, respectively, of selling, general and administrative expense related to this option. Additionally, on
May 1, 2020, Mr. Calvert received an option to purchase 393,571 shares of the Company’s common stock. The option is a qualified stock option vested upon
issuance, exercisable at $0.13 per share, the closing price of our common stock on the grant date, exercisable for ten years from the date of grant. The fair value of
this option totaled $52,896.
(4) Includes health insurance premiums, automobile allowance, and bonus.
(5) In 2019 and 2020 the employment agreement for Mr. Code provided for a base salary of $288,603 and other compensation of $12,600. During the year ended
December 31, 2019, Mr. Code agreed forego $115,101 of cash compensation due to him and accept 582,298 shares of our common stock in lieu thereof, at prices
ranging between $0.16 - $0.32 per share. During the year ended December 31, 2020, Mr. Code agreed to forego $157,126 of cash compensation due to him and accept
1,054,646 shares of our common stock in lieu thereof, at $0.12 - $0.17 per share. See “Employment Agreements—Kenneth R. Code” and “Outstanding Equity Awards
at Fiscal Year-End” below for more details.
(6) On May 1, 2020, Mr. Code received an option to purchase 343,571 shares of the Company’s common stock. The option is a qualified stock option vested upon
issuance, exercisable at $0.13 per share, the closing price of our common stock on the grant date, exercisable for ten years from the date of grant. The fair value of
this option totaled $46,176.
(7) Our Chief Financial Officer, Charles K. Dargan II, did not receive any cash compensation during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020. During February 2020,
Mr. Dargan received an option to purchase 427,500 shares of our common stock, with 25,000 unvested as of December 31, 2020. Additionally, during 2020, Mr.
Dargan received additional options to purchase 311,726 shares of the Company’s common stock. These options are a qualified stock option vested upon issuance,
exercisable at a range of $0.12 - $0.15 per share, the closing price of our common stock on the grant date. The value set forth in the table reflects the fair value of the
options issued that vested during the 12 months of the years indicated. See “Employment Agreements—Charles K. Dargan II” and “Outstanding Equity Awards at
Fiscal Year-End” below for more details.
(8) In 2019 and 2020, the employment agreement for Mr. Provenzano provided for a base salary of $169,772, and other compensation for health insurance and
automobile allowance. See “Employment Agreements – Joseph Provenzano” and “Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End” below for more details.
(9) On May 28, 2019, pursuant to his employment agreement, we granted to our Vice President of Operations and President of our subsidiary Odor-No-More, granted
Joseph L. Provenzano a restricted stock unit of 500,000 shares of common stock, subject to the execution of a “lock-up agreement” whereby the shares remain
unvested unless and until the earlier of (i) a sale of the Company, (ii) the successful commercialization of the Company’s products or technologies as demonstrated
by its receipt of at least $3,000,000 in cash, or the recognition of $3,000,000 in revenue, over a 12-month period from the sale of products and/or the license of
technology, and (iii) the Company’s breach of the employment agreement resulting in his termination. Does not include an option to purchase 1,000,000 shares of
common stock that vests in five equal increments beginning one year after grant date.
- 10 -

Table of Contents
(10) During 2020, Mr. Provenzano received additional options to purchase 326,161 shares of the Company’s common stock. These options are a qualified stock option
vested upon issuance, exercisable at a range of $0.14 - $0.15 per share, the closing price of our common stock on the grant date. The value set forth in the table
reflects the fair value of the options issued that vested during the 12 months of the years indicated. See “Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End” below for
more details.

Employment Agreements
Dennis P. Calvert
On May 2, 2017, BioLargo, Inc. (the “Company”) and its President and Chief Executive Officer Dennis P. Calvert entered into an employment agreement (the
“Calvert Employment Agreement”), replacing in its entirety the previous employment agreement with Mr. Calvert dated April 30, 2007.
The Calvert Employment Agreement provides that Mr. Calvert will continue to serve as the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and receive
base compensation equal to his current rate of pay of $288,603 annually. In addition to this base compensation, the agreement provides that he is eligible to participate
in incentive plans, stock option plans, and similar arrangements as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors, health insurance premium payments for himself and
his immediate family, a car allowance of $800 per month, paid vacation of four weeks per year, and bonuses in such amount as the Compensation Committee may
determine from time to time.
The Calvert Employment Agreement provides that Mr. Calvert will be granted an option (the “Option”) to purchase 3,731,322 shares of the Company’s common
stock. The Option shall be a non-qualified stock option, exercisable at $0.45 per share, which represents the market price of the Company’s common stock as of the date
of the agreement, exercisable for ten years from the date of grant and vesting in equal increments over five years. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any portion of the
Option which has not yet vested shall be immediately vested in the event of, and prior to, a change of control, as defined in the Calvert Employment Agreement. The
agreement also provides for a grant of 1,500,000 shares of common stock, subject to the execution of a “lock-up agreement” whereby the shares remain unvested unless
and until the earlier of (i) a sale of the Company, (ii) the successful commercialization of the Company’s products or technologies as demonstrated by its receipt of at
least $3,000,000 in cash, or the recognition of $3,000,000 in revenue, over a 12-month period from the sale of products and/or the license of technology, and (iii) the
Company’s breach of the employment agreement resulting in his termination. The Option contains the other terms standard in option agreements issued by the
Company, including provisions for a cashless exercise.
The Calvert Employment Agreement has a term of five years, unless earlier terminated in accordance with its terms. The Calvert Employment Agreement
provides that Mr. Calvert’s employment may be terminated by the Company due to his death or disability, for cause, or upon a merger, acquisition, bankruptcy or
dissolution of the Company. “Disability” as used in the Calvert Employment Agreement means physical or mental incapacity or illness rendering Mr. Calvert unable to
perform his duties on a long-term basis (i) as evidenced by his failure or inability to perform his duties for a total of 120 days in any 360-day period, or (ii) as determined
by an independent and licensed physician whom Company selects, or (iii) as determined without recourse by the Company’s disability insurance carrier. “Cause”
means that Mr. Calvert has (i) engaged in willful misconduct in connection with the Company’s business; or (ii) been convicted of, or plead guilty or nolo contendre in
connection with, fraud or any crime that constitutes a felony or that involves moral turpitude or theft. If Mr. Calvert’s employment is terminated due to merger or
acquisition, then he will be eligible to receive the greater of (i) one year’s compensation plus an additional one-half year for each year of service since the effective date
of the employment agreement or (ii) one year’s compensation plus an additional one half year for each year remaining in the term of the agreement. Otherwise, he is only
entitled to receive compensation due through the date of termination.
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The Calvert Employment Agreement requires Mr. Calvert to keep certain information confidential, not to solicit customers or employees of the Company or
interfere with any business relationship of the Company, and to assign all inventions made or created during the term of the Calvert Employment Agreement as “work
made for hire”.
Kenneth R. Code
We entered into an employment agreement dated as of April 29, 2007 with Mr. Code, our Chief Science Officer (the “Code Employment Agreement”), which we
amended on December 28, 2012 such that his salary will remain at $288,603, the level paid in April 2012, with no further automatic increases. The Code Employment
Agreement can automatically renew for one year periods on April 29th of each year but may be terminated “without cause” at any time upon 120 days’ notice, and upon
such termination, Mr. Code would not receive the severance originally provided for. All other terms in the 2007 agreement remain the same in the Code Employment
Agreement.
In addition, Mr. Code will be eligible to participate in incentive plans, stock option plans, and similar arrangements as determined by our board of directors.
When such benefits are made available to our senior employees, Mr. Code is also eligible to receive health insurance premium payments for himself and his immediate
family, a car allowance of $800 per month, paid vacation of four weeks per year plus an additional two weeks per year for each full year of service during the term of the
agreement up to a maximum of 10 weeks per year, life insurance equal to three times his base salary and disability insurance.
The Code Employment Agreement further requires Mr. Code to keep certain information confidential, not to solicit customers or employees of our company or
interfere with any business relationship of our company, and to assign all inventions made or created during the term of the Code Employment Agreement as “work
made for hire”.
Charles K. Dargan II
Charles K. Dargan, II has served as our Chief Financial Officer since February 2008 pursuant to an engagement agreement with his company, CFO 911, that has
been renewed each year.
On January 16, 2019, we and Mr. Dargan again extended his engagement agreement. The extension provides for an additional term to expire September 30, 2019,
and is retroactively effective to the termination of the prior extension on September 30, 2018. This extension again compensates Mr. Dargan through the issuance of an
option to purchase 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, at a strike price equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock on January 16, 2019 of
$0.223, to expire January 16, 2029, and to vest over the term of the engagement with 75,000 shares having vested as of December 31, 2018, and the remaining shares to
vest 25,000 shares monthly beginning January 31, 2019, and each month thereafter, so long as the engagement agreement is in full force and effect. The Option was
issued pursuant to the Company’s 2018 Equity Incentive Plan. The issuance of the Option is Mr. Dargan’s sole source of compensation for the extended term. All other
provisions of the Engagement Agreement not expressly amended pursuant to the Engagement Extension Agreement remain the same, including provisions regarding
indemnification and arbitration of disputes.
On February 25, 2020, we and Mr. Dargan again extended his engagement agreement to expire January 31, 2021. As the sole compensation for the Extended
Term, Mr. Dargan was issued an option (“Option”) to purchase 25,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for each month during the term (thus, an option to
purchase 400,000 shares reflecting an extended term of 16 months). The Option vests over the period of the agreement, with 75,000 shares having vested as of December
31, 2019, and the remaining shares to vest 25,000 shares monthly beginning January 31, 2020, and each month thereafter, so long as the agreement is in full force and
effect. The Option is exercisable at $0.21 per share, the closing price of BioLargo’s common stock on February 25, 2020, expires ten years from the grant date, and was
issued pursuant to the Company’s 2018 Equity Incentive Plan. The Option is Mr. Dargan’s sole compensation for the Extended Term. As was the case in all prior terms of
his engagement, there is no cash component of his compensation for the Extended Term. Mr. Dargan is eligible to be reimbursed for business expenses he incurs in
connection with the performance of his services as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer (although he has made no such requests for reimbursement in the past). All
other provisions of the Engagement Agreement not expressly amended pursuant to the Engagement Extension Agreement remain the same, including provisions
regarding indemnification and arbitration of disputes.
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On March 18, 2021, we and Mr. Dargan again extended his engagement agreement. The Engagement Extension Agreement dated as of March 18, 2021 (the
“Engagement Extension Agreement”) provides for an additional one-year term to expire January 31, 2022 (the “Extended Term”).
As the sole compensation for the Extended Term, Mr. Dargan was issued an option (“Option”) to purchase 25,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for
each month during the Extended Term (thus, an option to purchase 300,000 shares reflecting an extended term of 12 months). The Option vests over the period of the
Extended Term, with 25,000 shares having vested as of March 15, 2021, and the remaining shares to vest 25,000 shares monthly beginning March 31, 2021, and each
month thereafter, so long as the agreement is in full force and effect. The Option is exercisable at $0.174 per share, the closing price of BioLargo’s common stock on the
March 18, 2021 grant date, expires ten years from the grant date, and was issued pursuant to the Company’s 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.
The Option is Mr. Dargan’s sole compensation for the Extended Term. As was the case in all prior terms of his engagement, there is no cash component of his
compensation for the Extended Term. Mr. Dargan is eligible to be reimbursed for business expenses he incurs in connection with the performance of his services as the
Company’s Chief Financial Officer (although he has made no such requests for reimbursement in the past). All other provisions of the Engagement Agreement not
expressly amended pursuant to the Engagement Extension Agreement remain the same, including provisions regarding indemnification and arbitration of disputes.
Joseph Provenzano
Mr. Provenzano has served as Vice President of Operations since January 1, 2008, in addition to continuing to serve as our Corporate Secretary. On May 28,
2019, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the terms of a new employment agreement for Mr. Provenzano, and granted to him an incentive
stock option (the “Option”) to purchase 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s common stock pursuant to the terms of the Company’s 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (“Plan”).
As set forth in the Plan, the exercise price of the Option is equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the May 28 grant date, at $0.17 per share. The
shares in the Option vest in five in equal increments over five years, and the Option may be exercised for up to ten years following the grant date. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, any portion of the Option which has not yet vested shall be immediately vested in the event of, and prior to, a change of control, as defined in the
Provenzano Employment Agreement. The Option contains the other terms standard in option agreements issued by the Company, including provisions for a cashless
exercise. On May 28, 2019, the Committee also granted Mr. Provenzano a restricted stock unit of 500,000 shares of common stock, subject to the execution of a “lock-up
agreement” whereby the shares remain unvested unless and until the earlier of (i) a sale of the Company, (ii) the successful commercialization of the Company’s products
or technologies as demonstrated by its receipt of at least $3,000,000 in cash, or the recognition of $3,000,000 in revenue, over a 12-month period from the sale of products
and/or the license of technology, and (iii) the Company’s breach of the employment agreement resulting in his termination. On June 18, 2019, the other terms of his
employment agreement were finalized and a document fully executed. Although fully executed on June 18, 2019, the employment agreement is effective as of May 28,
2019, to reflect Option grant date.
The Provenzano Employment Agreement provides that Mr. Provenzano will serve as our Executive Vice President of Operations, as well as the President and
Chief Executive Officer of our wholly owned subsidiary Odor-No-More. Mr. Provenzano’s base compensation will remain at his current rate of $170,000 annually. In
addition to this base compensation, the agreement provides that he is eligible to participate in incentive plans, stock option plans, and similar arrangements as
determined by the our Board of Directors, health insurance premium payments for himself and his immediate family, a car allowance covering the expenses of his
personal commercial grade truck which the company uses in company operations on a continual basis, paid vacation of four weeks per year, and bonuses in such
amount as the Compensation Committee may determine from time to time.
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The Provenzano Employment Agreement has a term of five years, unless earlier terminated in accordance with its terms. The Provenzano Employment
Agreement provides that Mr. Provenzano’s employment may be terminated by the Company due to his death or disability, for cause, or upon a merger, acquisition,
bankruptcy or dissolution of the Company. “Disability” as used in the Provenzano Employment Agreement means physical or mental incapacity or illness rendering
Mr. Provenzano unable to perform his duties on a long-term basis (i) as evidenced by his failure or inability to perform his duties for a total of 120 days in any 360-day
period, or (ii) as determined by an independent and licensed physician whom Company selects, or (iii) as determined without recourse by the Company’s disability
insurance carrier. “Cause” means that Mr. Provenzano has (i) engaged in willful misconduct in connection with the Company’s business; or (ii) been convicted of, or
plead guilty or nolo contendre in connection with, fraud or any crime that constitutes a felony or that involves moral turpitude or theft. If Mr. Provenzano’s employment
is terminated due to merger or acquisition, then he will be eligible to receive the greater of (i) one year’s compensation plus an additional one half year for each year of
service since the effective date of the employment agreement or (ii) one year’s compensation plus an additional one half year for each year remaining in the term of the
agreement. Otherwise, he is only entitled to receive compensation due through the date of termination.
The Provenzano Employment Agreement requires Mr. Provenzano to keep certain information confidential, not to solicit customers or employees of the
Company or interfere with any business relationship of the Company, and to assign all inventions made or created during the term of the Provenzano Employment
Agreement as “work made for hire”.
Director Compensation
Each director who is not an officer or employee of our company receives an annual retainer of $60,000, paid in cash or shares of our common stock, or options
to purchase our common stock (pursuant to a plan put in place by our board of directors), in our sole discretion. Historically, all but one director has received the
entirety of his fees in the form of options to purchase stock, rather than cash. In addition, Mr. Marshall and Mr. Runyan each receive an additional $15,000 for their
services as the chairman of the Audit Committee and chairman of the Compensation Committee, respectively. The following table sets forth information for the fiscal
years ended December 31, 2020 regarding compensation of our non-employee directors. Our employee directors do not receive any additional compensation for serving
as a director.

Name
Dennis E. Marshall
Jack B. Strommen
Kent C. Roberts III
John S. Runyan

$
$
$
$

Fees Earned
or Fees Paid
in Cash
77,627(1)
57,495(2)
57,495(3)
71,869(4)

Option
Awards
2,627
—
—
—

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation
—
—
—
—

All Other
Compensation
—
—
—
—

Total
$
$
$
$

77,627
57,495
57,495
71,869

(1)

In 2020, Mr. Marshall earned director fees of $77,627, which included compensation for serving as Chairman of the Audit Committee of our board of directors.
None of these fees was paid in cash. During 2020, Mr. Marshall received options in lieu of cash consisting of (i) on March 31, 2020, an issuance of an option to
purchase 110,924 shares of our common stock at $0.17 per share, (ii) on June 30, 2020, an issuance of an option to purchase 119,688 shares of our common stock at
$0.16 per share, (iii) on September 30, 2020, an issuance of an option to purchase 162,500 shares of our common stock at $0.15 per share, and (iv) on December 31,
2020, an issuance of an option to purchase 156,250 shares of our common stock at $0.12 per share.

(2)

In 2020 Mr. Strommen earned director fees of $57,495. None of these fees was paid in cash. During 2020, Mr. Strommen received options in lieu of cash consisting
of (i) on March 31, 2020, an issuance of an option to purchase 88,235 shares of our common stock at $0.17 per share, (ii) on June 30, 2020, an issuance of an option
to purchase 93,750 shares of our common stock at $0.16 per share, (iii) on September 30, 2020, an issuance of an option to purchase 100,000 shares of our common
stock at $0.15 per share, and (iv) on December 31, 2020, an issuance of an option to purchase 125,000 shares of our common stock at $0.12 per share.

(3)

In 2020 Mr. Roberts earned director fees of $57,495. None of these fees was paid in cash. During 2020, Mr. Roberts received options in lieu of cash consisting of (i)
on March 31, 2020, an issuance of an option to purchase 88,235 shares of our common stock at $0.17 per share, (ii) on June 30, 2020, an issuance of an option to
purchase 93,750 shares of our common stock at $0.16 per share, (iii) on September 30, 2020, an issuance of an option to purchase 100,000 shares of our common
stock at $0.15 per share, and (iv) on December 31, 2020, an issuance of an option to purchase 125,000 shares of our common stock at $0.12 per share.

(4)

In 2020, Mr. Runyon earned director fees of $71,869, which included compensation for serving as Chairman of the Audit Committee of our board of directors. None
of these fees was paid in cash. During 2020, Mr. Runyon received options in lieu of cash consisting of (i) on March 31, 2020, an issuance of an option to purchase
110,924 shares of our common stock at $0.17 per share, (ii) on June 30, 2020, an issuance of an option to purchase 117,188 shares of our common stock at $0.16 per
share, (iii) on September 30, 2020, an issuance of an option to purchase 125,000 shares of our common stock at $0.15 per share, and (iv) on December 31, 2020, an
issuance of an option to purchase 156,250 shares of our common stock at $0.12 per share.
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Equity Compensation Plans
We have one ongoing, and one expired (but with outstanding awards), equity compensation plans.
2007 Plan
On August 7, 2007, our Board adopted the BioLargo, Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (“2007 Plan”) as a means of providing our directors, key employees and
consultants additional incentive to provide services. Both stock options and stock grants were made under this plan, as administered by the Compensation Committee.
The plan automatically terminated on September 7, 2017.
Under this plan, as amended in 2011, 12,000,000 shares of our common stock were reserved for issuance under awards, and at March 31, 2021, awards of options
authorizing a total of 4,523,461 shares were outstanding.
2018 Plan
On March 7, 2018, our board of directors adopted BioLargo, Inc. 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (“2018 Equity Plan”) as a means of providing our directors, key
employees, and consultants additional incentive to provide services. This plan was approved by our stockholders at our annual meeting on May 23, 2018. The
Compensation Committee administers this plan, except for awards made to non-employee directors. The plan allows for the grant of stock options, restricted stock
awards, stock bonus awards, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock units and performance awards in any combination, separately or in tandem. Subject to the terms
of the 2018 Equity Plan, the Compensation Committee will determine the terms and conditions of awards, including the times when awards vest or become payable and
the effect of certain events such as termination of employment. Under the 2018 Equity Plan, 40,000,000 shares of our common stock are reserved for issuance under
awards. Each January 1, through January 1, 2028, the number of shares available for grant and issuance will be increased by the lesser of 2,000,000 and such number of
shares set by the Board. As of December 31, 2020, we had issued options under the plan to purchase 12,446,903 shares.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
The following table sets forth information regarding unexercised stock options and equity incentive plan awards for each of the Named Executive Officers
outstanding as of December 31, 2020. All stock or options that were granted to the Named Executive Officers during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 have fully
vested, except as indicated.

Name
Dennis P. Calvert

Charles K. Dargan II

Kenneth R. Code

Joseph Provenzano

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Exercisable
3,731,322
65,000
50,000
343,571
10,000
120,000
300,000
410,000
300,000
300,000
300,000
300,000
300,000
300,000
79,000
400,000
27,500
25,000
214,286
5,000
5,000
2,500
50,000
7,500
200,000
65,000
343,571
200,000
100,000
1,000,000
32,500
50,000
202,110
74,051

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options (#)
Unexercisable
1,492,530
----------------------------800,000
-----

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Unearned
Options
1,492,530
----------------------------800,000
----- 16 -

Option
Exercise
Price
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

0.45
0.22
0.14
0.14
0.42
0.41
0.35
0.30
0.30
0.30
0.57
0.69
0.39
0.22
0.22
0.21
0.21
0.14
0.14
0.16
0.15
0.15
0.15
0.12
1.03
0.22
0.14
0.41
0.45
0.17
0.22
0.14
0.14
0.15

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
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$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

Share
Price on
Grant Date
0.45
0.22
0.14
0.14
0.42
0.41
0.35
0.30
0.30
0.30
0.57
0.69
0.39
0.22
0.22
0.21
0.21
0.14
0.14
0.16
0.15
0.15
0.15
0.12
0.94
0.22
0.14
0.41
0.45
0.17
0.22
0.14
0.14
0.15

Option
Expiration
Date
May 2, 2027
September 19, 2029
May 1, 2030
May 1, 2030
January 31, 2021
February 28, 2021
April 10, 2022
December 28, 2022
July 17, 2023
June 23, 2024
September 30, 2025
February 10, 2027
December 31, 2027
January 16, 2029
September 19, 2029
February 25, 2030
February 25, 2030
May 01, 2030
May 01, 2030
June 30, 2030
September 30, 2030
September 30, 2030
September 30, 2030
December 31, 2030
July 17, 2023
September 19, 2029
May 01, 2030
March 21, 2021
October 23, 2027
May 28, 2029
September 18, 2029
May 01, 2030
May 01, 2030
September 30, 2030
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of shares of our common stock as of April 19, 2021, including rights to acquire
beneficial ownership of shares of our common stock within 60 days of April 19, 2021, by (a) all stockholders known to the Company to be beneficial owners of more than
5% of the outstanding Common stock; (b) each director, (c) each Named Executive Officer, and (d) all directors and executive officers of the Company as a group:

Amount of
Beneficial
Ownership

Percent of
Class(2)

Kenneth R. Code(4)

24,927,824

9.6%

Dennis P. Calvert(5)

12,269,745

4.7%

Jack B. Strommen(6)

8,864,563

3.4%

Charles K. Dargan II(7)

3,778,530

1.5%

Dennis E. Marshall(8)

3,412,804

1.3%

Joseph L. Provenzano(9)

2,329,404

0.9%

Kent C. Roberts II(10)

2,604,092

1.0%

John S. Runyan(11)

2,669,139

1.0%

All directors and officers as a group (8 persons)

60,856,101

23.4%

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner(1)

Except as noted in any footnotes below, each person has sole voting power and sole dispositive power as to all of the shares shown as beneficially owned by them.
Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and generally includes voting or investment power with respect to securities.
(1) The address for all directors and the Named Executive Officers is: c/o BioLargo, Inc., 14921 Chestnut St., Westminster, CA 92683, except for: Kent C. Roberts II’s
address is 1146 Oxford Road, San Marino, CA 91108; Charles K. Dargan II’s address is 18841 NE 29th Avenue, Suite 700, Aventura, FL 33180; and John S.
Runyan’s address is 30001 Hillside Terrace, San Juan Capistrano, CA 92675
(2) Our company has only one class of stock outstanding. The sum of 239,442,848 shares of common stock outstanding as of April 19, 2021, and 19,768,617 shares
of common stock subject to options currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days by the directors and officers, are deemed outstanding for determining
the number of shares beneficially owned by the directors and officers, and the directors and officers as a group, and for computing the percentage ownership
of the person holding such options, but are not deemed outstanding for computing the percentage ownership of any other person.
(3) Includes 22,139,012 shares owned indirectly by Mr. Code issued on April 29, 2007 to IOWC Technologies, Inc. in connection with the acquisition by our
company of certain intellectual property and other assets on that date. Includes 408,571 shares issuable to Mr. Code upon exercise of options.
(4) Includes 1,528,695 shares of common stock held by New Millennium Capital Partners, LLC, which is wholly owned and controlled by Mr. Calvert. Includes
2,611,471 shares issuable to Mr. Calvert upon exercise of other options granted from time to time by our company.
(5) Includes 958,543 shares issuable to Mr. Strommen upon exercise of options; includes 3,590,476 shares issuable to Mr. Strommen upon the exercise of warrants.
(6) Includes 3,588,286 shares issuable to Mr. Dargan upon exercise of options.
(7) Includes 3,152,772 shares issuable to Mr. Marshall upon exercise of options.
(8) Includes 1,058,661 shares issuable to Mr. Provenzano upon exercise of options.
(9) Includes 2,077,867 shares issuable to Mr. Roberts upon exercise of options.
(10) Includes 2,321,970 shares issuable to Mr. Runyan upon exercise of options.
CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
Our company has adopted a policy that all transactions between our company and its executive officers, directors and other affiliates must be approved by a
majority of the members of our board of directors and by a majority of the disinterested members of our board of directors, and must be on terms no less favorable to our
company than could be obtained from unaffiliated third parties.
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Our officers and board members routinely forego cash compensation in lieu of receiving common stock or options to purchase common stock, pursuant to a
plan adopted by our board for the payment of outstanding payables.
On March 31, 2021, we issued options to purchase 296,704 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.2275 per share to four members of our board of
directors, in lieu of $67,500 in fees, as follows: 82,418 to Mr. Marshall in exchange for $18,750 in fees due; 65,934 to Mr. Strommen in exchange for $15,000 in fees due;
65,934 to Mr. Roberts in exchange for $15,000 in fees due; and 82,418 to Mr. Runyan in exchange for $18,750 in fees due. The options expire 10 years from the date of
grant.
On March 31, 2021, we issued an aggregate 137,364 shares of our common stock to two executive officers in exchange for a reduction of $31,250 of salary and
unreimbursed business expenses owed to the officers.
On March 31, 2020, we issued options to purchase 397,058 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.17 per share to four members of our board of
directors, in lieu of $67,500 in fees, as follows: 110,294 to Mr. Marshall in exchange for $18,750 in fees due; 88,235 to Mr. Strommen in exchange for $15,000 in fees due;
88,235 to Mr. Roberts in exchange for $15,000 in fees due; and 110,294 to Mr. Runyan in exchange for $18,750 in fees due. The options expire 10 years from the date of
grant.
On March 31, 2020, we issued an aggregate 648,755 shares of our common stock to two executive officers in exchange for a reduction of $110,288 of salary and
unreimbursed business expenses owed to the officers.
On June 30, 2020, we issued options to purchase 421,876 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.16 per share to four members of our board of
directors, in lieu of $67,500 in fees, as follows: 117,188 to Mr. Marshall in exchange for $18,750 in fees due; 93,750 to Mr. Strommen in exchange for $15,000 in fees due;
93,750 to Mr. Roberts in exchange for $15,000 in fees due; and 117,188 to Mr. Runyan in exchange for $18,750 in fees due. The options expire 10 years from the date of
grant.
On June 30, 2020, we issued an aggregate 367,403 shares of our common stock to two executive officers in exchange for a reduction of $58,785 of salary and
unreimbursed business expenses owed to the officers.
On September 30, 2020, we issued options to purchase 450,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.15 per share to four members of our board
of directors, in lieu of $67,500 in fees, as follows: 125,000 to Mr. Marshall in exchange for $18,750 in fees due; 100,000 to Mr. Strommen in exchange for $15,000 in fees
due; 100,000 to Mr. Roberts in exchange for $15,000 in fees due; and 125,000 to Mr. Runyan in exchange for $18,750 in fees due. The options expire 10 years from the date
of grant.
On September 30, 2020, we issued an aggregate 349,670 shares of our common stock to two executive officers in exchange for a reduction of $52,451 of salary
and unreimbursed business expenses owed to the officers.
On December 31, 2020, we issued options to purchase 562,500 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.15 per share to four members of our board
of directors, in lieu of $67,500 in fees, as follows: 156,250 to Mr. Marshall in exchange for $18,750 in fees due; 125,000 to Mr. Strommen in exchange for $15,000 in fees
due; 125,000 to Mr. Roberts in exchange for $15,000 in fees due; and 156,250 to Mr. Runyan in exchange for $18,750 in fees due. The options expire 10 years from the date
of grant.
On December 31, 2020, we issued an aggregate 652,100 shares of our common stock to two executive officers in exchange for a reduction of $78,252 of salary
and unreimbursed business expenses owed to the officers.
On March 31, 2019, we issued options to purchase 421,876 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.16 per share to four members of our board of
directors, in lieu of $67,500 in fees, as follows: 117,188 to Mr. Marshall in exchange for $18,750 in fees due; 93,750 to Mr. Strommen in exchange for $15,000 in fees due;
93,750 to Mr. Roberts in exchange for $15,000 in fees due; and 117,188 to Mr. Runyan in exchange for $18,750 in fees due. The options expire 10 years from the date of
grant.
On March 31, 2019, we issued an aggregate 579,996 shares of our common stock to two executive officers in exchange for a reduction of $92,799 of salary and
unreimbursed business expenses owed to the officers.
On April 29, 2019, we issued an aggregate 579,996 shares of our common stock to two executive officers in exchange for a reduction of $92,799 of salary and
unreimbursed business expenses owed to the officers.
On June 30, 2019, we issued options to purchase 293,478 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.23 per share to four members of our board of
directors, in lieu of $67,500 in fees, as follows: 81,522 to Mr. Marshall in exchange for $18,750 in fees due; 65,217 to Mr. Strommen in exchange for $15,000 in fees due;
65,217 to Mr. Roberts in exchange for $15,000 in fees due; and 81,522 to Mr. Runyan in exchange for $18,750 in fees due. The options expire 10 years from the date of
grant.
On September 30, 2019, we issued options to purchase 214,286 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.315 per share to four members of our board
of directors, in lieu of $67,500 in fees, as follows: 59,524 to Mr. Marshall in exchange for $18,750 in fees due; 47,619 to Mr. Strommen in exchange for $15,000 in fees due;
47,619 to Mr. Roberts in exchange for $15,000 in fees due; and 59,524 to Mr. Runyan in exchange for $18,750 in fees due. The options expire 10 years from the date of
grant.
On December 31, 2019, we issued options to purchase 306,818 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.22 per share to four members of our board
of directors, in lieu of $67,500 in fees, as follows: 85,227 to Mr. Marshall in exchange for $18,750 in fees due; 68,182 to Mr. Strommen in exchange for $15,000 in fees due;
68,182 to Mr. Roberts in exchange for $15,000 in fees due; and 85,227 to Mr. Runyan in exchange for $18,750 in fees due. The options expire 10 years from the date of
grant.
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REPORT OF COMPENSATION COMMITTEE
The following Report of the Compensation Committee does not constitute soliciting material and should not be deemed filed or incorporated by reference into
any of our other filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate
this report. The Compensation Committee has furnished this report on executive compensation for the 2020 fiscal year.
Compensation Program and Philosophy
The Compensation Committee administers the Company’s executive compensation program. The Compensation Committee has the authority to review and
determine the salaries and bonuses of the executive officers of the Company, including the Chief Executive Officer and the other Named Executive Officers, and to
establish the general compensation policies for such individuals. The Compensation Committee also has the sole and exclusive authority to make discretionary option
grants to all of the Company’s employees under the Company’s equity incentive plans.
The Compensation Committee operates under a written charter. The duties and responsibilities of a member of the Compensation Committee are in addition to
his or her duties as a member of the Board. The charter reflects these various responsibilities, and the Committee is charged with periodically reviewing the charter. The
Committee’s membership is determined by the Board and is composed entirely of independent directors. In addition, the Committee has the authority to engage the
services of outside advisors, experts and others, including independent compensation consultants who do not advise the Company, to assist the Committee. Mr. John
Runyan is chairman. The Compensation Committee did not meet, and acted via unanimous written consent twice, during the year ended December 31, 2020.
The Compensation Committee believes that the compensation programs for the Company’s executive officers should reflect the Company’s performance,
support the short- and long-term strategic goals and values of the Company, reward individual contribution to the Company’s success and align the interests of the
Company’s executive officers with the interests of the Company’s stockholders. The Company is engaged in a very competitive industry, and the Company’s success
depends upon its ability to attract and retain qualified executives through the competitive compensation packages it offers to such individuals. To that end, it is the view
of the Board that the total compensation program for executive officers should consist of all or most of the following components:
●

base salary

●

bonus

●

equity-based compensation

The Committee does not rely solely on predetermined formulas or a limited set of criteria when it evaluates the performance of the Company’s chief executive
officer and the Company’s other executive officers. Typically, our Chief Executive Officer makes compensation recommendations to the Committee with respect to the
compensation of our officers, and the Committee may accept or adjust such recommendations in its discretion.
Chief Executive Officer Compensation
On May 2, 2017, we entered into a new employment agreement with our president and chief executive officer Dennis P. Calvert (the “Calvert Employment
Agreement”), replacing in its entirety the previous employment agreement with Mr. Calvert dated April 30, 2007.
The Calvert Employment Agreement provides that Mr. Calvert will continue to serve as the president and chief executive officer of the Company and receive base
compensation equal to his current rate of pay of $288,603 annually. In addition to this base compensation, the agreement provides that he is eligible to participate in
incentive plans, stock option plans, and similar arrangements as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors, health insurance premium payments for himself and
his immediate family, a car allowance of $800 per month, paid vacation of four weeks per year, and bonuses in such amount as the Compensation Committee may
determine from time to time.
- 19 -

Table of Contents
Mr. Calvert was granted an option (the “Option”) to purchase 3,731,322 shares of the Company’s common stock as part of the compensation set forth in his
employment agreement. The Option is a non-qualified stock option, exercisable at $0.45 per share, which represents the market price of the Company’s common stock as
of the date of the agreement, exercisable for ten years from the date of grant and vesting in equal increments over five years. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any portion
of the Option which has not yet vested shall be immediately vested in the event of, and prior to, a change of control, as defined in the Calvert Employment Agreement.
The agreement also provides for a grant of 1,500,000 shares of common stock, subject to the execution of a “lock-up agreement” whereby the shares remain unvested
unless and until the earlier of (i) a sale of the Company, (ii) the successful commercialization of the Company’s products or technologies as demonstrated by its receipt
of at least $3,000,000 in cash, or the recognition of $3,000,000 in revenue, over a 12-month period from the sale of products and/or the license of technology, and (iii) the
Company’s breach of the employment agreement resulting in his termination. The Option contains the other terms standard in option agreements issued by the
Company, including provisions for a cashless exercise.
The Calvert Employment Agreement has a term of five years, unless earlier terminated in accordance with its terms. The Calvert Employment Agreement
provides that Mr. Calvert’s employment may be terminated by the Company due to his death or disability, for cause, or upon a merger, acquisition, bankruptcy or
dissolution of the Company. “Disability” as used in the Calvert Employment Agreement means physical or mental incapacity or illness rendering Mr. Calvert unable to
perform his duties on a long-term basis (i) as evidenced by his failure or inability to perform his duties for a total of 120 days in any 360-day period, or (ii) as determined
by an independent and licensed physician whom Company selects, or (iii) as determined without recourse by the Company’s disability insurance carrier. “Cause”
means that Mr. Calvert has (i) engaged in willful misconduct in connection with the Company’s business; or (ii) been convicted of, or plead guilty or nolo contendre in
connection with, fraud or any crime that constitutes a felony or that involves moral turpitude or theft. If Mr. Calvert’s employment is terminated due to merger or
acquisition, then he will be eligible to receive the greater of (i) one year’s compensation plus an additional one-half year for each year of service since the effective date
of the employment agreement or (ii) one year’s compensation plus an additional one half year for each year remaining in the term of the agreement. Otherwise, he is only
entitled to receive compensation due through the date of termination.
The Calvert Employment Agreement requires Mr. Calvert to keep certain information confidential, not to solicit customers or employees of the Company or
interfere with any business relationship of the Company, and to assign all inventions made or created during the term of the Calvert Employment Agreement as “work
made for hire”.
Chief Science Officer Compensation
On April 29, 2007, the Company entered an employment agreement with Mr. Code, pursuant to which, since that time, Mr. Code has served as the Company’s
Chief Science Officer. On December 28, 2012, we and Mr. Code amended his employment agreement such that his salary will remain at $288,603, the level paid in April
2012, with no further automatic increases, his agreement would automatically renew for one year periods on April 29th of each year, but may be terminated “without
cause” at any time upon 120 days’ notice, and upon such termination he would not receive the severance originally provided for. All other terms in the 2007 agreement
remain the same. Other provisions of Mr. Code’s employment agreement are discussed elsewhere in this Proxy Statement.
- 20 -

Table of Contents
Other Executive Compensation
Charles K. Dargan, II has served as our Chief Financial Officer since February 2008 pursuant to an engagement agreement with his company, CFO 911, that has
been renewed each year. Mr. Dargan’s compensation has consisted sole of the issuance of options to purchase common stock.
On February 25, 2020, we and Mr. Dargan again agreed to extend his engagement agreement, for an additional term to expire January 31, 2021. As the sole
compensation for the extended term, Mr. Dargan was issued an option to purchase 25,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for each month during the Extended
Term (thus, an option to purchase 400,000 shares reflecting an extended term of 16 months), vesting over the period of the extension, with 75,000 shares having vested
as of December 31, 2019, and the remaining shares to vest 25,000 shares monthly beginning January 31, 2020, and each month thereafter, so long as the agreement is in
full force and effect. The Option is exercisable at $0.21 per share, the closing price of BioLargo’s common stock on February 25, 2020, expires ten years from the grant
date, and was issued pursuant to the Company’s 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.
Deductibility of Executive Compensation
Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code disallows a tax deduction to publicly-held companies for compensation paid to certain of their executive officers, to
the extent that compensation exceeds $1 million per covered officer in any fiscal year. The limitation applies only to compensation which is not considered to be
performance based. Non-performance based compensation paid to the Company’s executive officers for the 2019 fiscal year did not exceed the $1 million limit per officer,
and the Compensation Committee does not anticipate that the non-performance based compensation to be paid to the Company’s executive officers for the 2020 fiscal
year will exceed that limit. Because it is unlikely that the cash non-performance based compensation payable to any of the Company’s executive officers in the
foreseeable future will approach the $1 million limit, the Compensation Committee has decided at this time not to take any action to limit or restructure the elements of
cash compensation payable to the Company’s executive officers. The Compensation Committee will reconsider this decision should the individual cash nonperformance based compensation of any executive officer ever approach the $1 million level.
Submitted by the Compensation Committee:
/s/ John S. Runyan, Chair
/s/ Dennis E. Marshall
/s/ Kent C. Roberts II
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PROPOSAL TWO
ADVISORY APPROVAL OF THE COMPANY'S EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Pursuant to Section 14A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, we are requesting your advisory approval of the compensation of our named executive officers
as disclosed in the “Executive Compensation” discussion and analysis, the compensation tables, and the narrative discussion set forth in this Proxy Statement. This
non-binding advisory vote is commonly referred to as a “say on pay” vote. The next non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation will occur at our 2022
Annual Meeting of Stockholders. While this vote is advisory, and not binding on our company, it will provide information to our Compensation Committee and
management regarding investor sentiment about our executive compensation philosophy, policies and practices, which the Compensation Committee will consider when
evaluating compensation for the remainder of 2021 and determining executive compensation for future years.
As described more fully in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis portion of this proxy, our executive compensation program has been designed to attract,
motivate and retain individuals with the skills needed to formulate, implement and execute strategy to further the creation of stockholder value.
We encourage you to carefully review the “Executive Compensation” discussion beginning on page 9 of this Proxy Statement for additional details on our
executive compensation, including our compensation philosophy and objectives, as well as the processes our Compensation Committee used to determine the structure
and amounts of the compensation of our named executive officers.
We are asking you to indicate your support for the compensation of our named executive officers as described in this Proxy Statement. This vote is not
intended to address any specific item of compensation, but rather the overall compensation of our named executive officers and the philosophy, policies and practices
described in this Proxy Statement. Accordingly, we are asking you to vote “FOR” the approval, on an advisory basis, of the following resolution at the Annual Meeting:
“RESOLVED, that the compensation paid to BioLargo, Inc.’s named executive officers, as disclosed pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Commission's
compensation disclosure rules, including the “Executive Compensation” discussion and analysis, the compensation tables and the narrative discussion set forth in the
Proxy Statement, is hereby approved.”
While the results of this advisory approval are not binding, the Compensation Committee will consider the outcome of the vote in deciding whether to take any
action as a result of the vote and when making future compensation decisions for named executive officers.

OUR BOARD OF DIRECTORS RECOMMENDS THAT YOU VOTE "FOR" THE APPROVAL OF THE COMPENSATION OF OUR NAMED EXECUTIVE
OFFICERS AS DISCLOSED IN THIS PROXY STATEMENT.
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PROPOSAL THREE
RATIFICATION OF SELECTION OF
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
Haskell & White LLP audited our financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020. Our Audit Committee has again selected Haskell &
White LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm to audit our financial statements for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2021. Haskell & White LLP has
represented to us that it is independent with respect to the Company within the meaning of the published rules and regulations of the SEC.
Although ratification by stockholders is not required by law, the Board of Directors has determined that it is desirable to request ratification of this selection by
the stockholders. Notwithstanding its selection, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, in its discretion, may appoint a new independent registered public
accounting firm at any time during the year if the Board of Directors believes that such a change would be in the best interest of BioLargo and its stockholders. If the
stockholders do not ratify the appointment of Haskell & White LLP, the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors may reconsider its selection.
The Board of Directors expects that representatives of Haskell & White LLP will be present at the Annual Meeting to respond to appropriate questions and to
make a statement if they so desire.
Vote Required
If a quorum is present, the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares present and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will be required to ratify the
appointment of Haskell & White LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm. Abstentions will have the effect of a vote “against” the ratification of Haskell
& White LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm. Broker non-votes will have no effect on the outcome of the vote.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT STOCKHOLDERS
VOTE “FOR” THE RATIFICATION OF HASKELL & WHITE LLP AS OUR INDEPENDENT
REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM FOR THE 2021 FISCAL YEAR.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The following table summarizes the fees billed by Haskell & White, LLP, our principal accountant engaged to audit our financial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, for professional services rendered to the Company and its subsidiaries during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Type of Fee
Audit Fees(1)
Audit-Related(2)
Tax Fees
All Other Fees
Total

$

$

Amount Billed
Fiscal Year
Fiscal Year
2020
2019
92,200 $
91,150
17,500
26,710
—
—
—
—
109,700 $
117,860

(1)

This category consists of fees for the audit of our annual financial statements included in our annual report on Form 10-K and review of the financial statements
included in the Company’s quarterly reports on Form 10-Q. This category also includes advice on audit and accounting matters that arose during, or as a result of,
the audit or the review of interim financial statements, statutory audits required by non-U.S. jurisdictions and the preparation of an annual “management letter” on
internal control matters.

(2)

Represents services that are normally provided by the independent auditors in connection with statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for those fiscal
years, aggregate fees charged for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit and are not reported as audit fees.
These services include consultations regarding Sarbanes-Oxley Act requirements, various SEC filings such as registration statements and consents, and the
implementation of new accounting requirements.
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REPORT OF AUDIT COMMITTEE
The following report of the Audit Committee does not constitute soliciting material and should not be deemed filed or incorporated by reference into any of
our other filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate this report by reference therein, and shall not be
deemed to be soliciting material or otherwise deemed filed under either such Act.
The Audit Committee is currently comprised of three independent directors, all of whom are independent under the rules of the SEC and Nasdaq. Mr. Marshall
serves as Chairman of the Audit Committee. Messrs. Roberts and Runyan also serve on the Audit Committee. The Board has determined that Mr. Marshall qualifies as
an “audit committee financial expert” as defined in Item 401(h) of Regulation S-K of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The duties and responsibilities of a
member of the Audit Committee are in addition to his or her duties as a member of the Board. The Audit Committee operates under a written charter, a copy of which is
available on our corporate website, www.biolargo.com. The Audit Committee met four times during 2020.
The Audit Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities are to:
●

engage the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm,

●

monitor the independent registered public accounting firm’s independence, qualifications and performance,

●

pre-approve all audit and non-audit services,

●

monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial reporting process and internal control systems,

●

provide an open avenue of communication among the independent registered public accounting firm, financial and senior management of the Company
and the Board, and

●

monitor the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, contingent liabilities, risk assessment and risk management.

Management is responsible for the Company’s internal controls and the financial reporting process. The Company’s independent registered public accounting
firm is responsible for performing an independent audit of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board and issuing a report thereon. The Audit Committee’s responsibility is to monitor and oversee these processes.
In carrying out these responsibilities, the Audit Committee monitored the Company’s operational effectiveness regarding the progress and completion of the
implementation of the Company’s internal controls.
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In overseeing the preparation of the Company’s financial statements, the Audit Committee met with the Company’s Chief Financial Officer and management,
and held meetings with the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, both in the presence of management and privately, to review and discuss all
financial statements prior to their issuance, the overall scope and plans for the preparation of the financial statements and respective audit, and the evaluation of the
Company’s internal controls and significant accounting issues. Management advised the Audit Committee that all financial statements were prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and the Audit Committee discussed the statements with both management and the Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm. In accordance with Section 204 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(“PCAOB”) Audit Standard No. 16-1301 (Communications with Audit Committees), the Audit Committee has discussed with the Company’s independent registered
public accounting firm all matters required to be discussed under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the foregoing standards. In addition, the Audit Committee has received
the written disclosures and the letter from the independent registered public accounting firm required by applicable requirements of the PCAOB regarding the
independent registered public accounting firm’s communications with the Audit Committee concerning independence, and has discussed with the independent
registered public accounting firm its independence.
With respect to the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, the Audit Committee, among other things, discussed with Haskell & White LLP
matters relating to their independence, including the written disclosures made to the Audit Committee as required by the PCAOB Rule 3526, Communications with Audit
Committees Concerning Independence. The Audit Committee also reviewed and approved the audit fees of Haskell & White LLP.
On the basis of these reviews and discussions, the Audit Committee (i) appointed Haskell & White LLP as the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm for the year ending December 31, 2020 and (ii) recommended to the Board that the Board approve the inclusion of the Company’s audited financial
statements in the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 for filing with the SEC.

Submitted by the Audit Committee:
/s/ Dennis E. Marshall, Chair
/s/ John S. Runyan
/s/ Kent C. Roberts II
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PROPOSAL FOUR
APPROVAL OF A REVERSE STOCK SPLIT
Introduction
The Board is presenting this proposal to the stockholders, as it has done in the past, in order to seek authority from the stockholders to take certain actions as
the Board may deem appropriate related to an uplisting of the company’s securities to a nationally listed exchange, such as the Nasdaq Capital Markets, and, if needed
as part of that effort, to affect a reverse stock split. The Company does not currently meet the Nasdaq Capital Markets initial listing requirements of share price ($4.00)
and stockholder equity ($5,000,000). This proposal, if approved, would authorize the Board to proceed with a reverse stock split, in its discretion, within a certain range
of ratios. Doing so would allow it to meet the minimum share price requirement in Nasdaq’s listing standards.
To qualify for initial listing on the Nasdaq Capital Markets, in addition to a minimum stock price, a company must also have $5 million of net equity. BioLargo
does not currently meet this requirement - as of December 31, 2020, its net equity was approximately negative $235,000. Thus, to qualify it would need to increase equity
by either raising investment capital, or by generating profits. If it elected to raise capital to meet the requirements, it would only proceed with the reverse split if it had a
firm commitment from an underwriter to raise the capital necessary to meet the requirement. That firm commitment would likely involve the sale of the Company’s
common stock at a price related to then-current market conditions, resulting in dilution to existing stockholders. The company does not currently have in place any
offers to underwrite such an offering.
The Company’s Board of Directors would only proceed with the reverse stock split described in this proposal if it was able to meet a national exchange’s initial
listing requirements.
Background
At the three previous stockholder meetings, the stockholders authorized the Company’s Board to proceed with a reverse stock split, most recently within a
range of 1:4 and 1:20 in association with uplisting the Company’s common stock to a national stock exchange (such as Nasdaq). As it did for the 2020 annual meeting,
for the 2021 Annual stockholder meeting, the Board has adopted a similar resolution, at a ratio of up to a 1:20 reverse split. The Board believes that a maximum 1:20 ratio
is appropriate as it would only proceed with a reverse split if the Company was in a stronger financial position from a profit/loss and revenue standpoint, and with the
market showing stronger support for its stock. As such, it is recommending to the Company’s stockholders approval of a proposal to amend our certificate of
incorporation to effect a reverse split of our outstanding shares of Common Stock within a range of one share of Common Stock for every four shares of Common Stock
(1:4) to one share of Common Stock for every twenty shares of Common Stock (1:20), with the exact reverse split ratio to be decided and publicly announced by the
Board prior to the effective time of the amendment to our certificate of incorporation (the “Reverse Stock Split”). If the stockholders approve this proposal, the Board
will have the authority to decide, at any time prior to the next annual meeting of stockholders of the Company, whether to implement the Reverse Stock Split, and the
precise ratio of the Reverse Stock Split within a range of 1-for-4 shares of our Common Stock to 1‑for‑20 shares of our Common Stock. If the Board decides to implement
the Reverse Stock Split, the Reverse Stock Split will become effective upon the filing of an amendment to our certificate of incorporation with the Secretary of State of
the State of Delaware.
The Board reserves the right, even after stockholder approval, to abandon or postpone the filing of the amendment to effect the Reverse Stock Split if the
Board determines that it is not in the best interests of the Company and the stockholders. The Board has elected thus far not to proceed with the reverse stock split
authorized by the stockholders at last year’s annual meeting. If the amendment effecting the Reverse Stock Split authorized by this proposal is not implemented by the
Board prior to the next annual meeting of stockholders of the Company, the proposal will be deemed abandoned, without any further effect. In that case, the Board may
again seek stockholder approval at a future date for a reverse stock split if it deems a reverse stock split to be advisable at that time.
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If our stockholders approve this proposal and our Board of Directors decides to proceed with the reverse stock split, we will file a Certificate of Amendment to
the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (the “Delaware Secretary of State”) to effect the
proposed reverse stock split, in the form attached to this proxy statement as Appendix A. Our Board of Directors has approved and declared advisable the proposed
amendment to the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation as set forth in the Certificate of Amendment, in the form attached to this proxy
statement as Appendix A. If the proposed reverse stock split is effected, then the number of issued and outstanding shares of our Common Stock would be reduced. Our
Board of Directors has reserved the right to abandon the amendment at any time before the effectiveness of the filing of the Certificate of Amendment with the Delaware
Secretary of State, even if the adoption of the amendment is approved by the stockholders. If the Certificate of Amendment is not filed with the Delaware Secretary of
State prior to our 2022 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting, our Board of Directors will abandon the amendment and the Reverse Stock Split will not be effected. Thus, the
Board of Directors, at its discretion, may cause the filing of the Certificate of Amendment (following stockholder approval) to effect the Reverse Stock Split or abandon
the amendment and not effect the Reverse Stock Split if it determines that any such action is or is not in the best interests of our Company and stockholders.
Purpose of the Reverse Stock Split
We are submitting this proposal to our stockholders for approval in preparation for a potential public offering of our Common Stock, during which time we
intend to “uplist” our Common Stock from the OTCQB Marketplace to The Nasdaq Capital Market, or an equivalent national exchange, and to help attract institutional
investors with minimum trading price requirements. The plan being pursued by the Company includes an uplist to a national exchange, and securing capital to grow the
business through a fully underwritten and nationally syndicated public offering. We believe increasing the trading price of our Common Stock will assist in our capitalraising efforts by making our Common Stock more attractive to a broader range of investors. In addition, Management believes that by listing the company shares on a
national exchange like the Nasdaq Capital Markets will offer a series of benefits to both the Company and its stockholders including: the Company’s stock will be more
attractive to a larger pool of investors, it will remove restrictions that currently prohibit many investors from investing in companies like ours that are traded on the
OTCQB, improved regulatory oversight of broker/dealer market will reduce the risk of potential trading violations, and the enhanced financial and governance
requirements enhance the Company’s profile to potential investors. If successful, the company’s stockholders will also benefit from expanded awareness by inclusion in
a number of indexes that are tracked by buy-side institutions and that will increase the likelihood of analyst coverage. Accordingly, we believe that the Reverse Stock
Split is in our stockholders’ best interests.
In case we do pursue a listing on the Nasdaq Capital Market or similar national exchange, we believe that the Reverse Stock Split is our best option to meet one
of the criteria to obtain an initial listing. The Nasdaq Capital Market requires, among other criteria, an initial bid price of least $4.00 per share and, following initial listing,
maintenance of a continued price of at least $1.00 per share. On April 19, 2021, the last reported sale price of our Common Stock on the OTCQB was $0.19 per share. A
decrease in the number of outstanding shares of our Common Stock resulting from the Reverse Stock Split should, absent other factors, assist in ensuring that our per
share market price of our Common Stock remains above the required price. However, we cannot provide any assurance that (i) we will pursue a listing on the Nasdaq
Capital Market, or (ii) even if we do, our minimum bid price would remain over the minimum bid price requirement of The Nasdaq Capital Market following the reverse
stock split.
In addition, an increase in the per share trading value of our Common Stock would be beneficial because it would:
●

improve the perception of our Common Stock as an investment security;

●

reset our stock price to more normalized trading levels in the face of potentially extended market dislocation;

●

appeal to a broader range of investors to generate greater investor interest in us; and

●

reduce stockholder transaction costs because investors would pay lower commission to trade a fixed dollar amount of our stock if our stock price were
higher than they would if our stock price were lower.
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You should consider that, although our Board of Directors believes that a reverse stock split will in fact increase the price of our Common Stock, in many cases,
because of variables outside of a company’s control (such as market volatility, investor response to the news of a proposed reverse stock split and the general economic
environment), the market price of a company’s shares of Common Stock may in fact decline in value after a reverse stock split. You should also keep in mind that the
implementation of a reverse stock split does not have an effect on the actual or intrinsic value of our business or a stockholder’s proportional ownership in our
Company. However, should the overall value of our Common Stock decline after the proposed reverse stock split, then the actual or intrinsic value of the shares of our
Common Stock held by you will also proportionately decrease as a result of the overall decline in value.
Potential Effects of the Proposed Reverse Stock Split
If this proposal is approved and the Reverse Stock Split is effected, the Reverse Stock Split will be realized simultaneously and in the same ratio for all of our
issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock. The immediate effect of the Reverse Stock Split would be to reduce the number of shares of our Common Stock
outstanding and to increase the trading price of our Common Stock, in the same ratio.
However, we cannot predict the effect of any reverse stock split upon the market price of our Common Stock over an extended period, and in many cases, the
market value of a company’s Common Stock following a reverse stock split declines. We cannot assure you that the trading price of our Common Stock after the Reverse
Stock Split will rise in inverse proportion to the reduction in the number of shares of our Common Stock outstanding as a result of the Reverse Stock Split. Also, we
cannot assure you that the Reverse Stock Split would lead to a sustained increase in the trading price of our Common Stock. The trading price of our Common Stock
may change due to a variety of other factors, including our operating results and other factors related to our business and general market conditions.
Examples of Potential Reverse Stock Split at Various Ratios. The table below provides examples of reverse stock splits at various ratios up to 1-for-20, without
giving effect to the treatment of fractional shares. The actual number of shares outstanding after giving effect to the Reverse Stock Split, if effected, will depend on the
actual ratio that is determined by our Board of Directors in accordance with the amendment to the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

Shares outstanding as of
Record Date
239,442,848
239,442,848
239,442,848
239,442,848

Reverse Stock
Split Ratio
1-for-4
1-for-10
1-for-15
1-for-20

Shares outstanding after
Reverse Stock Split
59,860,712
23,944,285
15,962,857
11,972,142

Reduction in Shares
Outstanding*
75%
90%
93%
95%

* The percentages set forth in this column do not reflect the potential corresponding reduction of authorized shares set forth in Proposal Five. In the event the
Board reduces the number of shares authorized by our Certificate of Incorporation in the same ratio as the Reverse Stock Split, the ratio of the number of shares
outstanding and the number of shares authorized would not change.
The resulting decrease in the number of shares of our Common Stock outstanding could potentially adversely affect the liquidity of our Common Stock,
especially in the case of larger block trades.
Effects on Ownership by Individual Stockholders. If we implement the Reverse Stock Split, the number of shares of our Common Stock held by each
stockholder would be reduced by multiplying the number of shares held immediately before the Reverse Stock Split by the appropriate ratio and then rounding up to the
nearest whole share. The Reverse Stock Split would not affect any stockholder’s percentage ownership interest in our Company or proportionate voting power.
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Effect on Restricted Stock Options, Warrants and Convertible Debt. In addition, we would adjust all outstanding shares of any restricted stock, options and
warrants entitling the holders to purchase shares of our Common Stock as a result of the Reverse Stock Split, as required by the terms of these securities, as well as
adjust the conversion price of any convertible debt. In particular, we would reduce the conversion ratio for each instrument, and would increase the exercise price in
accordance with the terms of each instrument and based on the 1-for-4, up to 1-for-100 ratio of the Reverse Stock Split (i.e., the number of shares issuable under such
securities would decrease by 75%, up to 98%, respectively, and the exercise price per share would be multiplied by 4, up to 100, respectively). Also, we would reduce the
number of shares reserved for issuance under our existing 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, or the 2018 Plan, proportionately based on the ratio of the Reverse Stock Split.
The Reverse Stock Split would not otherwise affect any of the rights currently accruing to holders of our Common Stock, or options or warrants exercisable for our
Common Stock.
Other Effects on Outstanding Shares. If we implement a reverse stock split, the rights pertaining to the outstanding shares of our Common Stock would be
unchanged after the reverse stock split. Each share of our Common Stock issued following the reverse stock split would be fully paid and nonassessable.
The reverse stock split would result in some stockholders owning “odd-lots” of less than 100 shares of our Common Stock. Brokerage commissions and other
costs of transactions in odd-lots are generally higher than the costs of transactions in “round-lots” of even multiples of 100 shares.
After the effective time, our Common Stock will have a new Committee on Uniform Securities Identification Procedures (CUSIP) number, which is a number used
to identify our equity securities, and stock certificates with the older CUSIP number will need to be exchanged for shares of Common Stock with the new CUSIP number
by following the procedures described below. However, until such exchange is made, the old stock certificates will automatically represent the new, post-split number of
shares. After the Reverse Stock Split, we will continue to voluntarily file periodic reports and comply with other requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). Because our Board of Directors intends to implement the Reverse Stock Split only in conjunction with a public offering and uplist to the
Nasdaq Capital Markets, if the Reverse Stock Split is effected, our Common Stock would be listed shortly thereafter on a national stock exchange.
Issuance of New Shares upon a Reverse Stock Split. If a reverse split is effectuated, a significant number of shares of common stock would become available
for issuance. The number of shares would depend upon the ratio of the reverse split; the higher the ratio, the greater the number of shares that would become authorized
but unissued. The company has no agreements, plans, arrangements, or understandings to issue or sell any shares that would become available for issuance upon
effectiveness of the reverse split.
Authorized Shares of Stock
The Reverse Stock Split would affect all issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock and outstanding rights to acquire Common Stock. In Proposal Five,
we are asking for authorization to reduce the number of shares outstanding such that the ratio of shares issued to shares outstanding would not change. By itself,
Proposal Four does not change the number of shares of Common Stock currently authorized. However, if Proposal Four is approved, and Proposal Five is not, upon the
effectiveness of the Reverse Stock Split, the number of authorized shares of Common Stock that are not issued or outstanding would increase due to the reduction in
the number of shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding as a result of the reverse stock split.
As of the Record Date, we had (i) 400,000,000 shares of authorized Common Stock, of which 239,442,848 shares of Common Stock, par value $0.00067 per share,
were issued and outstanding, and (ii) 50,000,000 shares of authorized preferred stock, par value $0.00067 per share, of which there were no shares issued and
outstanding. If we issue additional shares, the ownership interest of holders of Common Stock will be diluted.
The Company has no agreements, plans, arrangements, or understandings to issue any of the increased number of authorized but unissued shares of Common
Stock that would be made available as a result of the proposed reverse stock split.
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Procedure for Effecting the Proposed Stock Split and Exchange of Stock Certificates
If stockholders approve this proposal and our Board of Directors does not otherwise abandon the amendment contemplating the Reverse Stock Split, we will
file with the Delaware Secretary of State a Certificate of Amendment to our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, in the form attached to this proxy
statement as Appendix A. The Reverse Stock Split will become effective at the time and on the date of filing of, or at such later time as is specified in, the Certificate of
Amendment, which we refer to as the “effective time” and “effective date,” respectively. Beginning at the effective time, each certificate representing shares of Common
Stock will be deemed for all corporate purposes to evidence ownership of the number of whole shares into which the shares previously represented by the certificate
were combined pursuant to the Reverse Stock Split.
Upon the Reverse Stock Split, we intend to treat stockholders holding our Common Stock in “street name,” through a bank, broker or other nominee, in the
same manner as registered stockholders whose shares are registered in their names. Banks, brokers or other nominees will be instructed to effect the Reverse Stock Split
for their beneficial holders holding our Common Stock in “street name.” However, these banks, brokers or other nominees may have different procedures than registered
stockholders for processing the Reverse Stock Split. If you hold your shares with a bank, broker or other nominee and if you have any questions in this regard, we
encourage you to contact your nominee.
Following the Reverse Stock Split, stockholders holding physical certificates must exchange those certificates for new certificates.
Our transfer agent will advise registered stockholders of the procedures to be followed to exchange certificates in a letter of transmittal to be sent to
stockholders. No new certificates will be issued to a stockholder until the stockholder has surrendered the stockholder’s outstanding certificate(s), together with the
properly completed and executed letter of transmittal, to the transfer agent. Any old shares submitted for transfer, whether pursuant to a sale, other disposition or
otherwise, will automatically be exchanged for new shares. Stockholders should not destroy any stock certificate(s) and should not submit any certificate(s) until
requested to do so.
Fractional Shares
We would not issue fractional shares in connection with the Reverse Stock Split. In lieu thereof, any fractional share that results from the Reverse Stock Split
will be rounded up to the next whole share of Common Stock.
No Appraisal Rights
No appraisal rights are available under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware or under our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation or
amended and restated bylaws with respect to the reverse stock split. There may exist other rights or actions under state law for stockholders who are aggrieved by
reverse stock splits generally.
Accounting Consequences
The par value of our Common Stock would remain unchanged at $0.00067 per share after the Reverse Stock Split. Also, our capital account would remain
unchanged, and we do not anticipate that any other accounting consequences would arise as a result of the reverse stock split.
No Going Private Transaction
Notwithstanding the decrease in the number of outstanding shares following the reverse stock split, our Board of Directors does not intend for this transaction
to be the first step in a “going private transaction” within the meaning of Rule 13e-3 of the Exchange Act.
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Reverse Stock Split
The following is a summary of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the reverse stock split to holders of our shares. This summary is based on
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), the Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder, and administrative rulings and court decisions in effect
as of the date of this document, all of which may be subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect. This summary only addresses holders who hold their shares as
capital assets within the meaning of the Code and does not address all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to holders subject to special tax
treatment, such as financial institutions, dealers in securities, insurance companies, foreign persons and tax-exempt entities. In addition, this summary does not consider
the effects of any applicable state, local, foreign or other tax laws.
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We have not sought and will not seek any ruling from the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”), or an opinion from counsel with respect to the U.S. federal
income tax consequences discussed below. There can be no assurance that the tax consequences discussed below would be accepted by the IRS or a court. The tax
treatment of the reverse stock split to holders may vary depending upon a holder’s particular facts and circumstances.
We urge holders to consult with their own tax advisors as to any U.S. federal, state, local or foreign tax consequences applicable to them that could result from
the reverse stock split.
The receipt of Common Stock in the Reverse Stock Split should not result in any taxable gain or loss to a holder for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The
aggregate tax basis of the Common Stock received by a holder as a result of the Reverse Stock Split (including the basis of any fractional share to which a holder is
entitled) will be equal to the aggregate basis of the existing Common Stock exchanged for such stock. A holder’s holding period for the Common Stock received in the
Reverse Stock Split will include the holding period of the Common Stock exchanged therefor.
Board Discretion to Implement the Reverse Stock Split
Our Board of Directors has reserved the right to abandon the amendment at any time before the effectiveness of the filing of the Certificate of Amendment with
the Delaware Secretary of State, even if the adoption of the amendment is approved by the stockholders.
Required Vote
The vote required to approve Proposal Four is governed by Delaware law, and the minimum vote required to approve such proposal is a majority of the total
votes cast on such proposal, provided a quorum is present. As a result, in accordance with Delaware law, abstentions and broker non-votes will have the effect of a vote
“Against” each such proposal.
Recommendation of the Board of Directors
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT
YOU VOTE “FOR” PROPOSAL FOUR
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PROPOSAL FIVE
APPROVAL OF A PROPOSED AMENDMENT TO
AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
TO REDUCE THE TOTAL NUMBER OF AUTHORIZED SHARES OF COMMON STOCK

Overview
In connection with the Reverse Stock Split described in Proposal Four, the Board of Directors is proposing that it be provided authority to reduce the total
number of authorized shares of common stock to a number that it determines to be in the best interest of the Company and its stockholders depending on the chosen
ratio of the Reverse Stock Split and any other factor it deems important to consider, including future financing needs. The Board of Directors could choose to reduce the
number of shares in the same ratio as the Reverse Stock Split, or some lessor ratio, or not at all. Thus, for example, were Proposal One and Two approved and the Board
elected to do the Reverse Stock Split at a 1-for-10 ratio, then the Board of Directors would be authorized to reduce the total number of authorized shares of common
stock from 400,000,000 to an amount as low as 40,000,000 (the 1:10 ratio), or some higher number (e.g., to 100,000,000 shares, thus a 1:4 ratio). The par value per share of
the common stock would remain unchanged at $0.00067 per share after the Reverse Stock Split.
The text of the proposed certificate of amendment to the Charter to effect the Reverse Stock Split and reduce the total number of authorized shares of common
stock is attached to this proxy statement as Appendix A. However, such text is subject to amendment to include such changes as may be required by the office of the
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware or as the Board of Directors deems necessary and advisable to effect the Reverse Stock Split under Proposal Four. The
effectiveness or abandonment of such amendment will be determined by the Board of Directors.
The Board of Directors has recommended that the proposed amendment be presented to stockholders for approval. Upon receiving stockholder approval of the
proposed amendment, the Board of Directors will have the sole discretion, until the 2021 Annual Meeting, to elect, as it determines to be in the best interests of
BioLargo and its stockholders, whether to effect the Reverse Stock Split.
Proposal Five is conditioned on the approval of Proposal Four. Therefore, if Proposal Four is not approved by the stockholders, Proposal Five will
automatically be deemed to have not been approved by the stockholders, regardless of the number of shares actually voted “FOR” Proposal Five. Proposal Four is not
conditioned on the approval of Proposal Five.
Purposes and Effects of Decreasing our Total Number of Authorized Shares of Common Stock
As a matter of Delaware law, implementation of the Reverse Stock Split does not require a change in the total number of shares of common stock authorized
under the Charter. However, the although the Board of Directors believes that the current ratio of outstanding shares to authorized shares (approximately 1:3) is
sufficient to meet the needs of the Company in the near future, future financing activities and company operations may necessitate the availability of additional shares.
If the number of outstanding shares of common stock resulting from the Reverse Stock Split if Proposal Four is approved by the stockholders and implemented by the
Board decreases, the Company may no longer have a need for 400,000,000 authorized shares of common stock. This need will depend on the ratio that the Board deems
to be in the best interest of the Company and its stockholders.
The proposed authorization to reduce the number of authorized shares of common stock is also intended to conform to the requirements of certain entities that
make recommendations to stockholders regarding proposals submitted by the Company and to ensure that the Company does not have what some stockholders might
view as an unreasonably high number of authorized but unissued shares of common stock. In the event that we need to increase our authorized shares of common stock
in the future, we may, subject to stockholder approval, seek to amend the Charter to increase the number of authorized shares of common stock. In addition, the Board of
Directors believes that the reduction in the number of authorized shares of common stock may also reduce certain of BioLargo’s costs, such as annual franchise taxes
paid to the State of Delaware.
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Required Vote
The vote required to approve Proposal Five is governed by Delaware law, and the minimum vote required to approve such proposal is a majority of the total
votes cast on such proposal, provided a quorum is present. As a result, in accordance with Delaware law, abstentions and broker non-votes will have the effect of a vote
“Against” each such proposal.
Recommendation of the Board of Directors
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS UNANIMOUSLY RECOMMENDS THAT
YOU VOTE “FOR” PROPOSAL FIVE
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ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
We filed with the SEC our original Annual Report for our year ended December 31, 2020 on Form 10-K on March 30, 2021. A copy of the 10-K has been mailed to all
stockholders along with this proxy statement, or stockholders have been given notice of Internet availability of these documents. Stockholders may obtain additional
copies of the Annual Report, without charge, by writing to our Corporate Secretary, at our principal executive offices at 14921 Chestnut St., Westminster, CA 92683.
We incorporate by this reference herein the Company’s Financial Statements and the notes thereto, and the discussions under the captions “Description of
Business,” “Description of Properties,” “Legal Proceedings,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and
“Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure” contained in the 10-K.
OTHER PROPOSALS
Management does not know of any proposals to be presented at the Annual Meeting other than those set forth herein and in the Notice accompanying this proxy
statement. If a stockholder vote is necessary to transact any other business at the Annual Meeting, the proxyholders intend to vote their proxies in accordance with
their best judgment related to such business.
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See definition
of “accelerated filer and large accelerated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):
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The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates computed by reference to the price at which the common stock
was last sold as of the last business day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter was $30,512,541.
The number of shares outstanding of the issuer’s class of common equity as of March 24, 2021 was 238,776,271; no preferred shares are issued or outstanding as
of that date.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 of Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K are incorporated by reference from the Registrant’s Proxy
Statement for its annual meeting to be held June 15, 2021.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
USE OF FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS IN THIS REPORT
This annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 (the “Annual Report”) contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial
risks and uncertainties. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, included in this Annual Report regarding our strategy, future operations, future financial
position, future revenues, projected costs, prospects and plans and objectives of management are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements
include, but are not limited to, predictions regarding:
•

our business plan;

•

the commercial viability of our technology and products incorporating our technology;

•

the effects of competitive factors on our technology and products incorporating our technology;

•

expenses we will incur in operating our business;

•

our liquidity and sufficiency of existing cash;

•

the success of our financing plans; and

•

the outcome of pending or threatened litigation.

You can identify these and other forward-looking statements by the use of words such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,”
“plans,” “projects,” “will,” “would” and similar expressions, or the negative of such terms, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words.
Forward-looking statements also include the assumptions underlying or relating to any of the foregoing statements.
We have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and projections about future events. Although we believe that the expectations
underlying our forward-looking statements are reasonable, these expectations may prove to be incorrect, and all of these statements are subject to risks and
uncertainties. Therefore, you should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. We have included important risks and uncertainties in the cautionary
statements included in this Annual Report, particularly the section titled “Risk Factors” incorporated by reference herein. We believe these risks and uncertainties could
cause actual results or events to differ materially from the forward-looking statements that we make. Should one or more of these risks and uncertainties materialize, or
should underlying assumptions, projections or expectations prove incorrect, actual results, performance or financial condition may vary materially and adversely from
those anticipated, estimated or expected. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures
or investments that we may make. We do not assume any obligation to update any of the forward-looking statements contained herein, whether as a result of new
information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law. In the light of these risks and uncertainties, the forward-looking events and circumstances discussed
in this report may not occur, and actual results could differ materially from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements. Any forward-looking
statement made by us in this report is based only on information currently available to us and speaks only as of the date on which it is made.
When we refer in this report to “BioLargo,” the “company,” “our company,” “we,” “us” and “our,” we mean BioLargo, Inc., and our subsidiaries, including
BioLargo Life Technologies, Inc., which holds our intellectual property; ONM Environmental, Inc., which manufactures, markets, sells and distributes our odor and
volatile organic compound control products; BioLargo Water Investment Group, Inc., which owns our Canadian subsidiary BioLargo Water, Inc., which develops and
markets our AOS water treatment technologies; BioLargo Engineering, Science & Technologies, LLC, a professional engineering services division; and BioLargo
Development Corp., which employs and provides benefits to our employees. We also own approximately 45% of Clyra Medical Technologies, Inc. (“Clyra Medical”) as
of December 31, 2020, an entity we formed to commercialize our technologies in the medical and dental fields.
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The information contained in this Annual Report is as of December 31, 2020, unless expressly stated otherwise.
Our Business - Innovator and Solution Provider
BioLargo, Inc. invents, develops, and commercializes innovative platform technologies to solve challenging environmental problems like PFAS contamination,
advanced water and wastewater treatment, industrial odor and VOC control, air quality control, and infection control. With over thirteen years of extensive R&D,
BioLargo holds a wide array of issued patents, maintains a robust pipeline of products, and provides full-service environmental engineering. Our peer-reviewed
scientific approach allows us to invent or acquire novel technologies and develop them to maturity through our operating subsidiaries. With a keen emphasis on
collaborations with academic, municipal, and commercial organizations and associations, BioLargo has proven itself with over 80 awarded grants and numerous pilot
projects. We monetize through direct sales, recurring service contracts, licensing agreements, strategic joint venture formation and/or the sale of the IP.
In the last year, we developed and refined new technologies that are now ready for commercial trials (see Development of AEC to Combat PFAS Crisis, and
New Technology – Mineral Extraction), formalized strategic relationships to expand sales and revenues (see South Korean Joint Venture, and Full Service
Environmental Engineering), arranged for demonstration pilot projects for our AOS water treatment system (see Sunworks Farm Pilot and Municipal Wastewater
Treatment Pilot – Montreal), increased revenues, including those of our flagship product, CupriDyne Clean (see Results of Operations), and began the process to
register our CupriDyne technology with the EPA to make advanced sanitization and disinfection claims, all the while we and the world struggled through the challenges
presented by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Several of our technologies are commercially available and are advancing as disrupters in their respective markets.
Formula for Success: Technology, Talent and Purpose
Technology
The company has continually advanced its robust portfolio of technologies since the first acquisition of early iterations of the BioLargo technology in the
spring of 2007. Our innovations have primarily been developed through the company’s internal resources, and some through acquisition. These include patents, patents
pending and trade secrets that include solutions for:
●

PFAS removal

●

SARS-CoV-2 solutions

●

Air quality controls and systems including odor and VOC control

●

Water decontamination

●

Micro-pollutant destruction and removal

●

Legionella detection and water treatment solutions

●

Mineral processing

●

Infection control

●

Wound management

●

Regenerative tissue therapy

●

Disinfection
Talent

We have steadily grown our team to 27 team members and numerous other part-time consultants, including highly qualified PhDs, engineers, MDs and medical
professionals, construction professionals, field service technicians, innovators, sales marketing specialists, entrepreneurial and executive leadership.
Purpose
Our mission to make life better centers our company on serving others with integrity, knowledge, technology, and solutions that protect the environment,
improve quality of life, and protect lives. We are unique in our ability to tailor our offerings to serve our customers with proven expertise, proven technology and, if
needed, we often have the ability to develop new technical solutions to meet our customer’s needs.
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Development of AEC to Combat PFAS Crisis
Our engineers at BLEST have developed a novel water treatment system, called the AEC (Aqueous Electrostatic Concentrator), that removes per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) from water at a fraction of the cost of existing solutions. PFAS chemicals can cause cancer, infertility, asthma, and other health problems
in human beings, are present in a vast range of manufactured goods, common household products (e.g., cleaning products, cookware), and electronics, and contaminate
drinking water in unsafe levels all over the globe. Governments and industry are actively seeking less expensive technologies and processes to eliminate PFAS from
groundwater and drinking water. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) has made finding an economical solution a priority, announcing in February 2021
final regulatory determinations on the safe maximum levels of PFAS in drinking water, paving the way for regulating the chemicals through the Safe Drinking Water Act
and creating a regulatory environment where municipalities will be required to install technologies that help remove PFAS from their drinking water supplies prior to
distribution.
Our AEC treatment system has been proven in lab-scale studies to meet or exceed the performance of current incumbent solutions (such as carbon-filtration
and reverse osmosis) while consuming as little as $0.30 in electrical costs per 1,000 gallons treated. And most significantly, the AEC produces substantially less waste
than carbon-filtration and reverse osmosis systems, creating far less of a disposal liability. We believe testing will show that total operating costs of the AEC represent a
significant potential cost savings compared to reverse osmosis and carbon sequestration technologies.
PFAS water contamination is a significant problem worldwide. In the United States, PFAS chemicals have been estimated to be present in the blood of 98% of
the population, and have been linked to a plethora of health problems including high cholesterol, liver dysfunction, immune disorders and various cancers. Over 1,400
communities so far in the U.S. have been proven to be affected by PFAS water contamination. In Orange County, California, where our corporate offices are located,
more than 40 drinking water wells have been taken out of service due to PFAS contamination, and county officials estimate that treating the wells using existing
technologies will cost more than $200 million in capital costs and more than $400 million in maintenance and operating costs. When PFAS-laden carbon is incinerated,
not only does it produce vast volumes of greenhouse gases such as carbon dioxide, but new evidence suggests volatile fluorochemicals like carbon tetrafluoride,
hexafluoroethane, and hydrogen fluoride are released into the air which may have serious human health impacts on adjacent communities. Our technology does not
require incineration.
We are in the final stages of refining the AEC technology prior to commercial sales. We have received interest in the system from multiple municipal water
agencies. We have completed third-party testing to validate the efficacy of the system. We have designed a modular system that can theoretically handle large projects.
We are constructing a pilot unit for testing at an ongoing project at a municipal water treatment plant in Canada (see Wastewater Treatment Pilot – Montreal, below). We
are hopeful to start multiple pre-commercial trials in the U.S. by the end of summer.
Broadly speaking, there are three main markets for PFAS water treatment in the U.S., each of which we intend to address in the coming years. The first is
municipal water treatment – that is water which needs treatment for PFAS before it can be distributed to the public or water that must be treated from a wastewater
treatment plant. Southern California, Michigan and Wisconsin may be hotbeds for this market, as the states have adopted stringent regulations on PFAS limits in
drinking water and wastewater, and significant initiatives have begun to implement systems to address the problem. The second market is military bases, where the use
of PFAS-containing fire-fighting foam has contaminated the soil and groundwater. These sites are numerous and have significant groundwater and soil contamination
problems which regulators are likely to require remediation for in the coming years. The third market is treatment for water intake or outfalls of industrial facilities that use
PFAS compounds in manufacturing and other industrial processes. Our first pilot projects are in municipal water treatment. As our engineers are already providing
environmental engineering services on U.S. Airforce bases, we believe that work may lead to sales in that arena.
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COVID-19 Response and Related Business Development
In response to the COVID-19 crisis, and because of our technology portfolio’s specialty focus on nature’s best disinfectant, iodine, at the outset of the
pandemic we sponsored research with one of the country’s leading researchers in the study of pandemic diseases, Dr. Slobodan Paessler. Located at the Galveston
National Laboratory at the University of Texas Medical Branch, his laboratory confirmed that our CupriDyne technology inactivated the Coronavirus that causes
COVID-19.
Following this initial study, the laboratory of Dr. Paessler conducted a follow-up study whereby a more concentrated CupriDyne formula (See CupriDyne Plus,
below) was tested against the COVID-19 virus. In this study, the CupriDyne Plus completely inactivated SARS-CoV-2 (the COVID-19 virus) in 10 minutes – roughly the
same performance observed with highly concentrated bleach. As a consequence of these highly promising results, we are seeking the regulatory approvals to sell a
CupriDyne based product to combat the pandemic (see EPA Registration of CupriDyne Plus, below).
ONM Environmental - Industrial Odor and VOC Solutions
In 2020, we changed the name of our odor control subsidiary Odor-No-More, Inc., to ONM Environmental, Inc., to reflect the expansion of its work from odor
control sales to more robust environmental services. Its flagship product, CupriDyne® Clean, reduces and eliminates tough odors and volatile organic compounds
(“VOCs”) in various industrial settings. CupriDyne Clean is delivered through misting systems, sprayers, water trucks and similar water delivery systems designed,
manufactured and installed by ONM. We believe the product is the number-one performing odor-control product in the market, and that it offers substantial savings to
our customers compared with competing products. In response to customer demand for expanded services, ONM now holds General, Electrical, Plumbing and Low
Voltage contractor licenses issued by the California Contractors State License Board, and offers a menu of services to landfills, transfer stations, wastewater treatment
facilities as well as facilities in non-waste related industries. These services include engineering design, construction, installation, ongoing maintenance and on-site
support services to assist our clients in the implementation and continued use of the various systems that deliver our liquid products in the field (such as misting
systems).
Our customer base for our odor and VOC business was expanding prior to the COVID-19 crisis and we expect it to continue doing so as the United States
recovers from the pandemic. We have been and expect to continue selling product to the largest solid waste handling companies in the country. Very recently, some of
the capital projects that ONM previously had on hold due to logistical limitations imposed by the pandemic have begun to come back online, with decision-makers from
these clients requesting that ONM resume work on these projects. We also have a number of potential partners actively engaged in commercial trials around the globe
and we are actively in discussion with a number of groups to leverage our commercial focus through distribution partnerships.
In the fourth quarter of 2020, ONM Environmental acquired a deodorizing and sanitizing technology, called EcoMist®, that helps raise the customer care bar for
solid waste collectors to treat all types of waste receptacles in real time during pick up. EcoMist® is a device installed directly onto any waste collection vehicle that
automatically sprays odor control products and/or sanitizer into refuse bins or dumpsters during the waste collection process. ONM plans to test market the product
directly with its major solid waste handling customers by packaging it with CupriDyne Clean. A video showing EcoMist® in operation can be viewed here:
https://www.biolargo.com/ecomist-video. EcoMist® is easy to install and use – it works “out-of-the-box”, allowing customers to install the system themselves, and will
thus not require a significant investment in logistics and servicing to support sales. ONM’s acquisition of EcoMist® is part of its strategy to grow revenues of its air
quality control division through chemistry deployment systems that lead to more scalable sales of CupriDyne Clean. It also helps ensure ONM can provide the largest
waste handling companies in the country with a broad range of tools to solve their odor and VOC control challenges in all facets of their business. ONM’s only
obligation under the acquisition agreement is a 10% royalty on EcoMist® system sales.
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Cannabis Industry
In 2019, we granted non-exclusive rights to Mabre Systems to sell our CupriDyne Clean product to the Cannabis industry under a private-label brand. Testing
shows that CupriDyne Clean eliminates the odors emitted by Cannabis grow and production facilities. We have been installing CupriDyne Clean delivery misting
systems for Mabre’s customers, and have over 20 facilities regularly buying product from our distributor. Mabre has expressed an intent to launch a consumer odor
product based on CupriDyne Clean in the near future.
South Korean Joint Venture
On February 12, 2020, we executed a “Joint Venture Framework Agreement” with a leading wastewater treatment solution provider based in South Korea (BKT
Co. Ltd., “BKT”), to create a South Korean entity that would manufacture odor and VOC control products based on our CupriDyne Clean products. We received a
$350,000 investment from BKT and issued 1,593,087 shares of our common stock, and invested $100,000 into the joint venture for a 40% ownership share. BKT and its
U.S. based subsidiary invested $150,000 into the joint venture for the remaining 60% ownership share. Although the joint venture established manufacturing and is
marketing the product, the COVID-19 pandemic significantly impacted the expected growth of the company. In late 2020, the joint venture (under the name Odin)
established corporate offices at the Korea Water Cluster, which is a new world-renowned water innovation campus located in Daegu, South Korea, a center for industrial
innovation in Asia. The move positions Odin well to interface with other innovators in the water treatment sector as well as with industry leaders who may need Odin’s
products for air quality control.
Full Service Environmental Engineering
Our subsidiary BioLargo Engineering, Science & Technologies, LLC (“BLEST”) offers full service environmental engineering to third parties and provides
engineering support services to our internal teams to accelerate the commercialization of our technologies. Its website is found at www.BioLargoEngineering.com.
BLEST focuses its efforts in three areas:
●

providing engineering services to third-party clients;

●

supporting internal product development and business units’ services to customers (e.g., the AOS); and

●

advancing their own technical innovations such as the AEC.

The subsidiary is located in Oak Ridge (a suburb of Knoxville, Tennessee), and employs seven scientists and engineers who collectively worked together for
almost 30 years and experience in diverse engineering fields. The team is led by Randall Moore, who served as Manager of Operations for Consulting and Engineering
for the Knoxville office of CB&I Environmental & Infrastructure and was formerly a leader at The Shaw Group, Inc., a Fortune 500 global engineering firm. The other team
members are also former employees of CB&I and Shaw. The team is highly experienced across multiple industries and they are considered experts in their respective
fields, including chemical engineering, wastewater treatment (including design, operations, data gathering and data evaluation), process safety, energy efficiency, air
pollution, design and control, technology evaluation, technology integration, air quality management & testing, engineering management, permitting, industrial hygiene,
applied research and development, air testing, environmental permitting, HAZOP review, chemical processing, thermal design, computational fluid dynamics, mechanical
engineering, mechanical design, NEPDES permitting, RCRA/TSCA compliance and permitting, project management, storm water design & permitting, computer assisted
design (CAD), bench chemistry, continuous emission monitoring system operator, data handling and evaluation and decommissioning and decontamination of
radiological and chemical contaminated facilities.
BLEST established a partnership with Garratt-Callahan, a national industrial water treatment company, to develop and sell custom wastewater treatment
equipment to recycle water from commercial facilities. They are also working with them to expand sales of other BioLargo products.
New Technology – Mineral Extraction
BLEST developed a proprietary and patent-pending process to extract valuable minerals from certain types of industrial waste. As a result of this invention, a
client is planning a substantial long-term project expected to generate over $1B in revenues, while avoiding expensive soil remediation costs. As the client’s engineering
services provider, and developer of the extraction technology, BLEST is in discussions with the client to secure its role as the project manager and/or lead engineer. We
believe there are multiple similarly situated industrial waste sites across the country and around the world that would benefit from our newly developed process, and, as
resources permit, we intend to explore these opportunities.
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BioLargo Water and the Advanced Oxidation System – AOS
BioLargo Water is our wholly owned subsidiary located on campus at the University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada, that developed and is commercializing our
Advanced Oxidation System (AOS). The AOS is our patented water treatment device that generates a series of highly oxidative species of iodine and other molecules
that, because of its proprietary configuration and inner constituents, allow it to eliminate pathogenic organisms and organic contaminants as water passes through the
device. The key value proposition of the AOS is its ability to eliminate a wide variety of contaminants with high performance while consuming extremely low levels of
input electricity and extremely low levels of chemistry inputs – a trait made possible by the complex set of highly oxidative iodine compounds generated within the AOS
reactor. Our proof-of-concept studies and case studies have generated results that project the AOS will be more cost- and energy-efficient than commonly used
advanced water treatment technologies such as UV, electro-chlorination, and ozonation. This value proposition may enable advanced water treatment in applications
where it otherwise would have been prohibitively costly. Secondly, the AOS has been proven effective against certain soluble organic molecules, pharmaceuticals and a
host of other micropollutants which are difficult to treat with other conventional tertiary water treatment technologies like UV. This characteristic of the AOS may offer a
significant incentive for prospective customers to choose this technology over established incumbents because of the need in certain contexts to address these hardto-treat contaminants, in addition to traditional targets of tertiary treatment like microorganisms.
Sunworks Farm Pilot
Our efforts to establish our first commercial pilot for the AOS system, at a poultry and livestock farm in Alberta, Canada, is progressing as planned. We expect
to have installed a fully functional treatment train featuring our AOS water system at the client’s farm in the second quarter of 2021. When complete, the system will be
the first of its kind to allow for the complete reuse of this industrial wastewater, allowing the client to significantly save on water costs and expand production. The
project budget of approximately $600,000 will be funded in part by government grants and in part by the client. We expect the project to be successful, and to set a
precedent for the AOS and BioLargo’s total water treatment solutions for future customers seeking water reuse, or even “zero liquid discharge” systems, and we believe
will lead to follow-up projects with customers who follow Sunworks’ example.
Municipal Wastewater Treatment Pilot - Montreal
BioLargo Water is working on a second commercial-scale AOS demonstration pilot, to be installed at a municipal wastewater treatment facility near Montreal,
Quebec, to be run in partnership with acclaimed water experts at the Centre des Technologies de L’Eau (CTE). BLEST engineers have already built and delivered this
commercial-scale AOS unit to the site near Montreal, and the project is expected to begin collecting important data throughout the first quarter of 2021. The purpose of
the project is to assess the AOS (and eventually, an AEC unit to be added on to the treatment train) as effective, cost-efficient, and complementary solutions for
disinfecting and eliminating a broad range of recalcitrant contaminants from municipal wastewater in an operating wastewater treatment plant. It is our belief that once
these pre-commercial pilots have concluded with the AOS, our ability to entice major water industry players to partner with BioLargo Water to accelerate market
adoption of the AOS will be increased dramatically.
In late 2019, BioLargo Water commenced a Regulation Crowdfunding offering in an attempt to raise internal capital to fund its operations. In 2020, the platform
on which the offering was being marketed paused its operations, and we elected to place the effort on hold until such time as the platform was more well established. We
continue to monitor and reevaluate the opportunity to utilize this funding source.
Clyra Medical Technologies
Clyra Medical Technologies, Inc. is our partially owned subsidiary creating medical products based on our technology.
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When the COVID-19 crisis began, we immediately responded by supporting the team at Clyra Medical to develop a product that could help frontline workers
battle the pandemic. In response, they developed Clyraguard Personal Protection Spray. Testing and peer-reviewed published data confirmed that Clyraguard
inactivates the SARS CoV-2 coronavirus. The product was registered with the FDA as a Class I general purpose disinfectant, and initially sales were brisk. After
consultation with legal and regulatory advisors, we decided that that products claims required an EPA registration, and sales were stopped. We are actively working on
this now (see CupriDyne Plus, below).
Clyra is preparing to launch a prescription-only product to be used by orthopedic surgeons to reduce infections in knee and hip replacement surgeries.
CupriDyne Plus
At the outset of the Covid-19 pandemic, we set out to revisit and modify the CupriDyne technology with the goal of creating a powerful yet comparatively
safer, non-toxic, and environmentally friendly disinfectant and/or surface sanitizer. The result of this redevelopment process, which involved over 500 hours by our
engineers and scientists, was “CupriDyne Plus”, a product that delivers a potent concentration of the active ingredient iodine (I2) as compared to traditional CupriDyne
based formulations, meaning it can achieve much faster results.
EPA Registration of CupriDyne Plus
We are actively working to obtain an EPA registration for CupriDyne Plus for a number of different applications. CupriDyne Plus has the potential to offer a
safer, more environmentally friendly alternative to bleach and other common antimicrobials for applications like hard surface disinfection, sanitization of non-porous
non-food contact surfaces, disinfection of air, textiles, and more. Our scientists have conducted many of the tests required for EPA registration. Based on our extensive
work, we are confident it meets the minimum performance requirements required for EPA registration as a disinfectant and/or surface sanitizer. We have met with and
presented data to officials at the EPA for the purpose of refining our product and determining additional data requirements, and have retained a firm specializing in EPA
registration work to help us through the process. While we are not able to predict the results of any EPA application we submit, or the time it will take to complete the
process, we believe the market opportunities are large, with the U.S. market for surface disinfectants coming in at greater than $3.4 billion
(https://www.grandviewresearch.com/industry-analysis/surface-disinfectant-market).
Conclusion
BioLargo has advanced its technologies and infrastructure to achieve a critical mass to capitalize on its commercial efforts and have a positive impact around
the world with clean water, clean air, and infection control solutions. The company presents a scalable business model that targets high-impact cleantech market
opportunities. We leverage our considerable scientific, engineering, and entrepreneurial talent to monetize our technologies and ensure high-quality customer service
and increased revenue potential. We seek to unlock the value of our portfolio of disruptive technologies to advance our mission to “make life better” and continue
creating shareholder value.
Intellectual Property
We have 21 patents issued, including 19 in the United States, and multiple pending. We believe these patents provide a foundation from which to continue
building our patent portfolio, and we believe that our technology is sufficiently useful and novel that we have a reasonable basis upon which to rely on our patent
protections. We also rely on trade secrets and technical know-how to establish and maintain additional protection of our intellectual property. As our capital resources
permit, we expect to expand our patent protection as we continue to refine our inventions as well as make new discoveries. See the detailed discussion below of our
patent portfolio.
We regard our intellectual property as critical to our ultimate success. Our goal is to obtain, maintain and enforce patent protection for our products and
technologies in geographic areas of commercial interest and to protect our trade secrets and proprietary information through laws and contractual arrangements.
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Our Chief Science Officer, Mr. Kenneth R. Code, has been involved in the research and development of the technology since 1997. He has participated in the
Canadian Federal Scientific Research and Experimental Development program, and he was instrumental in the discovery, preparation and filing of the first technology
patents. He has worked with manufacturers, distributors and suppliers in a wide variety of industries to gain a full appreciation of the potential applications and the
methodologies applicable to our technology for their manufacture and performance. He continues to research methods and applications to continue to expand the
potential uses of our technology as well as work to uncover new discoveries that may provide additional commercial applications to help solve real world problems in
the field of disinfection.
We incurred approximately $1,300,000 in expense related to our research and development activities in 2020, a decrease of approximately $150,000 compared
with the prior year. We increased research and development to develop products in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, and decreased in other areas as our water
treatment technologies have neared commercialization.
We believe that our suite of intellectual property covers the presently targeted major areas of focus for our licensing strategy. The description of our
intellectual property, at present, is as follows:
U.S. Patents
●

U.S. Patent 10,238,990, issued on March 26, 2019, and 10,051,866, issued on August 21, 2018, which protect our AOS system.

●
U.S. Patent 10,046,078, issued on August 14, 2018, relating to the misting systems that eliminate odors in waste transfer stations, landfills, and other
waste handling facilities.
●

U.S. Patent 9,883,653 issued on February 8, 2018, which encompasses a litter composition used in the absorption of animal wastes.

●
US Patent 9,414,601 granted August 16, 2016, relating to the use of an article for application to a surface to provide antimicrobial and/or anti-odor
activity. At least one of the reagents is coated with a water-soluble, water dispersible or water-penetrable covering that prevents ambient conditions of 50% relative
humidity at 25ºC from causing more than 10% of the total reagents exposed to the ambient conditions from reacting in a twenty-four hour period.
●
U.S. Patent 8,846,067, issued on September 30, 2014, which encompasses a method of treating a wound or burn on tissue to reduce microbe growth
about a wound comprising applying an antimicrobial composition to the wound or burn on tissue using a proprietary stable iodine gel or liquid. This patent covers our
technology as used in products being developed by our subsidiary, Clyra Medical Technologies.
●

U.S. Patent 8,757,253, issued on June 24, 2014, relating to the moderation of oil extraction waste environments.

●

U.S. Patent 8,734,559, issued on May 27, 2014, relating to the moderation of animal waste environments.

●
U.S. Patent 8,679,515 issued on March 25, 2014, titled “Activated Carbon Associated with Alkaline or Alkali Iodide,” which provides protection for our
BioLargo® AOS filter.
●
U.S. Patent 8,642,057, issued on February 14, 2014, titled “Antimicrobial and Antiodor Solutions and Delivery Systems,” relating to our liquid
antimicrobial solutions, including our gels, sprays and liquids imbedded into wipes and other substrates.
●

U.S. Patent 8,574,610, issued on November 5, 2013, relating to flowable powder compositions, including our cat litter additive.
8
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●
U.S. Patent 8,257,749, issued on September 4, 2012, relating to the use of our technology as protection of against antimicrobial activity in environments
that need to be protected or cleansed of microbial or chemical material. These environments include closed and open environments and absorbent sheet materials that
exhibit stability until activated by aqueous environments. The field also includes novel particle technology, coating technology or micro-encapsulation technology to
control the stability of chemicals that may be used to kill or inhibit the growth of microbes to water vapor or humidity for such applications.
●
U.S. Patent 8,226,964, issued on July 24, 2012, relating to use of our technology as a treatment of residue, deposits or coatings within large liquid
carrying structures such as pipes, drains, ducts, conduits, run-offs, tunnels and the like, using iodine, delivered in a variety of physical forms and methods, including
using its action to physically disrupt coatings. The iodine’s disruptive activity may be combined with other physical removal systems such as pigging, scraping,
tunneling, etching or grooving systems or the like.
●
U.S. Patent 8,021,610, issued on September 20, 2011, titled “System providing antimicrobial activity to an environment,” relating to the reduction of
microbial content in a land mass. Related to this patent are patents held in Canada and the European Union.
●
U.S. Patent 7,943,158, issued on May 17, 2011, titled “Absorbent systems providing antimicrobial activity,” relating to the reduction of microbial
content by providing molecular iodine to stabilized reagents.
●
U.S. Patent 7,867,510, issued on January 11, 2011, titled “Material having antimicrobial activity when wet,” relating to articles for delivering stable
iodine-generating compositions.
Pending Patent Applications
Most recently, we filed two patent applications in the United States for our advanced wound care formulas. The inventions in these applications form the basis
for the work at Clyra Medical and the products for which that subsidiary intends to seek FDA approval. In addition to these applications, we have filed patent
applications in multiple foreign countries, including the European Union, pursuant to the PCT, and other provisional applications.
Subject to adequate financing, we intend to continue to expand and enhance our suite of intellectual property through ongoing focus on product development,
new intellectual property development and patent applications, and further third-party testing and validations for specific areas of focus for commercial exploitation. We
currently anticipate that additional patent applications will be filed during the next 12 months with the USPTO and the PCT, although we are uncertain of the cost of
such patent filings, which will depend upon the number of such applications prepared and filed. The expense associated with seeking patent rights in multiple foreign
countries is expensive and will require substantial ongoing capital resources. However, we cannot give any assurance that adequate capital will be available. Without
adequate capital resources, we will be forced to abandon patent applications and irrevocably lose rights to our technologies.
Our Company
BioLargo, Inc. is a corporation organized under the laws of the state of Delaware. Our common stock is quoted on the OTC Markets OTCQB “Venture
Marketplace” under the trading symbol “BLGO”.
Our corporate offices are located at 14921 Chestnut St., Westminster, California 92683. We have a research facility and offices at the University of Alberta in
Canada, and our engineering team is located at 105 Fordham Road in Oak Ridge, Tennessee. Our telephone number is (888) 400-2863. We operate through multiple
wholly-owned subsidiary entities, including: BioLargo Life Technologies, Inc., to hold our intellectual property; ONM Environmental, Inc., to manufacture, market, sell
and distribute our odor control products; BioLargo Water Investment Group, Inc., which is the sole owner of a Canadian subsidiary, BioLargo Water, Inc., for our
Canadian research and development and AOS commercialization operations; BioLargo Development Corp., through which our employees are employed; and BioLargo
Engineering, Science & Technologies, LLC, our full service engineering firm in Oak Ridge, Tennessee. Additionally, we own 45% of Clyra Medical Technologies, Inc.,
formed to develop and market medical products based on our technology.
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Our principal corporate website is www.BioLargo.com. We also maintain a blog at www.BioLargo.blogspot.com. Websites concerning our subsidiaries are
www.ONMEnvironmental.com, www.CupriDyne.com, www.ClyraMedical.com, www.BioLargoWater.com, and www.BioLargoEngineering.com. The information on our
websites and blog are not, and shall not be deemed to be, a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Executive Officers
As of December 31, 2020, and as the date of this report, our executive officers were:
●

Dennis P. Calvert: Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board

●

Charles K. Dargan II: Chief Financial Officer

●

Joseph L. Provenzano: Corporate Secretary and Vice President of Operations

Our operational subsidiaries are led by:
Subsidiary
ONM Environmental, Inc.
BioLargo Engineering, Science & Technologies, LLC
BioLargo Water, Inc. (Canada)
Clyra Medical Technologies, Inc.

President
Joseph L. Provenzano
Randall Moore
Richard Smith
Steven V. Harrison

Employees
As of December 31, 2020, we had 27 full time employees. Our employees including professional engineers, masters of engineering, and PhDs, as well as sales,
support and administrative personnel. We also utilize consultants and independent contractors on an as-needed basis who provide certain specified services, such as
professional engineers used from time to time by our engineering group in Tennessee.
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ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

Our future results of operations, financial condition and liquidity and the market price for our securities are subject to numerous risks, many of which are driven
by factors that we cannot control. The following cautionary discussion of risks, uncertainties and assumptions relevant to our business includes factors we believe
could cause our actual results to differ materially from expected and historical results. Other factors beyond those listed below, including factors unknown to us and
factors known to us which we have not currently determined to be material, could also adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition,
prospects and cash flows. Also see “Forward-looking Statements” above.
Risks Relating to our Business
COVID-19
The Covid-19 crisis creates an environment in which no person can be certain about what is next. The global reach and impact are far reaching and place
extreme pressure on financing, sales, accounts receivable collection cycles, and any growth plan. We believe the Covid-19 virus crisis may have a delaying effect on our
plans for growth and expansion. We urge the reader to consider our forward-looking statements in light of the extraordinary circumstances of today’s business, social
and economic climate. While our company is mobilizing to be a solutions provider to help inhibit the spread of Covid-19, these business plans are not mature and may
be more difficult that we expect. While it may be reasonable to assume that the crisis will subside, we cannot be certain about the timing and a host of impacts that
cannot be easily predicted to occur.
Our limited operating history makes evaluation of our business difficult.
We have limited and only nominal historical financial data upon which to base planned operating expenses or forecast accurately our future operating results.
Because our operations are not yet sufficient to fund our operational expenses, we rely on investor capital to fund operations. Our limited operational history makes it
difficult to forecast the need for future financing activities. Further, our limited operating history will make it difficult for investors and securities analysts to evaluate our
business and prospects. Our failure to address these risks and difficulties successfully could seriously harm us.
We have never generated significant revenues, have a history of losses, and cannot assure you that we will ever become or remain profitable.
We have not yet generated enough revenue or gross profit from operations to fund our expenses, and, accordingly, we have incurred net losses every year
since our inception. We have funded the majority of our activities through the issuance of convertible debt or equity securities. Although we are devoting more energy
and money to our sales and marketing activities, we continue to anticipate net losses and negative cash flow for the foreseeable future. Our ability to reach positive cash
flow depends on many factors, including our ability to fund sales and marketing activities, and the rate of client adoption. There can be no assurance that our revenues
will be sufficient for us to become profitable in 2021 or future years, or thereafter maintain profitability. We may also face unforeseen problems, difficulties, expenses or
delays in implementing our business plan, including regulatory hurdles.
Our cash requirements are significant. We will continue to require additional financing to sustain our operations and without it we may not be able to continue
operations.
Our cash requirements and expenses continue to be significant. Our net cash used in continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2020, was
$4,154,000, almost $350,000 per month on average. During 2020, we generated $2,432,000 in consolidated gross revenues, about $200,000 per month on average. Thus, in
order to become profitable, we must significantly increase our revenues. Although our revenues are increasing through sales of our products and from our engineering
division, we expect to continue to use cash in 2021 as it becomes available and to continue to sell our securities to fund operations.
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At December 31, 2020, we had working capital deficit of $2,039,000. Our auditor’s report for the year ended December 31, 2020 includes an explanatory
paragraph to their audit opinion stating that our recurring losses from operations and working capital deficiency raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as
a going concern. We do not currently have sufficient financial resources to fund our operations or those of our subsidiaries. Therefore, we need additional financing to
continue these operations.
We have relied on private securities offerings, as well as Lincoln Park Capital (see below), to provide cash needed to close the gap between operational revenue
and expenses. Our ability to rely on private financing may change if the United States enters a recession, if the Dow Industrial Average or Nasdaq composite decline
significantly, if interest rates rise, if real estate declines, or many other factors that impact private investors’ willingness to invest in high-risk companies. Thus, while we
have been able to rely on private investments in the past, we may not be able to do so in the near future.
In the year ended December 31, 2020, we relied on our agreements with Lincoln Park Capital to sell shares and raise capital, as well as other private investors. In
total, received almost $3 million from stock sales. In the year ended December 31, 2020, we issued more than 17 million shares of stock to these investors. In the year
ended December 31, 2019, we had received more than $4 million from the sale of convertible notes, and in the year ended December 31, 2020, we issued more than 30
million shares of stock to convert those notes to equity and fund operations and R&D for the year. These issuances are dilutive to our existing stockholders. We intend
to continue these financing activities, and thus intend to continue to dilute the existing stockholders.
We regularly issue stock, or stock options, instead of cash, to pay some of our operating expenses. These issuances are dilutive to our existing stockholders.
We are party to agreements that provide for the payment of, or permit us to pay at our option, securities rather than cash in consideration for services provided
to us. We include these provisions in agreements to allow us to preserve cash. We anticipate that we will continue to do so in the future. All such issuances preserve
our cash reserves, but are also dilutive to our stockholders because they increase (and will increase in the future) the total number of shares of our common stock issued
and outstanding, even though such arrangements assist us with managing our cash flow. These issuances also increase the expense amount recorded.
Our stockholders face further potential dilution in any new financing.
In the year ended December 31, 2020, we issued almost 60 million shares of our common stock, almost all which was issued for current and past financing
activities that included our retiring debt of almost $5 million plus funding current operating activities and R&D for the year. Our private securities offerings typically
provide for convertible securities, including notes and warrants. Those warrants often include provisions that require investors to pay for the underlying shares with
cash, which if executed would generate working capital for the company. Any additional capital that we raise would dilute the interest of the current stockholders and
any persons who may become stockholders before such financing. Given the price of our common stock, such dilution in any financing of a significant amount could be
substantial.
We may be required to seek stockholder approval to amend our charter to increase our authorized number of shares
We have approximately 230 million common shares outstanding. We have reserved for further issuance almost 100 million shares: 25 million to Lincoln Park, 26
million in our 2018 Equity Plan, 17 million to “non-plan” option holders, and 30 million to warrant holders. As our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes us to issue 400
million shares, we currently have 70 million shares available. If we run out of shares to issue, the Company would be required to secure stockholder approval to amend
the charter and increase the authorized number of shares. If our stockholders do not agree to increase the number of shares our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes
us to issue, we may have to cease further financing activities. If we were forced to do so, we would run out of cash and significantly curtail our operations.
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Our stockholders face further potential adverse effects from the terms of any preferred stock that may be issued in the future.
Our certificate of incorporation authorizes 50 million shares of preferred stock. None are outstanding as of the date hereof. In order to raise capital to meet
expenses or to acquire a business, our board of directors may issue additional stock, including preferred stock. Any preferred stock that we may issue may have voting
rights, liquidation preferences, redemption rights and other rights, preferences and privileges. The rights of the holders of our common stock will be subject to, and in
many respects subordinate to, the rights of the holders of any such preferred stock. Furthermore, such preferred stock may have other rights, including economic rights,
senior to our common stock that could have a material adverse effect on the value of our common stock. Preferred stock, while providing desirable flexibility in
connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, can also have the effect of making it more difficult for a third party to acquire a majority of our
outstanding voting stock, thereby delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company.
Our revenue growth rate may not be indicative of future performance and may slow over time.
Although we have grown rapidly over the last several years, our revenue growth rate may slow over time for a number of reasons, including increasing
competition, market saturation, slowing demand for our products and services, increasing regulatory costs and challenges, the impact of COVID-19, and failure to
capitalize on growth opportunities.
We do not have contracts with customers that require the purchase of a minimum amount of our products.
None of our customers provide us with firm, long-term or short-term volume purchase commitments. As a result, we could have periods during which we have
no or limited orders for our products but will continue to have fixed costs. We may not be able to find new customers in a timely manner if we experience no or limited
purchase orders. Periods of no or limited purchase orders for our products, particularly from one or more of our four largest customers, could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
There are several specific business opportunities we are considering in further development of our business. None of these opportunities is yet the subject of a
definitive agreement, and many of these opportunities will require additional funding obligations on our part, for which funding is not currently in place.
In furtherance of our business plan, we are presently considering a number of opportunities to promote our business, to further develop and broaden, and to
license, our technology with third parties. While discussions are underway with respect to such opportunities, there are no definitive agreements in place with respect
to any of such opportunities at this time. There can be no assurance that any of such opportunities being discussed will result in definitive agreements or, if definitive
agreements are entered into, that they will be on terms that are favorable to us.
Moreover, should any of these opportunities result in definitive agreements being executed or consummated, we may be required to expend additional monies
above and beyond our current operating budget to promote such endeavors. No such financing is in place at this time for such endeavors, and we cannot assure you
that any such financing will be available, or if it is available, whether it will be on terms that are favorable to our company.
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We expect to incur future losses and may not be able to achieve profitability.
Although we are generating revenue from the sale of our products and from providing services, and we expect to generate revenue from new products we are
introducing, and eventually from other license or supply agreements, we anticipate net losses and negative cash flow to continue for the foreseeable future until our
products are expanded in the marketplace and they gain broader acceptance by resellers and customers. Our current level of sales is not sufficient to support the
financial needs of our business. We cannot predict when or if sales volumes will be sufficiently large to cover our operating expenses. We intend to expand our
marketing efforts of our products as financial resources are available, and we intend to continue to expand our research and development efforts. Consequently, we will
need to generate significant additional revenue or seek additional financings to fund our operations. This has put a proportionate corresponding demand on capital. Our
ability to achieve profitability is dependent upon our efforts to deliver a viable product and our ability to successfully bring it to market, which we are currently
pursuing. Although our management is optimistic that we will succeed in licensing our technology, we cannot be certain as to timing or whether we will generate
sufficient revenue to be able to operate profitably. If we cannot achieve or sustain profitability, then we may not be able to fund our expected cash needs or continue our
operations. If we are not able to devote adequate resources to promote commercialization of our technology, then our business plans will suffer and may fail.
Because we have limited resources to devote to sales, marketing and licensing efforts with respect to our technology, any delay in such efforts may jeopardize
future research and development of technologies and commercialization of our technology. Although our management believes that it can finance commercialization
efforts through sales of our securities and possibly other capital sources, if we do not successfully bring our technology to market, our ability to generate revenues will
be adversely affected.
Our internal controls are not effective.
We have determined that our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over financial reporting are currently not effective. The lack of
effective internal controls, has not yet, but could in the future, materially adversely affect our financial condition and ability to carry out our business plan. As more
financial resources come available, we need to invest in additional personnel to better manage the financial reporting processes.
If we are not able to manage our anticipated growth effectively, we may not become profitable.
We anticipate that expansion will continue to be required to address potential market opportunities for our technologies and our products. Our existing
infrastructure is limited. While we believe our current manufacturing processes as well as our office and warehousing provide the basic resources to expand to sales of
more than $2 million per month, our infrastructure will need more staffing to support manufacturing, customer service, administration as well as sales/account executive
functions. There can be no assurance that we will have the financial resources to create new infrastructure, or that any such infrastructure will be sufficiently scalable to
manage future growth, if any. There also can be no assurance that, if we invest in additional infrastructure, we will be effective in expanding our operations or that our
systems, procedures or controls will be adequate to support such expansion. In addition, we will need to provide additional sales and support services to our partners if
we achieve our anticipated growth with respect to the sale of our technology for various applications. Failure to properly manage an increase in customer demands
could result in a material adverse effect on customer satisfaction, our ability to meet our contractual obligations, and our operating results.
Some of the products incorporating our technology will require regulatory approval.
The products in which our technology may be incorporated have both regulated and non-regulated applications. The regulatory approvals for certain
applications may be difficult, impossible, time consuming and/or expensive to obtain. While our management believes such approvals can be obtained for the
applications contemplated, until those approvals from the FDA or the EPA or other regulatory bodies, at the federal and state levels, as may be required are obtained, we
may not be able to generate commercial revenues for regulated products. Certain specific regulated applications and their use require highly technical analysis and
additional third-party validation and will require regulatory approvals from organizations like the FDA. Certain applications may also be subject to additional state and
local agency regulations, increasing the cost and time associated with commercial strategies. Additionally, most products incorporating our technology that may be sold
in the European Union (“EU”) will require EU and possibly also individual country regulatory approval. All such approvals, including additional testing, are timeconsuming, expensive and do not have assured outcomes of ultimate regulatory approval.
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We need to outsource and rely on third parties for the manufacture of the chemicals, material components or delivery apparatus used in our technology, and part of
our future success will be dependent on the timeliness and effectiveness of the efforts of these third parties.
We do not have the required financial and human resources or capability to manufacture the chemicals necessary to make our odor control products. Our
business model calls for the outsourcing of the manufacture of these chemicals in order to reduce our capital and infrastructure costs as a means of potentially
improving our financial position and the profitability of our business. Accordingly, we must enter into agreements with other companies that can assist us and provide
certain capabilities, including sourcing and manufacturing, which we do not possess. We may not be successful in entering into such alliances on favorable terms or at
all. Even if we do succeed in securing such agreements, we may not be able to maintain them. Furthermore, any delay in entering into agreements could delay the
development and commercialization of our technology or reduce its competitiveness even if it reaches the market. Any such delay related to such future agreements
could adversely affect our business. While we have been able to secure materials and supplies like plastic containers through the COVID-19 crisis, we have not
assurances that our ability to purchase in large quantities on a continual basis.
If any party to which we have outsourced certain functions fails to perform its obligations under agreements with us, the commercialization of our technology
could be delayed or curtailed.
To the extent that we rely on other companies to manufacture the chemicals used in our technology, or sell or market products incorporating our technology, we
will be dependent on the timeliness and effectiveness of their efforts. If any of these parties does not perform its obligations in a timely and effective manner, the
commercialization of our technology could be delayed or curtailed because we may not have sufficient financial resources or capabilities to continue such efforts on our
own.
We rely on a small number of key supply ingredients in order to manufacture CupriDyne Clean.
The raw ingredients used to manufacture CupriDyne Clean are readily available from multiple suppliers. However, commodity prices for these ingredients can
vary significantly, and the margins that we are able to generate could decline if prices rise. If our manufacturing costs rise significantly, we may be forced to raise the
prices for our products, which may reduce their acceptance in the marketplace.
If our technology or products incorporating our technology do not gain market acceptance, it is unlikely that we will become profitable.
The potential markets for products into which our technology can be incorporated are rapidly evolving, and we have many successful competitors including
some of the largest and most well-established companies in the world. The commercial success of products incorporating our technology will depend on the adoption of
our technology by commercial and consumer end users in various fields.
Market acceptance may depend on many factors, including:
●

the willingness and ability of consumers and industry partners to adopt new technologies from a company with little or no history in the industry;

●

our ability to convince potential industry partners and consumers that our technology is an attractive alternative to other competing technologies;

●

our ability to license our technology in a commercially effective manner;

●

our ability to continue to fund operations while our products move through the process of gaining acceptance, before the time in which we are able to
scale up production to obtain economies of scale; and
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●

our ability to overcome brand loyalties.

If products incorporating our technology do not achieve a significant level of market acceptance, then demand for our technology itself may not develop as
expected, and, in such event, it is unlikely that we will become profitable.
Any revenues that we may earn in the future are unpredictable, and our operating results are likely to fluctuate from quarter to quarter.
We believe that our future operating results will fluctuate due to a variety of factors, including:
●

delays in product development by us or third parties;

●

market acceptance of products incorporating our technology;

●

changes in the demand for, and pricing of, products incorporating our technology;

●

competition and pricing pressure from competitive products; and

●

expenses related to, and the results of, proceedings relating to our intellectual property.

We expect our operating expenses will continue to fluctuate significantly in 2021 and beyond, as we continue our research and development and increase our
marketing and licensing activities. Although we expect to generate revenues from licensing our technology in the future, revenues may decline or not grow as
anticipated, and our operating results could be substantially harmed for a particular fiscal period. Moreover, our operating results in some quarters may not meet the
expectations of stock market analysts and investors. In that case, our stock price most likely would decline.
Some of our revenue may be dependent on the award of new contracts from the U.S. government, which we do not directly control.
Some of our revenue has been generated from sales to the U.S. Defense Logistics Agency through a bid process in response to request for bids. The timing
and size of requests for bids is unpredictable and outside of our control. The number of other companies competing for these bids is also unpredictable and outside of
our control. In the event of more competition for these awards, we may have to reduce our margins. These variables make it difficult to predict when or if we will sell
more products to the U.S. government, which in turns makes it difficult to stock inventory and purchase raw materials.
We have limited product distribution experience, and we rely in part on third parties who may not successfully sell our products.
We have limited product distribution experience and rely in part on product distribution arrangements with third parties. In our future product offerings, we may
rely solely on third parties for product sales and distribution. We also plan to license our technology to certain third parties for commercialization of certain applications.
We expect to enter into additional distribution agreements and licensing agreements in the future, and we may not be able to enter into these additional agreements on
terms that are favorable to us, if at all. In addition, we may have limited or no control over the distribution activities of these third parties. These third parties could sell
competing products and may devote insufficient sales efforts to our products. As a result, our future revenues from sales of our products, if any, will depend on the
success of the efforts of these third parties.
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We may not be able to attract or retain qualified senior personnel.
We believe we are currently able to manage our current business with our existing management team. However, as we expand the scope of our operations, we
will need to obtain the full-time services of additional senior management and other personnel. Competition for highly-skilled personnel is intense, and there can be no
assurance that we will be able to attract or retain qualified senior personnel. Our failure to do so could have an adverse effect on our ability to implement our business
plan. As we add full-time senior personnel, our overhead expenses for salaries and related items will increase from current levels and, depending upon the number of
personnel we hire and their compensation packages, these increases could be substantial.
If we lose our key personnel or are unable to attract and retain additional personnel, we may be unable to achieve profitability.
Our future success is substantially dependent on the efforts of our senior management, particularly Dennis P. Calvert, our president and chief executive officer.
The loss of the services of Mr. Calvert or other members of our senior management may significantly delay or prevent the achievement of product development and
other business objectives. Because of the scientific nature of our business, we depend substantially on our ability to attract and retain qualified marketing, scientific and
technical personnel. There is intense competition among specialized and technologically-oriented companies for qualified personnel in the areas of our activities. If we
lose the services of, or do not successfully recruit, key marketing, scientific and technical personnel, then the growth of our business could be substantially impaired. At
present, we do not maintain key man insurance for any of our senior management, although management is evaluating the potential of securing this type of insurance in
the future as may be available.
Nondisclosure agreements with employees and others may not adequately prevent disclosure of trade secrets and other proprietary information.
In order to protect our proprietary technology and processes, we rely in part on nondisclosure agreements with our employees, potential licensing partners,
potential manufacturing partners, testing facilities, universities, consultants, agents and other organizations to which we disclose our proprietary information. These
agreements may not effectively prevent disclosure of confidential information and may not provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of
confidential information. In addition, others may independently discover trade secrets and proprietary information, and in such cases we could not assert any trade
secret rights against such parties. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and determine the scope of our proprietary rights, and failure to
obtain or maintain trade secret protection could adversely affect our competitive business position. Since we rely on trade secrets and nondisclosure agreements, in
addition to patents, to protect some of our intellectual property, there is a risk that third parties may obtain and improperly utilize our proprietary information to our
competitive disadvantage. We may not be able to detect unauthorized use or take appropriate and timely steps to enforce our intellectual property rights.
We may become subject to product liability claims.
As a business that manufactures and markets products for use by consumers and institutions, we may become liable for any damage caused by our products,
whether used in the manner intended or not. Any such claim of liability, whether meritorious or not, could be time-consuming and/or result in costly litigation. Although
we maintain general liability insurance, our insurance may not cover potential claims of the types described above and may not be adequate to indemnify for all liabilities
that may be imposed. Any imposition of liability that is not covered by insurance or is in excess of insurance coverage could harm our business and operating results,
and you may lose some or all of any investment you have made, or may make, in our company.
Litigation or the actions of regulatory authorities may harm our business or otherwise distract our management.
Substantial, complex or extended litigation could cause us to incur major expenditures and distract our management. For example, lawsuits by employees, former
employees, investors, stockholders, partners, customers or others, or actions taken by regulatory authorities, could be very costly and substantially disrupt our
business. As a result of our financing activities over time, and by virtue of the number of people that have invested in our company, we face increased risk of lawsuits
from investors. Such lawsuits or actions could from time to time be filed against our company and/or our executive officers and directors. Such lawsuits and actions are
not uncommon, and we cannot assure you that we will always be able to resolve such disputes or actions on terms favorable to our company.
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If we suffer negative publicity concerning the safety or efficacy of our products, our sales may be harmed.
If concerns should arise about the safety or efficacy of any of our products that are marketed, regardless of whether or not such concerns have a basis in
generally accepted science or peer-reviewed scientific research, such concerns could adversely affect the market for those products. Similarly, negative publicity could
result in an increased number of product liability claims, whether or not those claims are supported by applicable law.
The licensing of our technology or the manufacture, use or sale of products incorporating our technology may infringe on the patent rights of others, and we may
be forced to litigate if an intellectual property dispute arises.
If we infringe or are alleged to have infringed another party’s patent rights, we may be required to seek a license, defend an infringement action or challenge the
validity of the patents in court. Patent litigation is costly and time consuming. We may not have sufficient resources to bring these actions to a successful conclusion.
In addition, if we do not obtain a license, do not successfully defend an infringement action or are unable to have infringed patents declared invalid, we may:
●

incur substantial monetary damages;

●

encounter significant delays in marketing our current and proposed product candidates;

●

be unable to conduct or participate in the manufacture, use or sale of product candidates or methods of treatment requiring licenses;

●

lose patent protection for our inventions and products; or

●

find our patents are unenforceable, invalid or have a reduced scope of protection

Parties making such claims may be able to obtain injunctive relief that could effectively block our company’s ability to further develop or commercialize our
current and proposed product candidates in the United States and abroad and could result in the award of substantial damages. Defense of any lawsuit or failure to
obtain any such license could substantially harm our company. Litigation, regardless of outcome, could result in substantial cost to, and a diversion of efforts by, our
company.
Our patents are expensive to maintain, our patent applications are expensive to prosecute, and thus we are unable to file for patent protection in many countries.
Our ability to compete effectively will depend in part on our ability to develop and maintain proprietary aspects of our technology and either to operate without
infringing the proprietary rights of others or to obtain rights to technology owned by third parties. Pending patent applications relating to our technology may not result
in the issuance of any patents or any issued patents that will offer protection against competitors with similar technology. We must employ patent attorneys to
prosecute our patent applications both in the United States and internationally. International patent protection requires the retention of patent counsel and the payment
of patent application fees in each foreign country in which we desire patent protection, on or before filing deadlines set forth by the International Patent Cooperation
Treaty (“PCT”). We therefore choose to file patent applications only in foreign countries where we believe the commercial opportunities require it, considering our
available financial resources and the needs for our technology. This has resulted, and will continue to result, in the irrevocable loss of patent rights in all but a few
foreign jurisdictions.
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Patents we receive may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented in the future, or the rights created by those patents may not provide a competitive
advantage. We also rely on trade secrets, technical know-how and continuing invention to develop and maintain our competitive position. Others may independently
develop substantially equivalent proprietary information and techniques or otherwise gain access to our trade secrets.
We are subject to risks related to future business outside of the United States.
Over time, we may develop business relationships outside of North America, and as those efforts are pursued, we will face risks related to those relationships
such as:
●

foreign currency fluctuations;

●

unstable political, economic, financial and market conditions;

●

import and export license requirements;

●

trade restrictions;

●

increases in tariffs and taxes;

●

high levels of inflation;

●

restrictions on repatriating foreign profits back to the United States;

●

greater difficulty collecting accounts receivable and longer payment cycles;

●

less favorable intellectual property laws, and the lack of intellectual property legal protection;

●

regulatory requirements;

●

unfamiliarity with foreign laws and regulations; and

●

changes in labor conditions and difficulties in staffing and managing international operations.

The volatility of certain raw material costs may adversely affect operations and competitive price advantages for products that incorporate our technology.
Most of the chemicals and other key materials that we use in our business, such as minerals, fiber materials and packaging materials, are neither generally
scarce nor price sensitive, but prices for such chemicals and materials can be cyclical. Supply and demand factors, which are beyond our control, generally affect the
price of our raw materials. We try to minimize the effect of price increases through production efficiency and the use of alternative suppliers, but these efforts are limited
by the size of our operations. If we are unable to minimize the effects of increased raw material costs, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows may be materially adversely affected.
Certain of our products sales historically have been highly impacted by fluctuations in seasons and weather.
Industrial odor control products have proven highly effective in controlling volatile organic compounds that are released as vapors produced by decomposing
waste material. Such vapors are produced with the highest degree of intensity in temperatures between 40 degrees Fahrenheit (5 degrees Celsius) and 140 degrees
Fahrenheit (60 degrees Celsius). When weather patterns are cold or in times of precipitation, our clients are less prone to use our odor control products, presumably
because such vapors are less noticeable or, in the case of precipitation, can be washed away or altered. This leads to unpredictability in use and sales patterns for,
especially, our CupriDyne Clean product line which accounts for over one-half our total sales.
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The cost of maintaining our public company reporting obligations is high.
We are obligated to maintain our periodic public filings and public reporting requirements, on a timely basis, under the rules and regulations of the SEC. In
order to meet these obligations, we will need to continue to raise capital. If adequate funds are not available, we will be unable to comply with those requirements and
could cease to be qualified to have our stock traded in the public market. As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses. In addition,
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as related rules adopted by the SEC, has imposed substantial requirements on public companies, including certain corporate
governance practices and requirements relating to internal control over financial reporting under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
Business disruptions could seriously harm our future revenue and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses.
Our operations, and those of our contractors and consultants, could be subject to pandemics, earthquakes, power shortages, telecommunications failures,
water shortages, floods, hurricanes, typhoons, fires, extreme weather conditions, medical epidemics, acts of terrorism, acts of war and other natural or man-made
disasters or business interruptions, for which we are predominantly self-insured. The occurrence of any of these business disruptions could seriously harm our
operations and financial condition and increase our costs and expenses. We rely in part on third-party manufacturers to produce and process our products or the raw
materials used to make our products. Our ability to obtain supplies of our products or raw materials could be disrupted if the operations of these suppliers are affected
by a man-made or natural disaster, pandemics, epidemics, or other business interruption, including the recent novel strain of coronavirus (SARS‑CoV‑2 aka COVID-19)
that originally surfaced in Wuhan, China in December 2019. The extent to which COVID‑19 impacts our business will depend on future developments, which are highly
uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information which may emerge concerning the severity of COVID‑19 and the actions to contain 2 or treat its impact,
among others. Our corporate headquarters and offices of ONM are in Southern California near major earthquake faults and fire zones. Our operations and financial
condition could suffer in the event of a major earthquake, fire or other natural disaster.
The COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic is ongoing and may result in significant disruptions to our clients and/or supply chain which could have a material adverse
effect on our business and revenues.
The COVID-19 pandemic is still ongoing as of the date of this report, is still evolving and much of its impact remains unknown. It is impossible to predict the
impact it may have on the development of our business and on our revenues in 2021.
Our corporate headquarters and offices of our ONM Environmental division are in Southern California. On March 19, 2020, California’s Governor issued an
executive order that all residents of the State must stay at home indefinitely except as needed to maintain “essential critical infrastructure”. Varying forms of this initial
order were in place as of December 31, 2020, and are expected to remain in place for the foreseeable future. COVID cases are currently increasing in certain European
countries, and that may foretell an additional surge of cases in the United States or in California in the next months. As a result of the initial stay-at-home order, and
subsequent restrictions, many businesses have closed and many people are out of work. Although many of our clients are included in the definitions of “essential
critical infrastructure”, such as wastewater treatment plants and refuse collection infrastructure, these restrictions have affected our clients’ willingness to purchase our
products and services, and adversely affected our revenues in 2020 at various times, and may continue to do so.
The severity of the coronavirus pandemic could also make access to our existing supply chain difficult or impossible by delaying the delivery of key raw
materials used in our product candidates and therefore delay the delivery of our products. Any of these results could materially impact our business and have an
adverse effect on our business.
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A recession in the United States may affect our business.
If the U.S. economy were to contract into a recession or depression, our existing clients, and potential future clients, may divert their resources to other goods
and services, and our business may suffer.

Risks Relating to our Common Stock
The sale or issuance of our common stock to Lincoln Park may cause dilution, and the sale of the shares of common stock acquired by Lincoln Park, or the
perception that such sales may occur, could cause the price of our common stock to fall.
On March 30, 2020, we entered into a Purchase Agreement with Lincoln Park, pursuant to which Lincoln Park agreed to purchase from us at our request up to
an aggregate of $10,250,000 of our common stock (subject to certain limitations) from time to time over a period of three years, noted above in our Risks Related to our
Business. We generally have the right to control the timing and amount of any sales of our shares to Lincoln Park. Sales of our common stock, if any, to Lincoln Park will
depend on market conditions and other factors to be determined by us. We may ultimately decide to sell to Lincoln Park all, some or none of the shares of our common
stock that may be available for us to sell pursuant to the LPC Agreement. If and when we do sell shares to Lincoln Park, after Lincoln Park has acquired the shares,
Lincoln Park may resell all, some or none of those shares at any time or from time to time in its discretion. Therefore, sales to Lincoln Park by us could result in
substantial dilution to the interests of other holders of our common stock, as well as sales of our stock by Lincoln Park into the open market causing reductions in the
price of our common stock. Additionally, the sale of a substantial number of shares of our common stock to Lincoln Park, or the anticipation of such sales, could make it
more difficult for us to sell equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and at a price that we might otherwise desire to effect sales.
Our common stock is thinly traded and largely illiquid.
Our stock is currently quoted on the OTC Markets (OTCQB). Being quoted on the OTCQB has made it more difficult to buy or sell our stock and from time to
time has led to a significant decline in the frequency of trades and trading volume. Continued trading on the OTCQB will also likely adversely affect our ability to obtain
financing in the future due to the decreased liquidity of our shares and other restrictions that certain investors have for investing in OTCQB traded securities. While we
intend to seek listing on the Nasdaq Stock Market (“Nasdaq”) or another national stock exchange when our company is eligible, there can be no assurance when or if
our common stock will be listed on Nasdaq or another national stock exchange.
The market price of our stock is subject to volatility.
Our stock price has been and is likely to continue to be volatile. As a result of this volatility, investors may not be able to sell their common stock at or above
their purchase price. The market price of our common stock and warrants may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our
control, including:
●

Because our stock is thinly traded, its price can change dramatically over short periods, even in a single day. An investment in our stock is subject to
such volatility and, consequently, is subject to significant risk. The market price of our common stock could fluctuate widely in response to many
factors, including:

●

developments with respect to patents or proprietary rights;

●

announcements of technological innovations by us or our competitors;

●

announcements of new products or new contracts by us or our competitors;
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●

actual or anticipated variations in our operating results due to the level of development expenses and other factors;

●

changes in financial estimates by securities analysts and whether any future earnings of ours meet or exceed such estimates;

●

conditions and trends in our industry;

●

new accounting standards;

●

the size of our public float;

●

short sales, hedging, and other derivative transactions involving our common stock;

●

sales of large blocks of our common stock including sales by our executive officers, directors, and significant stockholders, including Lincoln Park;

●

general economic, political and market conditions and other factors; and

●

the occurrence of any of the risks described herein.

You may have difficulty selling our shares because they are deemed a “penny stock”.
Because our common stock is not quoted or listed on a national securities exchange, if the trading price of our common stock remains below $5.00 per share,
which we expect for the foreseeable future, trading in our common stock will be subject to the requirements of certain rules promulgated under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), which require additional disclosure by broker-dealers in connection with any trades involving a stock defined as a penny
stock (generally, any non-Nasdaq equity security that has a market price of less than $5.00 per share, subject to certain exceptions). Such rules require the delivery,
before any penny stock transaction, of a disclosure schedule explaining the penny stock market and the risks associated therewith and impose various sales practice
requirements on broker-dealers who sell penny stocks to persons other than established customers and accredited investors (generally defined as an investor with a net
worth in excess of $1,000,000 or annual income exceeding $200,000 individually or $300,000 together with a spouse). For these types of transactions, the broker-dealer
must make a special suitability determination for the purchaser and have received the purchaser’s written consent to the transaction before the sale. The broker-dealer
also must disclose the commissions payable to the broker-dealer and current bid and offer quotations for the penny stock and, if the broker-dealer is the sole marketmaker, the broker-dealer must disclose this fact and the broker-dealer’s presumed control over the market. Such information must be provided to the customer orally or in
writing before or with the written confirmation of trade sent to the customer. Monthly statements must be sent disclosing recent price information for the penny stock
held in the account and information on the limited market in penny stocks. The additional burdens imposed on broker-dealers by such requirements could discourage
broker-dealers from effecting transactions in our common stock, which could severely limit the market liquidity of our common stock and the ability of holders of our
common stock to sell their shares.
Because our shares are deemed a “penny stock,” rules enacted by FINRA make it difficult to sell previously restricted stock.
Rules put in place by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA) require broker-dealers to perform due diligence before depositing unrestricted
common shares of penny stocks, and as such, some broker-dealers, including many large national firms (such as eTrade and Charles Schwab), are refusing to deposit
previously restricted common shares of penny stocks. We routinely issued non-registered restricted common shares to investors, vendors and consultants. The
issuance of such shares is subjected to the FINRA-enacted rules. As such, it can be difficult for holders of restricted stock, including those issued in our private
securities offerings, to deposit the shares with broker-dealers and sell those shares on the open market.
Because we will not pay dividends in the foreseeable future, stockholders will only benefit from owning common stock if it appreciates.
We have never declared or paid a cash dividend to stockholders. We intend to retain any earnings that may be generated in the future to finance operations.
Accordingly, any potential investor who anticipates the need for current dividends from his investment should not purchase our common stock, and must rely on the
benefit of owning shares, and presumably a rise in share price. We cannot predict the future price of our stock, and due to the factors enumerated herein, can make no
assurance of a future increase in the price of our common stock.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Our company owns no real property. We currently lease approximately 9,000 square feet of office and industrial space at 14921 Chestnut Street, Westminster,
California. In addition to serving as our principal offices, it is also a manufacturing facility where we manufacture our products, including our CupriDyne Clean Industrial
Odor control product, and the home of our subsidiary ONM Environmental.
We also lease approximately 13,000 square feet of office and warehouse space at 105 Fordham Road, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, for our professional engineering
division, BioLargo Engineering, Science & Technologies, LLC.
We also lease approximately 1,500 square feet of office and lab space from the University of Alberta. These offices serve as our primary research and
development facilities and is the home of our subsidiary, BioLargo Water.
Our telephone number is (888) 400-2863.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Our company is not a party to any legal proceeding.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASE OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information
Since January 23, 2008, our common stock has been quoted on the OTC Markets “OTCQB” marketplace (formerly known as the “OTC Bulletin Board”) under
the trading symbol “BLGO”.
The table below represents the quarterly high and low closing prices of our common stock for the last two fiscal years as reported by Yahoo Finance.
2020
High
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$
$
$
$

2019
Low

0.29
0.20
0.22
0.16

$
$
$
$

High
0.12
0.14
0.15
0.12

$
$
$
$

Low
0.27
0.31
0.38
0.36

$
$
$
$

0.16
0.16
0.22
0.22

The closing bid price for our common stock on March 24, 2021, was $0.227 per share. As of such date, there were approximately 650 registered owners of
approximately 125,000,000 shares of our common stock, and approximately 4,000 non-objecting beneficial owners of approximately 114,000,000 shares.
Dividends
We have never declared or paid a cash dividend to stockholders. We intend to retain any earnings which may be generated in the future to finance operations.
Securities Authorized for Issuance Pursuant to Equity Compensation Plans
Equity Compensation Plan Information as of December 31, 2020
Plan Category

Equity compensation
plans approved by
security holders
Equity compensation
plans not approved by
security holders(2)
Total

Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights
(a)

Weighted average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights
(b)

Number of securities
remaining available for
future issuance
(c)

24,554,888(1)

$0.29

25,134,475

20,749,583

$0.40

n/a

45,304,471

$0.34

25,134,475

(1) Includes 5,689,363 shares issuable under the 2007 Equity Plan. The 2007 Equity Plan expired September 6, 2017, and 18,865,525 shares issuable under the 2018 Equity
Incentive Plan adopted by the Board on March 7, 2018 and subsequently approved by stockholders on May 23, 2018.
(2) This includes various issuances to specific individuals either as a conversion of un-paid obligations pursuant to a plan adopted by our board of directors, or as part
of their agreement for services.
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Sales of Unregistered Securities
The following is a report of the sales of unregistered securities in the past two years not previously reported in a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or in a Current
Report on Form 8-K.
On December 31, 2020, we issued 150,000 shares of our common stock to a vendor to reduce amounts owed to the vendor in the aggregate amount of $18,000.
All of these offerings and sales were made in reliance on the exemption from registration contained in Section 4(2) of the Securities Exchange Act and/or
Regulation D promulgated thereunder as not involving a public offering of securities.
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Not applicable
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes to the
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report.
This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Such statements, which include statements concerning future
revenue sources and concentration, selling, general and administrative expenses, research and development expenses, capital resources, additional financings and
additional losses, are subject to risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, those discussed above in Part I, Item 1 and elsewhere in this Annual Report,
particularly in “Risk Factors,” that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected. The forward-looking statements set forth in this Annual Report are
as of December 31, 2020 unless expressly stated otherwise, and we undertake no duty to update this information.
Recent Events
The COVID-19 pandemic is currently impacting countries, communities, supply chains and markets as well as the global financial markets. Governments have
imposed laws requiring social distancing, travel bans and quarantine, and these laws may limit access to our facilities, customers, management, support staff and
professional advisors. These factors, in turn, may not only impact our operations, financial condition and demand for our goods and services, but our overall ability to
react timely to mitigate the impact of this event. Also, it may hamper our efforts to comply with our filing obligations with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Depending on the severity and longevity of the COVID-19 pandemic, our business, customers, and stockholders may experience a significant negative impact.
Results of Operations—Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
We operate our business in distinct business segments:
●

ONM Environmental, which manufactures and sells our odor and VOC control products and services, including our flagship product, CupriDyne
Clean;

●

BLEST, our professional engineering services division supporting our internal business units, advancing innovations like the AEC to remove PFAS
contaminants from water, and serving outside clients on a fee for service basis;
25

Table of Contents
●

Clyra Medical, our partially owned subsidiary which develops and sells medical products based on our technology; and

●

BioLargo Water, our Canadian division that has been historically pure research and development, and is now transitioning to focus on commercializing
our AOS system and supporting the work to advance CupriDyne technology-based products through an EPA registration;

●

Our corporate operations, which support the operating segments with legal, accounting, human resources, and other services.

Consolidated revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $2,432,000, which is a 31% increase over the same period in 2019. Sales at our operating
divisions decreased upon the initial shutdowns in late March due to the COVID-19 pandemic, but have since rebounded. Our product revenue includes sales of our
CupriDyne Clean industrial odor control product, Clyraguard Personal Protection Spray, and hand sanitizers. While we expect revenues to continue to increase, given
the considerable extended time of the COVID-19 pandemic, we cannot be certain.
ONM Environmental (formerly, Odor-No-More)
Our wholly-owned subsidiary ONM Environmental generates revenues through sales of our flagship product CupriDyne Clean, by providing design,
installation, and maintenance services on the systems that deliver CupriDyne Clean at its clients’ facilities, and through sales of odor absorption products to the U.S.
Government. During 2020, ONM Environmental added two employees to focus on business development, increasing sales and increased levels of construction and
maintenance contracts.
Revenue (ONM)
ONM’s revenues for the year ended December 31, 2020, were $1,554,000, an increase of $95,000 or 7% from the same period in 2019. Sales on a quarter-toquarter basis had been increasing until the COVID-19 pandemic shut down businesses across the country, and have since rebounded. ONM’s fourth quarter revenue
were approximately $617,000, an increase of 74% over the prior quarter due to the installation of large custom CupriDyne Clean misting systems. Of its gross sales in
2020, approximately two-thirds were to the waste handling industry.
Cost of Goods Sold (ONM)
ONM’s cost of goods sold includes costs of raw materials, contract manufacturing, and portions of depreciation, salaries and expenses related to the
manufacturing and installation of its products. As a percentage of revenue, ONM’s costs of goods improved 2% in 2020 to 41%. The slight decrease in cost of goods is
due to increase sales of higher-margin products and services, and an increase in product prices.
Selling, General and Administrative Expense (ONM)
ONM’s selling, general and administrative expenses increased by 22% to $1,418,000 during the year ended December 31, 2020. These expenses have increased
alongside its efforts to increase revenues by hiring additional sales and support staff. We expect these expenses to remain consistent in 2021 unless and until its
revenues increase.
Net Loss (ONM)
ONM generated $1,554,000 in revenue, a gross margin of $925,000, and had total costs and expenses of $1,408,000, resulting in a net loss of $483,000, compared
with $337,000 in 2019. To increase its revenues, ONM had continued to invest in expanding its sales and operations, resulting in a continuing loss from operations, up
and until the COVID-19 crisis occurred, but is now focused primarily on developing distribution and strategic alliances as it seeks to expand sales with existing staff.
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BLEST (engineering division)
Revenue (BLEST)
Our engineering segment (BLEST) generated $615,000 of revenue in 2020, compared to $401,000 in 2019. The increase is due to an increased number of client
contracts, including those as a subcontractor for Bhate pursuant to which BLEST is providing services to U.S. Air Force bases.
In addition to providing service to third party clients, BLEST provides services to BioLargo and its subsidiaries for internal BioLargo projects. These services
are billed internally, considered intersegment revenue, and is therefore eliminated in consolidation. In the year ended December 31, 2020, it totaled $435,000, primarily
used to further engineer and develop our flagship AOS water filtration system and our AEC PFAS treatment system. In addition, BLEST engineers are performing a
critical role in the AOS pilot projects, some of which are supported by third-party research grants and has been instrumental in developing and supporting a
professional engineered design service for misting systems being sold by our ONM operating unit.
Cost of Goods (Services) Sold (BLEST)
BLEST’s cost of services includes employee labor as well as subcontracted labor costs. In 2020, its cost of services were 77% of its revenues, versus 80% in
2019. This decrease is due to contracts with better margins. We expect the cost of services to remain consistent in 2021 based on the contracts currently in progress.
Selling, General and Administrative Expense (BLEST)
BLEST’S SG&A expenses were $413,000 in 2020, compared to $478,000 in 2019. We expect these expenses to remain flat in 2020, as the staff required to increase
service to its clients and revenues will be included in cost of services.
Net Loss (BLEST)
BLEST generated $615,000 in revenue from third parties, a gross margin of $145,000, and had total costs and expenses of $764,000, resulting in a net loss of
$619,000, compared with a net loss of $749,000 in 2019.
BLEST provides substantial support to BioLargo’s other operations, including BioLargo Water and Odor-No-More. While we are unable to record revenues
generated from services by the engineering group to other BioLargo operating divisions for important project such as the development of the AOS and AEC
technologies, it is important to note that its net loss would be eliminated if it were selling these services to a third party at fair market value.
Because the subsidiary had a net loss, we invested cash during the year to allow it to maintain operations. BLEST’s need for a cash subsidy to support its
operations has decreased over time. We expect that in 2021 its sales and thus its gross profit will continue to increase. Our goal for this operation is that it produces a
profit and contributes to corporate overhead in a significant way, although predicting when that will happen given the COVID-19 pandemic and other uncertainties in
the market, and our limited resources, is difficult.
Other Income
Our wholly owned Canadian subsidiary has been awarded more than 80 research grants over the years from various Canadian public and private agencies,
including the Canadian National Research Institute – Industrial Research Assistance Program (NRC-IRAP), the National Science and Engineering Research Council of
Canada (NSERC), and the Metropolitan Water District of Southern California’s Innovative Conservation Program “ICP”. The research grants received are considered
reimbursement grants related to costs we incur and therefore are included as Other Income. The amount of grant income decreased $81,000 in 2020 to $137,000. We
continued to win grants and it is important to note that amounts paid directly to third parties are not included as income in our financial statements.
Our Canadian subsidiary applied for and received a refund on our income taxes pursuant to the “Scientific Research and Experimental Development (SR&ED)
Program”, a Canadian federal tax incentive program designed to encourage Canadian businesses to conduct research and development in Canada. For the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, we received a refund of $99,000 and $63,000.
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Although we are continuing to apply for government and industry grants, and indications from the various grant agencies is highly encouraging, we cannot be
certain of continuing those successes in the future. We are very active in both the US and Canada, pursuing grant support for various uses of our products that we
believe can help in managing the COVID-19 crisis.
Selling, General and Administrative Expense – consolidated
Our Selling, General and Administrative expense (“SG&A”) include both cash (for example, salaries to employees) and non-cash expenses (for example, stock
option compensation expense). Our consolidated SG&A increased in the aggregate by 22% ($1,333,000) in the year ended December 31, 2020 to $7,473,000. Our non-cash
expenses (through the issuance of stock and stock options) increased in 2020 compared with 2019 ($3,125,000 compared to $2,232,000) because of options issued for
Clyra Medical expenses increased and to option issuances to our employees, vendors and consultants resulted in a greater number of stock and stock options in lieu of
cash owed. The largest components of our SG&A expenses included (in thousands):
Year ended
December 31, 2020
$
2,855
859
1,624
1,207
259
494
175

Salaries and payroll related
Professional fees
Consulting
Office expense
Board of director expense
Sales and marketing
Investor relations

Year ended
December 31, 2019
$
2,186
809
1,278
1,124
300
262
181

Our salaries and payroll-related and office-related expenses increased in 2020 due to increased sales personnel at ONM Environmental. Consulting expense
increased due primarily to new sales activity at Clyra Medical requiring the supporting infrastructure. There was a slight increase in professional fees and sales and
marketing as Biolargo increased its sales and business development efforts in its subsidiaries.
Research and Development
In the year ended December 31, 2020, we spent approximately $1,338,000 in the research and development of our technologies and products. This was a
decrease of 9% ($134,000) compared to 2019, primarily due to a change in focus from pure research activities to commercializing our technologies and inventions,
including the AOS and AEC water treatment systems. We incurred approximately $1,300,000 in expense related to our research and development activities in 2020, a
decrease of approximately $150,000 compared with the prior year. We increased research and development to develop products in response to the COVID-19 pandemic,
and decreased in other areas as our water treatment technologies have neared commercialization.
Interest expense
Our interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $1,923,000, a decrease of 52% compared with 2019. The significant decrease in interest expense
is related to the significant decrease of our debt obligations and debt issued during 2020 versus 2019. Of our total interest expense in 2020, $118,000 was paid in cash,
and the remainder, $1,805,000, was paid by issuing shares of our common stock. Our non-cash interest related expenses were comprised primarily as follows: (i)
$1,618,000 non-cash debt discounts related to warrants issued in conjunction with debt instruments being amortized over the life of the debt instrument (in 2019, it was
$3,376,000), and (ii) $184,000 related to interest on debt instruments converted to common stock.
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Our outstanding debt as of December 31, 2020 was lower than as of December 31, 2019, and thus we expect our interest expense in 2021 to be less than that in
2020, provided we do not issue more debt with attached warrants during the remainder of the year. Additionally, we record the relative fair value of the warrants and the
intrinsic value of the beneficial conversion feature sold with the convertible notes payable which typically results in a full discount on the proceeds from the convertible
notes. This discount is amortized as interest expense over the term of the convertible notes. We expect our interest expense to decrease in 2021 because total amount we
amortize (the line item on our balance sheet “Discount on convertible notes payable and line of credit, net of amortization”) decreased by $1,550,000 in 2020 – from
$1,654,000 at December 31, 2019, to $104,000 at December 31, 2020. We also are currently selling units of common stock and warrants instead of using convertible debt
for financing our working capital needs, which if continued, will continue to reduce our ongoing interest expense as compared with prior years.
Net Loss
Net loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $9,700,000 a loss of $0.05 per share, compared to a net loss for the year ended December 31, 2019 of
$11,440,000 a loss of $0.08 per share. Our net loss this year declined because of an increase in revenue and a reduction in interest expense.
The net loss per business segment is as follows (in thousands):
Net loss

Year ended
Year ended
December 31, 2020
December 31, 2019
$
(483) $
(337)
(619)
(749)
(2,139)
(1,283)
(466)
(447)
(5,993)
(8,624)
$
(9,700) $
(11,440)

ONM Environmental
BLEST
Clyra Medical
BioLargo Water
BioLargo corporate
Consolidated net loss

It is important to note that over half of our net loss is due to non-cash expenses, such as interest and stock/stock options issued to employees and vendors in
lieu of cash. Of the net loss of $9,700,000, interest expense was $1,923,000, of which $1,805,000 was non-cash expense. Additionally, we recorded $2,459,000 of stock
option compensation expense, an additional $666,000 of services were paid by the issuance of our common stock and we recorded $442,000 loss on extinguishment of
debt. The total of these non-cash items account for $5,372,000 of the consolidated loss of $9,700,000. Assuming they continue to expand sales, we believe that ONM
and BLEST (engineering) can achieve positive cash flow from operations at some point in the future, although predicting when that will happen given the COVID-19
pandemic and other uncertainties in the market, and our limited resources, is difficult. As we are still in the early stages of commercialization of our products, and intend
to invest substantial resources into launching the AOS and AEC water treatment systems, we expect to continue to incur a net loss for the foreseeable future.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the
settlement of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of our business. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we had a net loss of $9,700,000, used $4,154,000
cash in operations, and at December 31, 2020, we had a working capital deficit of $2,039,000, and current assets of $1,505,000. We do not believe gross profits in 2021 will
be sufficient to fund our current level of operations or pay our debts as they become due during the next 12 months, and therefore we will have to obtain further
investment capital to continue to fund operations and seek to refinance our existing debt. We have been, and anticipate that we will continue to be, limited in terms of
our capital resources.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, we generated revenues of $2,432,000 through our subsidiaries. (See Note 12.) Our segments did not individually or in
the aggregate generate enough revenues or gross profits to fund their operations, or fund our corporate operations or other business segments. Thus, to operate
throughout 2020, we continued to sell securities to raise cash (see Notes 3 and 10), and were able to borrow money through programs administered by the Small
Business Administration.
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As of December 31, 2020, our cash and cash equivalents totaled $716,000, and our total liabilities included $1,006,000 in debt that is convertible at the option of
the debtholders, $100,000 of debt that we may convert to equity at the April 2021 maturity date, $100,000 notes due on demand, $224,000 owed by our partially owned
subsidiary Clyra Medical Technologies, Inc. (“Clyra”) due in June 2021, and $1,007,000 owed by Clyra that must be paid out of operational cash (see Note 4 and 10), with
a maturity date that automatically extends each June. Since December 30, 2020, we have received over $2 million in proceeds from stock sales to Lincoln Park (see Note
3), and paid off $650,000 in debt (see also Note 14). We have two promissory notes due in August, 2021, (see Note 4, “Notes payable, mature August 12 and 16, 2021”),
each of which may be converted by the holder into equity at $0.14 per share. If the holders do not voluntarily convert the notes to equity, we intend to pay the notes
with cash raised through sales of stock to Lincoln Park, although there is no guarantee that we will be able to do so. The proceeds we receive from stock sales to Lincoln
Park is a function of stock price and volume – a lower stock price and less trading volume results in less money we can receive from Lincoln Park. Our agreement with
Lincoln Park precludes us from selling shares to Lincoln Park on a daily basis if our stock price falls below $0.10 per share. If we are unable to make daily sales, it is not
likely we will be able to sell enough shares to Lincoln Park to pay the debt due in August, 2021. In such event, we intend to negotiate for a delay in repayment with the
holders of the notes.
If we are unable to rely on our current arrangement with Lincoln Park to fund our working capital requirements, we will have to rely on other forms of financing,
and there is no assurance that we will be able to do so, or if we do so, it will be on favorable terms.
To reduce our operational cash burdens, we regularly issue officers and vendors stock or options in lieu of cash, and anticipate that we will continue to be able
to do so in the future. In the year ended December 31, 2020, our CEO and CSO accepted stock in lieu of $300,000 in unpaid salary and business expenses. Each has
indicated a willingness to do so in the future.
The foregoing factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern, unless we are able to continue to raise funds through stock
sales to Lincoln Park or other private financings, and in the long term, our ability to attain a reasonable threshold of operating efficiencies and achieve profitable
operations by licensing or otherwise commercializing products incorporating our technologies. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments
that might be necessary if we are unable to continue as a going concern.
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the
settlement of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of our business. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we had a net loss of $9,700,000, used $4,154,000
cash in operations, and at December 31, 2020, had a working capital deficit of $2,039,000, and current assets of $1,505,000.
We operate our business in five distinct business segments. Each of these segments obtains cash to fund operations in unique ways. ONM and BLEST
generate cash by selling products and services. Clyra Medical obtains cash from revenues, and third party investments of sales of its common stock. BioLargo Water
generates cash through government research grants and tax credits. Our corporate operations generate cash through private offerings of stock, debt instruments, and
warrants. Cash was generated as follows (in thousands):
Year ended
December 31, 2020
SOURCES OF CASH
Revenue from operations
Grant income
Tax credit income
Stock for cash (BioLargo)
Stock for cash (Clyra Medical)
Proceeds from warrant exercise (BioLargo)
Debt (BioLargo)
Debt (Clyra Medical)
Total:

$

$
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2,432
137
111
2,783
851
-507
260
7,081

Year ended
December 31, 2019
$

$

1,861
218
63
125
536
560
4,335
-7,698
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Although ONM, BLEST, and Clyra Medical generated revenues in the year ended December 31, 2020, neither generated operating profits. As such, we
provided cash subsidies to each of these business segments to allow them to continue operations. While revenues have increased in both operating segments, both
continue to expand operations and thus continue to generate losses.
Critical Accounting Policies
Our discussion and analysis of our results of operations and liquidity and capital resources are based on our consolidated financial statements, which have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make
estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an ongoing
basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments, including those related to revenue recognition, valuation of offerings of debt with equity or derivative features which
include the valuation of the warrant component, any beneficial conversion feature and potential derivative treatment, and share-based payments. We base our estimates
on anticipated results and trends and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, including assumptions as to future events.
These estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. By their nature,
estimates are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty. Actual results that differ from our estimates could have a significant adverse effect on our operating results
and financial position. We believe that the following significant accounting policies and assumptions may involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity than
others.
The methods, estimates and judgments the Company uses in applying these most critical accounting policies have a significant impact on the results of the
Company reports in its financial statements.
Revenue Recognition
We adopted ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, Topic 606, on January 1, 2018. The guidance focuses on the core principle for revenue
recognition.
The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. To achieve that core principle, an entity should apply
the following steps:
Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract.
Step 3: Determine the transaction price.
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.
Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
We have revenue from two subsidiaries, ONM and BLEST. ONM identifies its contract with the customer through a written purchase order, in which the details
of the contract are defined including the transaction price and method of shipment. The only performance obligation is to create and ship the product and each product
has separate pricing. ONM recognizes revenue at a point in time when the order for its goods are shipped if its agreement with the customer is FOB ONM’s warehouse
facility, and when goods are delivered to its customer if its agreement with the customer is FOB destination. Revenue is recognized with a reduction for sales discounts,
as appropriate and negotiated in the customer’s purchase order. ONM also installs misting systems for which it bills on a time and materials basis. It identifies its
contract with the customer through a written purchase order in which the details of the time to be billed and materials purchased and an estimated completion date. The
performance obligation is the completion of the installation. Revenue is recognized in arrears as the work is performed.
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BLEST identifies services to be performed in a written contract, which specifies the performance obligations and the rate at which the services will be billed.
Each service is separately negotiated and priced. Revenue is recognized as services are performed and completed. BLEST’s contracts typically call for invoicing for time
and materials incurred for that contract. A few contracts have called for milestone or fixed cost payments where BLEST bills an agreed-to amount per month for the life of
the contract. In these instances, completed work, billed hourly, is recognized as revenue. If the billing amount is greater or lesser than the completed work, a receivable
or payable is created. These accounts are adjusted upon additional billings as the work is completed. To date, there have been no discounts or other financing terms for
the contracts.
Warrants
Warrants issued with our convertible and non-convertible debt instruments are accounted for under the fair value and relative fair value method.
The warrant is first analyzed per its terms as to whether it has derivative features or not. If the warrant is determined to be a derivative and not qualify for equity
treatment, then it is measured at fair value using the Black Scholes option model, and recorded as a liability on the balance sheet. The warrant is re-measured at its then
current fair value at each subsequent reporting date (it is “marked-to-market”).
If the warrant is determined to not have derivative features, it is recorded into equity at its fair value using the Black Scholes option model, however, limited to a
relative fair value based upon the percentage of its fair value to the total fair value including the fair value of the convertible note.
Convertible debt instruments are recorded at fair value, limited to a relative fair value based upon the percentage of its fair value to the total fair value including
the fair value of the warrant. Further, the convertible debt instrument is examined for any intrinsic beneficial conversion feature (“BCF”) of which the conversion price is
less than the closing common stock price on date of issuance. If the relative fair value method is used to value the convertible debt instrument and there is an intrinsic
BCF, a further analysis is undertaken of the BCF using an effective conversion price which assumes the conversion price is the relative fair value divided by the number
of shares the convertible debt is converted into by its terms. The BCF value is accounted for as equity.
The warrant and BCF relative fair values are also recorded as a discount to the convertible promissory notes. At present, these equity features of the
convertible promissory notes have recorded a discount to the convertible notes that is substantially equal to the proceeds received.
Share-based Payments
It is the Company’s policy to expense share-based payments as of the date of grant or over the term of the vesting period in accordance with Auditing
Standards Codification Topic 718 “Share-Based Payment.” Application of this pronouncement requires significant judgment regarding the assumptions used in the
selected option pricing model, including stock price volatility and employee exercise behavior. Most of these inputs are either highly dependent on the current economic
environment at the date of grant or forward-looking expectations projected over the expected term of the award.
Fair Value Measurement
Generally accepted accounting principles establishes a hierarchy to prioritize the inputs of valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives
the highest ranking to the fair values determined by using unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1) and the lowest ranking to fair values
determined using methodologies and models with unobservable inputs (Level 3). Observable inputs are those that market participants would use in pricing the assets
based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s assumptions about inputs market participants
would use in pricing the asset or liability developed based on the best information available in the circumstances. The Company has determined the appropriate level of
the hierarchy and applied it to its financial assets and liabilities.
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Management believes the carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 approximate their respective fair values
because of the short-term nature of these instruments. Such instruments consist of cash, accounts receivable, prepaid assets, accounts payable, convertible notes, and
other assets and liabilities.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – Recent Accounting Pronouncements”, for the applicable
accounting pronouncements affecting the Company.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK
Not applicable.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Our consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 are presented in a separate section of this report following
Item 14 and begin with the index on page F-1.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We conducted an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer,
of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report.
Our procedures have been designed to ensure that the information relating to our company, including our consolidated subsidiaries, required to be disclosed in
our SEC reports is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as appropriate to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure. However, our
Company is continuing to grow and evolve. The volume of our product sales continues to grow, increasing strain on our accounting systems. And, our operations do
not yet generate enough cash to fund operations, and thus we rely on financing activities to maintain our level of operations and fund our anticipated growth. In
combination, these activities put stress on our overall controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded
that as of the evaluation date our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective, due to the material weakness identified below.
It should be noted that the design of any system of controls is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be
no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions, regardless of how remote.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and the chief financial officer, we have established
internal control procedures in accordance with the guidelines established in the 2013 Framework —Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). Management evaluated the effectiveness of our internal controls, and concluded that due to our limited financial
and personal resources, and the fact that we operate our business in three distinct locations in the U.S. and Canada, we continue to have a material weakness in our
internal controls with respect to the closing our financial statements. Until the company has the financial resources to implement more robust automated systems, or to
hire additional dedicated accounting personal, we expect this material weakness to continue. In reaching this conclusion, management considered that despite this
weakness, and others identified in past years, the company has not identified material misstatements in prior financial statements, and believes that the material
weakness identified is not likely to lead to a material misstatement in the financial statements contained within this report.
Recognizing the dynamic nature and growth of the Company’s business, including the addition of an engineering division in late 2017, growth of the core
operations, and the increase in the number of employees, management has recognized the strain on the overall internal control environment. As a result, management
has concluded that its internal controls over financial reporting are not effective. Management identified a material weakness with respect to deficiencies in its financial
closing and reporting procedures. Management believes this is due to a lack of resources. Management intends to add accounting personnel and operating staff and
more sophisticated systems in order to improve its reporting procedures and internal controls, subject to available capital. A material weakness is a significant
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the annual
or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. While management has recognized the material weakness, nothing additionally has changed in internal
controls over financial reporting in the fourth quarter or the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.
This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over
financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the SEC
that permit the Company to provide only management’s report in this Annual Report.
Our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls or our internal control over
financial reporting, or any system we design or implement in the future, will prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. The design of any system of controls is based in part on
certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential
future conditions.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART III
Certain information required by Part III is incorporated by reference from our Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC in connection with the solicitation of
proxies for our 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, currently scheduled to be held on June 15, 2021 (the “Proxy Statement”).
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by this section is incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Proposal One—Election of Directors” in the Proxy Statement.
Item 405 of Regulation S-K calls for disclosure of any known late filing or failure by an insider to file a report required by Section 16 of the Exchange Act. This disclosure
is incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement. The information required by this
Item with respect to our executive officers is contained in Item 1 of Part I of this Annual Report under the heading “Business—Executive Officers”.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this section is incorporated by reference from the information in the section entitled “Executive Compensation” in the Proxy
Statement.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
The information required by this section is incorporated by reference from the information in the section entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management” in the Proxy Statement.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this section is incorporated by reference from the information in the section entitled “Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions” in the Proxy Statement.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this section is incorporated by reference from the information in the section entitled “Ratification of Appointment of Independent
Auditor” in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.
The following documents are filed as a part of this report:
1. Financial Statements. The consolidated financial statements required to be filed in this report are listed on the Index to Financial Statements immediately
preceding the financial statements.
2. Financial Statement Schedules. Separate financial statement schedules have been omitted either because they are not applicable or because the required
information is included in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.
3. Exhibits. See the Exhibit Index for a list of the exhibits being filed or furnished with or incorporated by reference into this report.
36

Table of Contents
Exhibit Index

Incorporated by Reference Herein
Exhibit
Number
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
4.1
4.2
4.3
4.4
4.5
4.6
4.7
4.8
4.9
4.10
4.11

Exhibit Description
Bylaws of BioLargo, Inc., as amended and restated
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation for BioLargo, Inc. filed March 16, 2007
Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation, filed May 25, 2018
Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Clyra Medical Technologies, Inc.
BioLargo, Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Plan
Amendment No. 1 to BioLargo 2007 Equity Incentive Plan
2018 Equity Incentive Plan
Stock Option Award Agreement under 2018 Equity Incentive Plan
Notice of Stock Option Grant under 2018 Equity Incentive Plan
Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under 2018 Equity Incentive Plan
Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Award under 2018 Equity Incentive Plan
Form of Stock Options issued in exchange for reduction in accounts payable.
September 2018 Amendment to Promissory Note dated December 14, 2017 issued to Vista
Capital Investments, LLC.
Stock Purchase Warrant issued to Vista Capital Investments dated September 12, 2018.
January 2019 Amendment to Promissory Note dated December 14, 2017, by and between
BioLargo, Inc. and Vista Capital Investments, LLC.
37

Form

File Date

Form 10-KSB
Form 10-KSB
Pos Am
Form 8-K
Form 10-QSB
Def 14C (Exhibit A)
Form S-8
Form S-8
Form S-8
Form S-8
Form S-8
Form 10-K

5/23/2003
5/4/2007
6/22/2018
1/6/2016
11/19/2007
5/2/2011
6/22/2018
6/22/2018
6/22/2018
6/22/2018
6/22/2018
3/31/2015

Form 8-K

9/18/2018

Form 8-K

9/18/2018

Form 8-K

1/11/2019
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4.12
4.13
4.14
4.15
4.16
4.17
4.18
4.19
4.20
4.21
4.22
4.23
4.24
4.25
4.26
4.27
4.28
4.29
4.30
4.31
4.32
4.33
4.34

Convertible Promissory Note issued to Vista Capital Investments LLC dated January 7, 2019
Form of Note issued in Summer 2017 Offering
Two-year Note in face amount of $440,000 issued July 2017
Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 25, 2017 by and between BioLargo, Inc. and Lincoln
Park Capital Fund, LLC
Promissory note issued by Clyra Medical to Scion Solutions dated September 26, 2018
Promissory Note issued to Vernal Bay Investments, LLC on September 19, 2018
Stock Purchase Warrant issued to Vernal Bay Investments, LLC on September 19, 2018
Promissory Note issued to Chappy Bean, LLC on September 19, 2018
Stock Purchase Warrant issued to Chappy Bean, LLC on September 19, 2018
Warrant issued with Line of credit that matures September 1, 2019
Amendment dated March 5, 2019 to Promissory Note issued to Vernal Bay Investments, LLC on
September 19, 2018
Amendment dated March 5, 2019 to Promissory Note issued to Chappy Bean, LLC on September
19, 2018
$50,000 convertible note, matures March 8, 2020
Amendment dated August 12, 2019 to Promissory Note issued to Vernal Bay Investments, LLC
on September 19, 2018
Amended and restated note issued to Vernal August 12, 2019
Form of convertible notes that mature April 20, 2021 (Spring 2018 Offering)
Warrant issued to Vernal August 12, 2019
Revolving Line of Credit Agreement dated June 30, 2020, between Clyra Medical and Vernal Bay
Form of warrant issued with convertible notes that mature April 20, 2021 (Spring 2018 Offering)
Security Agreement dated June 30, 2020, between Clyra Medical and Vernal Bay
Revolving Line of Credit Note issued by Clyra Medical to Vernal Bay on June 30, 2020
Stock Purchase Agreement and Plan of Reorganziation dated September 26, 2018, with Scion
Solutions, LLC
Stock Purchase Warrant Issued to Lincoln Park Capital on January 31, 2019
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Form 8-K
Form 10-Q
Form 10-Q

1/11/2019
8/14/2017
8/14/2017

Form 8-K

8/31/2017

Form 8-K
Form 8-K
Form 8-K
Form 8-K
Form 8-K
Form 10-Q

10/2/2018
9/24/2018
9/24/2018
9/24/2018
9/24/2018
5/14/2018

Form 8-K

3/8/2019

Form 8-K

3/8/2019

Form 10-Q

5/14/2018

Form 10-Q

8/14/2019

Form 10-Q
Form 10-Q
Form 10-Q
Form 8-K
Form 10-Q
Form 8-K
Form 8-K

8/14/2019
5/14/2018
8/14/2019
7/7/2020
5/14/2018
7/7/2020
7/7/2020

Form 8-K

10/2/2018

Form 8-K

2/11/2019
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4.35
4.36
4.37
4.38
4.39
4.40
4.41
4.42
4.43
4.44
4.45
4.46
4.47
4.48
4.49*
4.50*
10.1
10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7
10.8
10.9†

10% Convertible Promissory Note issued to Bellridge Capital, LP dated April 18, 2019
Convertible Promissory Note issued to Crossover Capital dated May 10, 2019
Securities Purchase Agreement by and between BioLargo, Inc., and EMA Financial, LP dated
June 4, 2019
10% Convertible Promissory Note issued to EMA Financial, LP dated June 4, 2019
Amendment #1 to the Convertible Note issued on June 4, 2019 to EMA Capital, LP
OID twelve-month promissory note
Stock purchase warrant issued to OID twelve-month investors
$600,000 Promissory note dated August 9, 2019
Warrant to purchase 1.2 million shares issued August 9, 2019
Amendment to $440,000 convertible notes that matures July 20, 2019
Warrant issued March 2018, expiring March 2023
Form of warrant issued January 2019 to Lincoln Park, expiring January 2024
Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2020, by and between BioLargo, Inc. and
Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC
Warrant issued in 2020 Unit Offering
Amendment to $50,000 Convertible Note dated March 8, 2018
Warrant issued to $50,000 Convertible Noteholder on March 1, 2020
License Agreement to Clyra Medical Technologies, Inc., dated December 17, 2012
December 30, 2015 amendment to License Agreement with Clyra Medical Technologies, Inc.
Escrow Agreement dated September 26, 2018 regarding Clyra/Scion transaction
Closing Agreement dated December 17, 2018 between Clyra Medical and Scion Solutions
Amendment dated June 30, 2020 to License Agreement with Clyra Medical Technologies, Inc.
Amendment dated June 30, 2020 to Consulting Agreement dated December 30, 2015 between
Clyra Medical and Beach House Consulting LLC
Consulting Agreement dated December 30, 2015 with Beach House Consulting LLC
Commercial Office Lease Agreement for 14921 Chestnut St., Westminster, CA 92683
Employment Agreement with Dennis P. Calvert dated May 2, 2017.
39

Form 8-K
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4/23/2019
5/15/2019

Form 8-K
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Form 8-K
Form 8-K
Form 8-K
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Form 10-Q
S-1
S-1

6/7/2019
6/7/2019
8/2/2019
8/2/2019
8/14/2019
8/14/2019
5/14/2018
8/29/2019
8/29/2019

8-K

3/31/2020

Form 10-Q

8/14/2020

Form 8-K
Form 8-K
Form 8-K
Form 8-K
Form 8-K

1/6/2016
1/6/2016
10/2/2018
12/19/2018
7/7/2020

Form 8-K

7/7/2020

Form 8-K
Form 8-K
Form 8-K

1/6/2016
8/24/2016
5/4/2017
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10.10†
10.11†
10.12
10.13
10.14
10.15†
10.16
10.17
10.18†
10.19†
10.20†
10.21
10.22†
14.1
21.1*
23.1*
24.1
31.1*
31.2*
32.1*
101.INS**
101.SCH**
101.CAL**
101.DEF**
101.LAB**
101.PRE**

Lock-Up Agreement with Dennis P. Calvert dated April 30, 2017
Lock-Up Agreement with Dennis P. Calvert dated May 2, 2017.
Commercial Office Lease Agreement for Oak Ridge Tennessee
Form of Employment Agreement for Engineering Subsidiary
Form of Option issued to founding employees of Engineering subsidiary (BLEST)
January 16, 2019 Engagement Extension Agreement by and between BioLargo, Inc. and Charles
K. Dargan
Securities Purchase Agreement by and between BioLargo, Inc., and Bellridge Capital, LP dated
April 18, 2019
Securities Purchase Agreement by and between BioLargo, Inc., and Crossover Capital dated
May 10, 2019
Provenzano Employment Agreement dated May 28, 2019
Lock-Up Agreement dated May 28, 2019
Lock-Up Agreement dated May 28, 2019
Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 30, 2020 by and between BioLargo, Inc. and Lincoln
Park Capital Fund, LLC.
2021 Engagement Extension Agreement with CFO
Code of Ethics
List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant
Consent of Haskell & White LLP
Power of Attorney (see signature page)
Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 and Rules 13(a)-14 and 15(d)-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
and Rules 13(a)-14 and 15(d)-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350.
XBRL Instance
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation

* Filed herewith
** Furnished herewith
† Management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

BIOLARGO, INC.
Date: March 30, 2021

By:

/s/ Dennis P. Calvert
Dennis P. Calvert
President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY
KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints, jointly and severally, Dennis P. Calvert
and Joseph L. Provenzano, and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her
and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with all
exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each
of them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and
purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of them, or their or his or her
substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Company and in
the capacities and on the date indicated:

Name
/s/ Dennis P. Calvert
Dennis P. Calvert

Title

Date

Chairman of the Board, Chief
Executive Officer and President

March 30, 2021

Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer and
principal accounting officer)

March 30, 2021

Chief Science Officer and Director

March 30, 2021

Executive Vice President, Corporate
Secretary and Director

March 30, 2021

/s/ Jack B. Strommen
Jack B. Strommen

Director

March 30, 2021

/s/ Dennis E. Marshall
Dennis E. Marshall

Director

March 30, 2021

/s/ Kent C. Roberts II
Kent C. Roberts II

Director

March 30, 2021

/s/John S. Runyan
John S. Runyan

Director

March 30, 2021

/s/ Charles K. Dargan II
Charles K. Dargan II

/s/ Kenneth R. Code
Kenneth R. Code
/s/ Joseph L. Provenzano
Joseph L. Provenzano
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
BioLargo, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of BioLargo, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related
notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two
years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Going Concern
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Company has experienced recurring losses, negative cash flows from operations, has limited capital resources, a net stockholders’
deficit, and significant debt obligations coming due in the near term. These matters raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 1. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from
the outcome of this uncertainty.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion.
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Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matters
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2)
involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit
matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
Fair Value of Stock Options—Refer to Notes 5 and 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Critical Audit Matter Description
The Company issues options from both BioLargo, Inc. as well as its partially-owned subsidiary, Clyra Medical. Management uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model to estimate the fair value of its stock options. The Black-Scholes option-pricing model involves the use of significant estimates, including the following:
■

Risk-free interest rate;

■

Expected share price volatility;

■

Expected dividend yield; and

■

Expected life of the award.

In addition, management discounts the estimated fair value of the Clyra Medical stock options because the partially-owned subsidiary is a private company with no
secondary market for its common stock. Given the significant estimates involved in estimating the fair value of stock options, the related audit effort in evaluating
management’s estimates in determining the fair value of stock options was extensive and required a high degree of auditor judgment.
How the Critical Audit Matter was Addressed in the Audit
We obtained an understanding over the Company’s process to estimate the fair value of stock options, including how the Company develops each of the estimates
required to utilize the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. We applied the following audit procedures related to testing the Company’s estimates utilized in the BlackScholes option-pricing model:
■

We compared the Company’s risk-free interest rate used to the comparable United States Treasury yield for a term comparable to the stock options’ expected
term.
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■
■
■

We recalculated the Company’s historical share price volatility for a term comparable to the stock options’ expected term. For Clyra Medical, we recalculated a
comparable public company’s historical share price volatility for a term comparable to the stock options’ expected term.
We performed a look-back at the Company’s previously issued dividends, noting there were none. We inquired with management of the Company who
informed us that no future dividends were currently anticipated.
We agreed the expected term of stock options granted to employees and non-employees to the original contractual term of the option as management deems it
likely they will remain outstanding for the entire original term. We further noted that this was consistent with historical options granted.

In addition, we reviewed management’s analysis over the discount used on the estimated fair value of the Clyra Medical stock options. Management concluded that
both the illiquidity and lack of marketability warranted a discount to the estimated fair value calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. We noted that
Clyra Medical is a private company and therefore its stock is not actively traded. We also reviewed the stock sales history of Clyra Medical noting the infrequent stock
sales supports management’s assertions of both illiquidity and lack of marketability. We further researched published articles on valuation discounts and noted that the
liquidity and lack of marketability discount used by management was within a reasonable range.
Accounting for Complex Debt Transactions—Refer to Notes 4 and 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Critical Audit Matter Description
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company refinanced a convertible note to extend the maturity date by one year. The terms of the refinance included: (1)
25% of the principal and accrued interest converted to common stock, (2) a reduction to the conversion price to both the converted and remaining principal, and (3)
extension of maturity dates of the warrants outstanding related to the convertible note. Management had to determine whether to account for the refinance as a debt
modification or a debt extinguishment. Management determines if the modified terms of the refinance are considered substantially different, defined as the present value
of the remaining cash flows after modification differ by at least 10% of those prior to the modification.
Management used the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to estimate the increase in fair value of the warrants modified with the refinanced convertible note, limited to a
relative fair value based upon the percentage of its fair value to the total fair value including the fair value of the convertible note. The Black-Scholes option-pricing
model involves the use of significant estimates, including the following:
■

Risk-free interest rate;

■

Expected share price volatility;

■

Expected dividend yield; and

■

Contractual life of the award.

Management also evaluated the refinanced convertible note for any intrinsic beneficial conversion feature, in which the revised convertible price of the note is less that
the closing common stock price on the date of refinance. If the relative fair value method is used to value the convertible note and there is an intrinsic beneficial
conversion feature, a further analysis is undertaken of the beneficial conversion feature using an effective conversion price which assumes the conversion price is the
relative fair value divided by the number of shares the convertible note is converted into by its terms.
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Given the significant estimates involved in estimating the total debt discount resulting from the relative fair value of the warrants and intrinsic beneficial conversion
feature, as well as determining whether the debt refinance was a debt modification or debt extinguishment, the related audit effort in evaluating both management’s
estimates in determining the total debt discount and determination of whether the refinance was a debt modification or debt extinguishment was extensive and required a
high degree of auditor judgment.
How the Critical Audit Matter was Addressed in the Audit
We obtained an understanding over the Company’s process to determine whether a debt refinance is a debt modification or debt extinguishment. We reviewed the
relevant guidance and management’s calculation of the present value of the cash flows prior to and after the debt modification. We also obtained an understanding over
the Company’s process to estimate the debt discount resulting from the increase in the relative fair value of the modified warrants and the increase in the relative fair
value of the intrinsic conversion feature from the reduction in conversion price, including how the Company develops each of the estimates required to utilize the BlackScholes option-pricing model. We applied the following audit procedures related to testing the Company’s estimates utilized in the Black-Scholes option-pricing model:
■
■
■
■

We compared the Company’s risk-free interest rate used to the comparable United States Treasury yield for a term comparable to the warrants’ remaining
contractual term.
We recalculated the Company’s historical share price volatility for a term comparable to warrants’ remaining contractual term.
We performed a look-back at the Company’s previously issued dividends, noting there were none. We inquired with management of the Company who
informed us that no future dividends were currently anticipated.
We agreed the remaining contractual term of the warrants to the revised contractual term of the refinanced convertible note.

We also reviewed management’s relative fair value calculation used to determine the total debt discount and agreed all inputs as follows:
■

We agreed the fair value of the note to the refinanced convertible note agreement.

■

We agreed the fair value of the warrants to the fair value calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

■

We agreed to stock price at the refinance date to the trading price.

■

We agreed the exercise price to the revised conversion price to the refinanced convertible note agreement.

Finally, we recalculated the change in the present value of the remaining cash flows after debt modification to determine if the correct accounting treatment was used by
management.

/s/ HASKELL & WHITE LLP

Irvine, California
March 30, 2021
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BIOLARGO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except for per share data)
DECEMBER 31,
2020

2019

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance
Inventories, net of allowance
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

$

In-process research and development (Note 9)
Equipment, net of depreciation
Other non-current assets
Investment in South Korean joint venture
Right of use, operating lease, net of amortization
Deferred offering cost
Clyra Medical prepaid marketing (Note 10)
Total assets

$

716
484
277
28
1,505
2,150
60
35
63
341
—
788
4,942

$

$

655
355
16
39
1,065
1,893
95
35
—
411
122
—
3,621

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Debt obligations (Note 4)
Discount on debt, net of amortization
Deferred revenue
Lease liability, current
Clyra Medical accounts payable and accrued expenses
Clyra Medical debt obligations (See Note 10)
Total current liabilities

$

Long-term liabilities:
Debt obligations (Note 4)
Discount on convertible notes payable, net of amortization
Lease liability
Common stock held for redemption (Note 9)
Total liabilities

513
1,206
(104)
48
114
536
1,231
3,544

$

507
—
226
900
5,177

394
4,057
(1,472)
35
125
208
1,007
4,354

700
(182)
286
643
5,801

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 13)
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT):
Preferred Series A, $0.00067 Par Value, 50,000,000 Shares Authorized, -0- Shares Issued and Outstanding, at December
31, 2019 and December 31, 2020
Common stock, $0.00067 Par Value, 400,000,000 Shares Authorized, 166,256,024 and 225,885,682 Shares Issued, at
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2020
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total BioLargo Inc. and subsidiaries stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Non-controlling interest (Note 10)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)
$
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit)

—
151
135,849
(101)
(132,041)
3,858
(4,093)
(235)
4,942

—

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements and report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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(27)
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BIOLARGO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands, except for per share data)
Year ended December 31,
2020
Revenue
Product revenue
Service revenue
Total revenue

$

Cost of revenue
Cost of goods sold
Cost of service
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit

1,825
607
2,432

$

(743)
(461)
(1,204)
1,228

Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development
Total operating expenses

2019

1,460
401
1,861

(627)
(318)
(945)
916

7,473
1,338
8,811

6,140
1,472
7,612

Operating loss

(7,583)

(6,696)

Other income (expense):
Grant income
Tax credit income
Interest expense
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Total other (expense) income

137
111
(1,923)
(442)
(2,117)

218
63
(3,996)
(1,029)
(4,744)

Net loss

(9,700)

(11,440)

(1,268)
(8,432)

(750)
(10,690)

Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

$

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:
Loss per share attributable to stockholders – basic and diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding:

$

(0.05)
195,993,575

$

(0.08)
152,086,221

$

(9,700)
(2)
(9,702)

$

(11,440)
(9)
(11,449)

$

Comprehensive loss attributable to common stockholders
Net loss
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Comprehensive loss
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interest
Comprehensive loss attributable to stockholders

$

(1,268)
(8,434)

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements and report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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BIOLARGO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(in thousands, except for share data)

Balance, December 31, 2018
Conversion of notes
Warrant exercise
Issuance of common stock for service
Issuance of common stock for interest
Financing fee in common stock cancelled
Stock issuance to officer
Sale of stock for cash
Stock option compensation expense
Warrants and conversion feature issued as discount on
convertible notes payable and line of credit
Issuance of Clyra common stock for cash
Debt extinguishment expense
Warrant reprice
Exchange Clyra ownership for BioLargo debt
Preferred Series A Clyra dividend, converted to Clyra
common shares
Deemed dividend
Net loss
Foreign currency translation
Balance, December 31, 2019
Conversion of notes
Issuance of common stock for service
Issuance of common stock for interest
Sale of stock for cash
Stock issued as a commitment fee
Stock option compensation expense
Loss on extinguishment
Noncontrolling interest allocation
Clyra stock options issued for service
Clyra stock issued for consulting agreement
Clyra stock issued as line of credit commitment fee
Issuance of Clyra common stock for cash
Deemed dividend
Net loss
Foreign currency translation
Balance, December 31, 2020

Common stock
Shares
Amount
141,466,071 $
95
12,105,699
8
7,544,456
5
3,318,490
2
915,164
1
(150,000)
—
500,000
—
556,144
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
166,256,024
33,157,961
4,458,731
1,728,331
17,356,064
2,928,571
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
111
22
3
1
12
2
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

225,885,682

$

$

151

Additional
paid-in
capital
$ 110,222
1,727
555
708
199
(42)
—
125
1,522

Accumulated
deficit
$
(111,723)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

3,931
186
619
56
440

$

$

270
809
—
—
121,327
3,504
663
183
2,771
(124)
1,821
442
3,157
638
788
70
492
117
—
—
135,849

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
Loss
$
(90)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

$

$

(270)
(809)
(10,690)
—
(123,492)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(117)
(8,432)
—
(132,041)

Noncontrolling
interest
$
373
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

$

$

—
—
—
(9)
(99)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(2)
(101)

—
350
—
—
—

$

$

—
—
(750)
—
(27)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(3,157)
—
—
—
359
—
(1,268)
—
(4,093)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements and report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
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$

Total
stockholders’
equity (deficit)
(1,123)
1,735
560
710
200
(42)
—
125
1,522
3,931
536
619
56
440

$

$

—
—
(11,440)
(9)
(2,180)
3,526
666
184
2,783
(122)
1,821
442
—
638
788
70
851
—
(9,700)
(2)
(235)
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BIOLARGO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands, except for per share data)
DECEMBER 31,
2020
Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Stock option compensation expense
Common stock issued in lieu of salary to officers and fees for services from vendors
Common stock issued for interest
Interest expense related to amortization of the discount on convertible notes payable and line of credit and
deferred financing costs
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Loss on investment in South Korean joint venture
Deferred offering expense
Financing fee paid in stock (cancellation)
Warrant reprice
Amortization and depreciation expense
Bad debt expense
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Clyra accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Equipment purchases
Investment in South Korean joint venture
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from sale of common stock
Proceeds from convertible notes payable
Proceeds from OID offering
Proceeds from notes payable
Proceeds from SBA loans
Proceeds from warrant exercise
Repayment of note payable
Proceeds received by Clyra from inventory line of credit
Repayment by Clyra on inventory line of credit
Proceeds from sale of stock in Clyra Medical
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net effect of foreign currency translation
Net change in cash
Cash at beginning of year
Cash at end of year
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest
Income taxes
Non-cash investing and financing activities
Fair value of warrants issued with convertible notes and letter of credit
Conversion of convertible notes payable into common stock
Convertible notes issued with original Issue Discount
Deemed dividend
Fair value of right of use and operating lease
Deferred offering costs recorded as additional paid in capital
Fair value of shares issued for In Process research and development
Exchange of note payable for Clyra Shares
Exchange of consulting services for Clyra common shares
Fair value of Clyra shares issued as commitment fee
Allocation of stock option expense within noncontrolling interest
Clyra preferred shares dividend exchange for Clyra common stock

$

(9,700)

DECEMBER 31,
2019
$

2,459
666
184

1,522
710
200

1,618
442
37
—
—
—
58
13

3,376
1,029
—
53
(42)
56
65
24

(142)
(261)
122
327
14
9
(4,154)

(121)
(9)
(65)
188
35
(21)
(4,422)

(23)
(100)
(123)

(35)
—
(35)

$

2,783
—
—
—
507
—
(25)
260
(36)
851
4,340
(2)
61
655
716

$

125
1,632
2,703
400
—
560
(915)
430
(175)
536
4,466
(9)
—
655
655

$
$

118
2

$
$

195
3

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

—
3,526
—
117
—
(122)
257
—
788
70
3,157
—

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

3,931
1,735
1,008
809
411
—
—
440
—
—
—
270

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements and report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
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BIOLARGO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Business and Organization
Description of Business
BioLargo, Inc. is an innovative technology developer and environmental engineering company driven by a mission to “make life better” by delivering robust,
sustainable solutions for a broad range of industries and applications, with a focus on clean water, clean air. The company also owns a minority interest in an advanced
wound care subsidiary that has licensed BioLargo’s technologies. Our business strategy is straightforward: we invent or acquire technologies that we believe have the
potential to be disruptive in large commercial markets; we develop and validate these technologies to advance and promote their commercial success as we leverage our
considerable scientific, engineering, and entrepreneurial talent; we then monetize these technical assets through a variety of business structures that may include
licensure, joint venture, sale, spin off, or by deploying direct to market strategies.
Liquidity / Going concern
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the
settlement of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of our business. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we had a net loss of $9,700,000, used $4,154,000
cash in operations, and at December 31, 2020, we had a working capital deficit of $2,039,000, and current assets of $1,505,000. We do not believe gross profits in 2021 will
be sufficient to fund our current level of operations or pay our debts as they become due during the next 12 months, and therefore we will have to obtain further
investment capital to continue to fund operations and seek to refinance our existing debt. We have been, and anticipate that we will continue to be, limited in terms of
our capital resources.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, we generated revenues of $2,432,000 through our subsidiaries. (See Note 12.) Our segments did not individually or in
the aggregate generate enough revenues or gross profits to fund their operations, or fund our corporate operations or other business segments. Thus, to operate
throughout 2020, we continued to sell securities to raise cash (see Notes 3 and 10), and were able to borrow money through programs administered by the Small
Business Administration.
As of December 31, 2020, our cash and cash equivalents totaled $716,000, and our total liabilities included $1,006,000 in debt that is convertible at the option of
the debtholders, $100,000 of debt that we may convert to equity at the April 2021 maturity date, $100,000 notes due on demand, $224,000 owed by our partially owned
subsidiary Clyra Medical Technologies, Inc. (“Clyra”) due in June 2021, and $1,007,000 owed by Clyra that must be paid out of operational cash (see Note 4 and 10), with
a maturity date that automatically extends each June. Since December 30, 2020, we have received over $2 million in proceeds from stock sales to Lincoln Park (see Note
3), and paid off $650,000 in debt (see also Note 14). We have two promissory notes due in August, 2021, (see Note 4, “Notes payable, mature August 12 and 16, 2021”),
each of which may be converted by the holder into equity at $0.14 per share. If the holders do not voluntarily convert the notes to equity, we intend to pay the notes
with cash raised through sales of stock to Lincoln Park, although there is no guarantee that we will be able to do so. The proceeds we receive from stock sales to Lincoln
Park is a function of stock price and volume – a lower stock price and less trading volume results in less money we can receive from Lincoln Park. Our agreement with
Lincoln Park precludes us from selling shares to Lincoln Park on a daily basis if our stock price falls below $0.10 per share. If we are unable to make daily sales, it is not
likely we will be able to sell enough shares to Lincoln Park to pay the debt due in August, 2021. In such event, we intend to negotiate for a delay in repayment with the
holders of the notes.
If we are unable to rely on our current arrangement with Lincoln Park to fund our working capital requirements, we will have to rely on other forms of financing,
and there is no assurance that we will be able to do so, or if we do so, it will be on favorable terms.
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To reduce our operational cash burdens, we regularly issue officers and vendors stock or options in lieu of cash, and anticipate that we will continue to be able
to do so in the future. In the year ended December 31, 2020, our CEO and CSO accepted stock in lieu of $300,000 in unpaid salary and business expenses. Each has
indicated a willingness to do so in the future.
The foregoing factors raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern, unless we are able to continue to raise funds through stock
sales to Lincoln Park or other private financings, and in the long term, our ability to attain a reasonable threshold of operating efficiencies and achieve profitable
operations by licensing or otherwise commercializing products incorporating our technologies. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments
that might be necessary if we are unable to continue as a going concern.
Organization
We are a Delaware corporation formed in 1991. We have four wholly-owned subsidiaries: BioLargo Life Technologies, Inc., organized under the laws of the
State of California in 2006; ONM Environmental, Inc. (formerly, Odor-No-More, Inc.), organized under the laws of the State of California in 2009; BioLargo Water
Investment Group Inc. organized under the laws of the State of California in 2019, which wholly owns BioLargo Water, Inc., organized under the laws of Canada in 2014;
and BioLargo Development Corp., organized under the laws of the State of California in 2016. Additionally, we own 94% (see Note 9) of BioLargo Engineering Science
and Technologies, LLC (“BLEST”), organized under the laws of the State of Tennessee in 2017. We also own 45% of Clyra Medical Technologies, Inc. (“Clyra” or “Clyra
Medical”), organized under the laws of the State of California in 2012, and consolidate their financial statements (see Note 2, subheading “Principles of Consolidation,”
and Note 10).
Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiaries, BLEST, and Clyra Medical. Management believes
Clyra Medical’s financial statements are appropriately consolidated with that of the Company after reviewing the guidance of ASC Topic 810, “Consolidation”, and
concluding that BioLargo controls Clyra Medical. While BioLargo does not have voting interest control through a majority stock ownership of Clyra Medical (it owns
45% of the outstanding voting stock), it does exercise control under the “Variable Interest Model.” There is substantial board overlap, BioLargo is the primary
beneficiary since it has the power to direct Clyra Medical’s activities that most significantly impact Clyra Medical’s performance, and it has the obligation to absorb
losses or receive benefits (through royalties and licensing) that could be potentially significant to Clyra Medical. BioLargo has consolidated Clyra Medical’s operations
for all periods presented. (See Note 10.)
All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Foreign Currency
The Company has designated the functional currency of BioLargo Water, Inc., our Canadian subsidiary, to be the Canadian dollar. Therefore, translation gains
and losses resulting from differences in exchange rates are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less when acquired to be cash equivalents. Substantially all cash
equivalents are held in short-term money market accounts at one of the largest financial institutions in the United States. From time to time, our cash account balances
are greater than the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insurance limit of $250,000 per owner per bank, and during such times, we are exposed to credit loss for
amounts in excess of insured limits in the event of non-performance by the financial institution. We do not anticipate non-performance by our financial institution.
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As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, our cash balances were made up of the following (in thousands):

BioLargo, Inc. and subsidiaries
Clyra Medical Technologies, Inc.
Total

$
$

2020
637
79
716

$
$

2019
652
3
655

Accounts Receivable
Trade accounts receivable are recorded net of allowances for doubtful accounts. Estimates for allowances for doubtful accounts are determined based on
payment history and individual customer circumstances. The allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $13,000 and $24,000.
Credit Concentration
We have a limited number of customers that account for significant portions of our revenue. During the year ended December 31, 2020, there were two
customers that accounted for more than 10% of consolidated revenues and during the year ended December 31, 2019, there were no customers that accounted for more
than 10% of consolidated revenues, as follows:
2020
13%
11%

Customer A
Customer B

2019
<10%
<10%

We had two customers that each accounted for more than 10% of consolidated accounts receivable at December 31, 2020 and three customers at December 31,
2019 as follows:
2020
32%
10%
<10%
<10%
<10%

Customer D
Customer E
C,ustomer F
Customer G
Customer H

2019
<10%
<10%
20%
14%
13%

Inventory
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value using the average cost method. The allowance for obsolete inventory as of December 31, 2020
and 2019 was $3,000. As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, inventories consisted of (in thousands):

Raw material
Finished goods
Total

$
$

Other Assets
Other Assets consisted of security deposits of $35,000 related to our business offices.
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$
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11
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Equity Method of Accounting
On March 20, 2020, we invested $100,000 into a South Korean entity (Odin Co. Ltd., “Odin”) pursuant to a Joint Venture agreement we had entered into with
BKT Co. Ltd. and its U.S. based subsidiary, Tomorrow Water. We received a 40% non-dilutive equity interest, and BKT and Tomorrow Water each received 30% equity
interests for an aggregate $150,000 investment.
We account for our investment in the joint venture under the equity method of accounting. We have determined that while we have significant influence over
the joint venture through our technology license and our position on the Board of Directors, we do not control the joint venture or are otherwise involved in managing
the entity and we own less than a majority of the equity. Therefore, we record the asset on our consolidated balance sheet and record an increase or decrease the
recorded balance by our percentage ownership of the profits or losses in the joint venture. During the nine months ended December 31, 2020, the joint venture incurred
a loss and our 40% ownership share reduced our investment interest by $37,000.
Impairment
Long-lived and definite lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
an asset may not be recoverable. If the sum of the expected future undiscounted cash flows from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition is less than the
carrying amount of the asset, then an impairment loss is recognized. The impairment loss is measured based on the fair value of the asset. Any resulting impairment is
recorded as a reduction in the carrying value of the related asset in excess of fair value and a charge to operating results. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, management determined that there was no impairment of its long-lived assets, including its In-process Research and Development (see Note 9).
Earnings (Loss) Per Share
We report basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) for common and common share equivalents. Basic EPS is computed by dividing reported earnings
by the weighted average shares outstanding. Diluted EPS is computed by adding to the weighted average shares the dilutive effect if convertible notes payable, stock
options and warrants were exercised into common stock. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the denominator in the diluted EPS computation is the same
as the denominator for basic EPS due to the Company’s net loss which creates an anti-dilutive effect of the convertible notes payable, warrants and stock options.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and revenues and expenses during the period reported. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Estimates are used when accounting for stockbased transactions, debt transactions, derivative liabilities, allowance for bad debt, asset depreciation and amortization, among others.
The methods, estimates and judgments we use in applying these most critical accounting policies have a significant impact on the results of our financial
statements.
Share-Based Compensation Expense
We recognize compensation expense for stock option awards on a straight-line basis over the applicable service period of the award, which is the vesting
period. Fair value is determined on the grant date. Share-based compensation expense is based on the grant date fair value estimated using the Black-Scholes Option
Pricing Model.
For stock and stock options issued to consultants and other non-employees for services, the Company measures and records an expense as of the earlier of the
date at which either: a commitment for performance by the non-employee has been reached or the non-employee’s performance is complete. The equity instruments are
measured at the current fair value, and for stock options, the instruments are measured at fair value using the Black Scholes option model.
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The following methodology and assumptions were used to calculate share-based compensation for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:

Risk free interest rate
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
Forfeiture rate
Life in years

Non Plan
0.66 – 1.02%
125 – 131%
—
—
10

2020
2007 Plan
0.64 – 1.90%
126 – 133%
—
—
10

Non Plan
1.68 – 2.65%
133 – 152%
—
—
10

2019
2018 Plan
1.68 – 2.65%
133 – 152%
—
—
10

Expected price volatility is the measure by which our stock price is expected to fluctuate during the expected term of an option. Expected volatility is derived
from the historical daily change in the market price of our common stock, as we believe that historical volatility is the best indicator of future volatility.
The risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes calculation is based on the prevailing U.S. Treasury yield as determined by the U.S. Federal Reserve. We
have never paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future.
Historically, we have not had significant forfeitures of unvested stock options granted to employees and Directors. A significant number of our stock option
grants are fully vested at issuance or have short vesting provisions. Therefore, we have estimated the forfeiture rate of our outstanding stock options as zero.
Warrants
Warrants issued with our convertible and non-convertible debt instruments are accounted for under the fair value and relative fair value method.
The warrant is first analyzed per its terms as to whether it has derivative features or not. If the warrant is determined to be a derivative and not qualify for equity
treatment, then it is measured at fair value using the Black Scholes option model, and recorded as a liability on the balance sheet. The warrant is re-measured at its then
current fair value at each subsequent reporting date (it is “marked-to-market”).
If the warrant is determined to not have derivative features, it is recorded into equity at its fair value using the Black Scholes option model, however, limited to a
relative fair value based upon the percentage of its fair value to the total fair value including the fair value of the convertible note.
Convertible debt instruments are recorded at fair value, limited to a relative fair value based upon the percentage of its fair value to the total fair value including
the fair value of the warrant. Further, the convertible debt instrument is examined for any intrinsic beneficial conversion feature (“BCF”) of which the conversion price is
less than the closing common stock price on date of issuance. If the relative fair value method is used to value the convertible debt instrument and there is an intrinsic
BCF, a further analysis is undertaken of the BCF using an effective conversion price which assumes the conversion price is the relative fair value divided by the number
of shares the convertible debt is converted into by its terms. The BCF value is accounted for as equity.
The warrant and BCF relative fair values are also recorded as a discount to the convertible promissory notes. As present, these equity features of the
convertible promissory notes have recorded a discount to the convertible notes that is substantially equal to the proceeds received.
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Non-Cash Transactions
We have established a policy relative to the methodology to determine the value assigned to each intangible we acquire, and/or services or products received
for non-cash consideration of our common stock. The value is based on the market price of our common stock issued as consideration, at the date of the agreement of
each transaction or when the service is rendered or product is received.
Revenue Recognition
We adopted ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”, Topic 606, on January 1, 2018. The guidance focuses on the core principle for revenue
recognition.
The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. To achieve that core principle, an entity should apply
the following steps:
Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer.
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract.
Step 3: Determine the transaction price.
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract.
Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.
We have revenue from four subsidiaries, ONM, BLEST, BioLargo Water, and Clyra. ONM, BioLargo Water, and Clyra identify its contract with the customer
through a written purchase order, in which the details of the contract are defined including the transaction price and method of shipment. The only performance
obligation is to create and ship the product and each product has separate pricing. Revenue is recognized at a point in time when the order for its goods are shipped if
its agreement with the customer is FOB manufacturer, and when goods are delivered to its customer if its agreement with the customer is FOB destination. Revenue is
recognized with a reduction for sales discounts, as appropriate and negotiated in the customer’s purchase order. ONM also installs misting systems for which it bills on
a time and materials basis. It identifies its contract with the customer through a written purchase order in which the details of the time to be billed and materials
purchased and an estimated completion date. The performance obligation is the completion of the installation, and at that time revenue is recognized.
BLEST identifies services to be performed in a written contract, which specifies the performance obligations and the rate at which the services will be billed.
Each service is separately negotiated and priced. Revenue is recognized as services are performed and completed. BLEST’s contracts typically call for invoicing for time
and materials incurred for that contract. A few contracts have called for milestone or fixed cost payments, where BLEST invoices an agreed-to amount per month for the
life of the contract. In these instances, completed work, billed hourly, is recognized as revenue. If the billing amount is greater or lesser than the completed work, a
receivable or payable is created. These accounts are adjusted upon additional billings as the work is completed. To date, there have been no discounts or other
financing terms for the contracts.
In the event that we generate revenues from royalties or license fees from our intellectual property, we anticipate a licensee would pay a license fee in one or
more installments and ongoing royalties based on their sales of products incorporating or using our licensed intellectual property. Upon entering into a licensing
agreement, we will determine the appropriate method of recognizing the royalty and license fees.
F-15

Table of Contents
BIOLARGO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Government Grants
We have been awarded multiple research grants from the Canadian National Research Institute – Industrial Research Assistance Program (NRC-IRAP) and the
National Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC). The grants received are considered other income and are included in our consolidated
statements of operations. We received our first grant in 2015 and have been awarded over 80 grants totaling over $3.7 million. Some of the funds from these grants are
given directly to third parties (such as the University of Alberta or a third-party research scientist) to support research on our technology. The grants have terms
generally ranging between six and eighteen months and support a majority, but not all, of the related research budget costs. This cooperative research allows us to
utilize (i) a depth of resources and talent to accomplish highly skilled work, (ii) financial aid to support research and development costs, (iii) independent and credible
validation of our technical claims.
The grants typically provide for (i) recurring monthly amounts, (ii) reimbursement of costs for research talent for which we invoice to request payment, and (iii)
ancillary cost reimbursement for research talent travel related costs. All awarded grants have specific requirements on how the money is spent, typically to employ
researchers. None of the funds may be used for general administrative expenses or overhead in the United States. These grants have substantially increased our level of
research and development activities in Canada. We continue to apply for Canadian government and agency grants to fund research and development activities. Not all
of our grant applications have been awarded, and no assurance can be made that any pending grant application, or any future grant applications, will be awarded.
Income Taxes
The asset and liability approach is used to recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of asset and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between financial
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse.
The effect on deferred tax asset and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.
We account for uncertainties in income tax law under a comprehensive model for the financial statement recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
of uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in income tax returns as prescribed by generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). Under GAAP, the tax
effects of a position are recognized only if it is “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained by the taxing authority as of the reporting date. If the tax position is not
considered “more-likely-than-not” to be sustained, then no benefits of the position are recognized. Management believes there are no unrecognized tax benefits or
uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.
The Company assessed its earnings history, trends and estimates of future earnings and determined that the deferred tax asset could not be realized as of
December 31, 2020. Accordingly, a valuation allowance was recorded against the net deferred tax asset.
The Company recognizes interest and penalties on income taxes as a component of income tax expense, should such an expense be realized.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Management believes the carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments (excluding debt and equity instruments) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019
approximate their respective fair values because of the short-term nature of these instruments. Such instruments consist of cash, accounts receivable, prepaid assets,
accounts payable, lines of credit, and other assets and liabilities.
Tax Credits
Our research and development activities in Canada may entitle our Canadian subsidiary to claim benefits under the “Scientific Research and Experimental
Development Program”, a Canadian federal tax incentive program designed to encourage Canadian businesses of all sizes and in all sectors to conduct research and
development in Canada. Benefits under the program include credits to taxable income. If our Canadian subsidiary does not have taxable income in a reporting period, we
instead receive a tax refund from the Canadian Revenue Authority. Those refunds are classified in Other Income on our Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Comprehensive Loss.
Leases
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU Update No. 2016-02, “Leases,” which requires lessees to recognize most leases on their balance sheets as a right-ofuse asset with a corresponding lease liability, and lessors to recognize a net lease investment. Additional qualitative and quantitative disclosures are also required (see
Note 13). We adopted this standard effective January 1, 2019 using the effective date option, as approved by the FASB in July 2018, which resulted in a $399,000 gross
up of assets and liabilities; this balance may fluctuate over time as we enter into new leases, extend or terminate current leases. Upon the transition to ASC 842, the
Company elected to use hindsight as a practical expedient with respect to determining the lease terms (as we considered our updated expectations of acceptance of the
Westminster California facility lease renewal) and in assessing any impairment of right-of-use assets for existing leases. No impairment is expected at this time. As of
December 31, 2020, the right-of-use assets and the lease liability on our balance sheet related to our operating leases totals $341,000.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In August 2020, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2020-06, “Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and
Derivatives and Hedging— Contracts in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity’s Own Equity”. For
convertible instruments, the FASB decided to reduce the number of accounting models for convertible debt instruments and convertible preferred stock. Limiting the
accounting models results in fewer embedded conversion features being separately recognized from the host contract as compared with current GAAP. Convertible
instruments that continue to be subject to separation models are (1) those with embedded conversion features that are not clearly and closely related to the host
contract, that meet the definition of a derivative, and that do not qualify for a scope exception from derivative accounting and (2) convertible debt instruments issued
with substantial premiums for which the premiums are recorded as paid-in capital. The FASB decided to amend the guidance for the derivatives scope exception for
contracts in an entity’s own equity to reduce form-over-substance-based accounting conclusions. The FASB observed that the application of the derivatives scope
exception guidance results in accounting for some contracts as derivatives while accounting for economically similar contracts as equity. The FASB also decided to
improve and amend the related EPS guidance. The amendments in this Update are effective for public business entities that meet the definition of a Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) filer, excluding entities eligible to be smaller reporting companies as defined by the SEC, for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021,
including interim periods within those fiscal years. For all other entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, including
interim periods within those fiscal years. Management is currently evaluating the effect on the Company’s financials if and when future convertible securities are issued.
This Update does not affect the Company’s current financial statements.
In January 2020, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No 2020-01, “Investments—Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments—Equity Method and
Joint Ventures (Topic 323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Clarifying the Interactions between Topic 321, Topic 323, and Topic 815”. This Update relates to the
Company’s equity method of accounting and the potential interactions between the measurement alternative in Topic 321 and the equity method of accounting in Topic
323 and that diverse views have emerged about the application of the measurement alternative and the equity method of accounting since the adoption of Update 201601. The measurement alternative is the ability to measure certain equity securities without a readily determinable fair value at cost, minus impairment, if any. Paragraph
321- 10-35-2, as amended, states that if an entity identifies observable price changes in orderly transactions for the identical or a similar investment of the same issuer, it
should measure the equity security at fair value as of the date that the observable transaction occurred (hereinafter referred to as the measurement alternative). The
amendments clarify that an entity should consider observable transactions that require it to either apply or discontinue the equity method of accounting for the
purposes of applying the measurement alternative in accordance with Topic 321 immediately before applying or upon discontinuing the equity method. For public
business entities, the amendments in this Update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within those fiscal years. For all
other entities, the amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within those fiscal years. At this time management
does not believe that adoption of this Update will have an effect on the Company’s financial statements.
Note 3. Sale of Stock for Cash
Lincoln Park Financing
On August 25, 2017, we entered into a stock purchase agreement (“2017 LPC Purchase Agreement”) with Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC (“Lincoln Park”),
pursuant to which Lincoln Park had agreed to purchase from us at our request up to an aggregate of $10 million of our common stock (subject to certain limitations) from
time to time over a period of three years.
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On March 30, 2020, we entered into a stock purchase agreement (the “2020 LPC Purchase Agreement”) with Lincoln Park, pursuant to which Lincoln Park
agreed to purchase from us at our request up to an aggregate of $10,250,000 of our common stock (subject to certain limitations) from time to time over a period of three
years. The agreement allows us, at our sole discretion, to direct Lincoln Park to purchase shares of our common stock, subject to limitations in both volume and dollar
amount. The purchase price of the shares that may be sold to Lincoln Park under the agreement is the lower of (i) the lowest sale price on the date of purchase, or (ii) the
average of the three lowest closing prices in the prior 12 business days. There are no restrictions on future financings, rights of first refusal, participation rights,
penalties or liquidated damages other than a prohibition on entering into a “Variable Rate Transaction,” as defined in the agreement. This agreement replaced the August
2017 agreement with Lincoln Park. Concurrently with the 2020 LPC Purchase Agreement, we entered into a Registration Rights Agreement, pursuant to which we filed a
registration statement on Form S-1 with the SEC on April 10, 2020. This registration statement was declared effective on April 21, 2020, and as of April 29, 2020, we
commenced regular purchases under the agreement.
Pursuant to the 2020 LPC Purchase Agreement, we issued 2,928,571 shares to Lincoln Park as a commitment fee, valued at $527,000 and recorded as additional
paid in capital on our consolidated balance sheet.
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we sold 13,388,642 and 556,144 shares to Lincoln Park, and received $2,058,000 and $125,000 in gross and
net proceeds. Subsequent to December 31, 2020, we continue to draw on the 2020 LPC Purchase Agreement for working capital (see Note 14).
2020 Unit Offering
Pursuant to an offering commenced in May 2020, we sold 2,374,335 of our common stock and received $367,000 in gross and net proceeds from six accredited
investors. In addition to the share, we issued each shareholder a six-month and a five-year warrant to purchase additional share (see Note 6, “Warrants Issued in 2020
Unit Offering”).
BKT Joint Venture
On February 12, 2020, we executed a “Joint Venture Framework Agreement” with a leading wastewater treatment solution provider based in South Korea (BKT
Co. Ltd., “BKT”), to create a South Korean entity that would manufacture odor and VOC control products based on our CupriDyne Clean products. We received a
$350,000 investment from BKT and issued 1,593,087 shares of our common stock, and invested $100,000 into the joint venture for a 40% ownership share.
F-18

Table of Contents
BIOLARGO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 4. Debt Obligations
The following table summarizes our debt obligations outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 (in thousands). The table does not include debt obligations
of our partially owned subsidiary Clyra Medical (see Note 10, “Debt Obligations of Clyra Medical”).
December 31,
2020
Current portion of debt:
Note payable, matures on demand 60 days’ notice (or March 8, 2023)
Line of credit, matures on 30-day demand
Total notes payable and line of credit
Convertible notes payable:
Convertible note, matured April 7, 2020
Convertible note, matured June 20, 2020(1)
Convertible twelve-month OID notes, mature beginning June 2020(1)
Convertible note payable, matures April 20, 2021(1)
Convertible note payable, matures August 9, 2021
Convertible notes, mature August 12 and 16, 2021(2)
Total convertible notes payable
Total current liabilities

$

Long-term debt:
Convertible note payable, matures August 9, 2021
SBA Paycheck Protection Program loans, mature April 2022
SBA EIDL Loan, matures July 2050
Convertible notes payable, mature April 20, 2021(1)
Total long-term liabilities

(2)

$

—
—
—
100
600
406
1,106
1,206

$

Total
(1)

$

50
50
100

2019
$
$

50
50
100

$

270
25
3,112
—
—
550
3,957
4,057

$

$

—
357
150
—
507

$

600
—
—
100
700

$

1,713

$

4,757

These notes are convertible at our option at maturity.
These notes are convertible by the noteholders, and not convertible by the Company.

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we recorded $1,923,000 and $3,996,000 of interest expense related to the amortization of discounts on
convertible notes payable and coupon interest from our convertible notes and lines of credit.
Note payable, matures on demand 60 day’s notice (or March 8, 2023)
On March 8, 2018, we received $50,000 and entered into a note payable. The note is due on upon demand from the noteholder, with sixty days’ notice. In the
absence of the demand, the maturity date is March 8, 2023. (See Note 14, Subsequent Events.)** if this is the Kelber note- the demand was waived in Q1 for additional
consideration- check that
Lines of credit, due on demand
On March 1, 2018, we received $390,000, and on September 1, 2018, we received $40,000, pursuant to a line of credit accruing interest at a rate of 18% per annum,
for which we have pledged our inventory and accounts receivable as collateral. Interest is paid quarterly; the holder may choose to receive interest payments in (i) cash,
(ii) our common stock, calculated based on the 20-day average closing price, or (iii) options to purchase our common stock, priced at the 20-day average closing price,
the number of shares doubled, and expiring 10 years from the date of grant.
The holders of the line of credit has the right to call due the outstanding principal amount on 30-days’ notice at any time after September 1, 2019.
During July and August 2019, line of credit holders in the principal amount of $205,000, agreed to satisfy the line of credit through the issuance of an amended
and restated convertible promissory note totaling $256,000 due in 12 months, August 2020, including a 25% original issue discount. They also received a warrant to
purchase 1,130,515 shares of our common stock (see Note 6). The amended and restated note is convertible by the holder at $0.17 per share. The interest rate was
reduced from 18% to 5% per annum.
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The total of the fair value of the warrant and the fair value of the new note and its beneficial conversion feature exceeded the carrying value of the old note by
$315,000, resulting in a loss on debt extinguishment recorded on our statement of operations.
During the three months ended December 31, 2019, $175,000 was paid to line of credit holder. As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, the line of credit outstanding
balance totaled $50,000. The line of credit was paid subsequent to year end (see Note 14.)
Convertible Note, matured April 7, 2020 (Vista Capital)
On January 7, 2019, Vista Capital Investments, LLC (“Vista Capital”) invested $300,000 and we issued a convertible promissory note (the “Vista 2019 Note”) in
the principal amount of $330,000, maturing nine months from the date of issuance (October 7, 2019). The Vista 2019 Note earned a one-time interest charge of 12%,
recorded as a discount on convertible notes and will be amortized over the term of the note. The Vista 2019 Note allowed Vista Capital to convert the note to our common
stock at any time at a price equal to 65% of the lowest closing bid price of the Company’s common stock during the 25 consecutive trading days immediately preceding
the conversion date. The Vista 2019 Note includes a term that allows Vista Capital to adopt any term of a future financing more favorable than what is provided in the
note. For example, these provisions could include a more favorable interest rate, conversion price, or original issue discount. The intrinsic value of the beneficial
conversion feature resulted in a fair value totaling $300,000, and is recorded as a discount on convertible notes on our balance sheet. This discount was amortized over
the term of the note as interest expense.
On August 13, 2019, we and Vista Capital amended the note extending the maturity date to April 7, 2020.
On November 22, 2019 and December 17, 2019, Vista Capital elected to convert $50,000, totaling $100,000, into 690,530 shares of common stock. As of December
31, 2019, the outstanding balance on this note totaled $270,000.
During the three months ended March 31, 2020, Vista Capital elected to convert the remaining balance of $270,000 of the outstanding principal and interest due
on the note, and we issued 2,417,059 shares of our common stock.
Convertible Notes, mature June 20, 2020 (Summer 2017 Unit Offering)
We received a total of $604,000 of investments in our Summer 2017 Unit Offering and issued convertible promissory notes at $0.42 a share.
As of December 31, 2019, one note in the principal amount of $25,000 remained outstanding on this offering.
On June 20, 2020, we elected to convert $25,000 of the remaining outstanding principal on a convertible note issued as part of our Summer 2017 offering and
issued 83,334 shares of our common stock.
Convertible Twelve-month OID notes
From June 7, 2019 through September 30, 2019, we received $2,235,000 and issued convertible promissory notes (each, a “Twelve-Month OID Note”) in the
aggregate principal amount of $2,794,000, with a 25% original issue discount, to 34 accredited investors. The original issuance discount totaled $559,000 and is recorded
as a discount on convertible notes payable on our balance sheet. The intrinsic value of the beneficial conversion features resulted in an aggregate fair value of
$2,235,000, and is recorded as a discount on convertible notes on our balance sheet. The discounts were amortized and recorded to interest expense over the term of the
notes. These notes each mature twelve months from the date of issuance.
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During the three months ended September 30, 2019, in exchange for $305,000 of convertible note payables that were coming due, we issued an additional
$381,000 in Twelve-Month OID Notes, with a 25% original issue discount. The original issue discount totaled $76,000 and is recorded as a discount on convertible notes
payable on our balance sheet. The intrinsic value of the beneficial conversion features resulted in an aggregate fair value of $381,000 and is recorded as debt
extinguishment expense on our statement of operations. The discount will be amortized and recorded to interest expense over the term of the notes. These notes mature
twelve months from the date of issuance.
Each Twelve-month OID Note was convertible by the investor at any time at $0.17 per share. The notes earned interest at a rate of five percent (5%) per annum,
due at maturity. At the maturity of each note, the Company exercised its right to redeem the notes through the issuance of common stock at a conversion price equal to
the lower of the “conversion price” (initially $0.17, as may be adjusted), and 70% of the lowest daily volume weighted average price of the Company’s common stock
during the 25 trading days preceding the conversion date.
During 2020, $3,112,000 of the remaining outstanding principal of Twelve-Month OID Notes was converted, and we issued 30,208,453 shares of our common
stock. Of that amount, 1,415,221 shares were issued as payment for interest due on the notes.
Convertible Note, matures April 20, 2021 (Spring 2018 Unit Offering)
In March 2018 we received one investment of $100,000 for a promissory note convertible at $0.30 per share. This investment was received from an entity
owned/controlled by a member of our board of directors. In light of the decreasing price of our common stock, in September 2018, we issued a pricing supplement
reducing the unit price to $0.25 per share, reducing the unit price of the prior investor to $0.25 per share. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, $100,000 was outstanding.
We intend to convert this note to equity at its April 20, 2021 maturity.
Convertible note, matures August 9, 2021
On August 9, 2019, we received $600,000 from one accredited investor and issued a promissory note in the principal amount of $600,000, maturing in two years,
accruing interest at 15% to be paid in cash monthly, and which converts to common stock at the holder’s option at $0.30 per share. This investor also received a warrant
to purchase 1,200,000 shares of our common stock at $0.30 per share, expiring five years from the grant date (see Note 6). Subsequent to December 31, 2020, we paid the
outstanding principal of this note in full (see Note 14).
Convertible notes, mature August 12 and 16, 2021
On September 19, 2018, we received $400,000 and issued promissory notes originally due January 5, 2019 and incurring interest at an annual rate of 12% to two
investors (Vernal Bay Investments, LLC (“Vernal”) and Chappy Bean, LLC (“Chappy Bean”)).
We and the noteholders agreed to extend the maturity dates of the notes multiple times in 2019. In August, 2019, we made a partial payment to one of the
noteholders, and agreed to refinance the remaining $440,000 principal and interest through the issuance of amended and restated convertible promissory notes due in 12
months, which included a 25% original issue discount, and is convertible by the holders at $0.17 per share. The interest rate was reduced from 18% to 5% per annum.
The terms of the investment are similar to that offered to the Twelve-month OID note investors (see section above titled “Convertible Twelve-month OID Notes”), and
thus we issued warrants in conjunction with the amended and restated notes (see Note 6). Including the OID, the principal amount due on the notes is $550,000. The
total of the fair value of the warrants and the fair value of the new notes and their beneficial conversion features exceeded the carrying value of the old notes by
$422,000, resulting in a loss on debt extinguishment recorded on our statement of operations.
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On August 10, 2020, we entered into an agreement to extend the maturity date of the Vernal note to August 12, 2021. As consideration for the extension of the
maturity date, we agreed to lower the conversion price from $0.17 to $0.14, extend the expiration date from September 18, 2023 to September 18, 2025, of a warrant issued
to Vernal to purchase 1,734,375 shares of common stock, and extend the expiration date from August 12, 2024 to August 12, 2025 of a warrant issued to Vernal to
purchase 2,095,588 shares of common stock. The fair value of the reduced conversion price and extended warrant expirations dates resulted in a fair value totaling
$228,000, recorded as a loss on extinguishment on our statement of operations. Vernal subsequently converted $119,000 of principal into 848,214 shares of common stock
and $24,000 of accrued interest into 169,643 shares of common stock. The outstanding balance of this note as of December 31, 2020 was $356,000.
On August 10, 2020, we and Chappy Bean entered into an agreement in which we agreed to pay $25,000 in cash, and the holder agreed to extend the maturity
date of the note to August 16, 2021. The outstanding balance of this note as of December 31, 2020 was $50,000.
SBA Program Loans
In April 2020, our subsidiaries ONM, BLEST and Clyra received $218,000, $96,000 and $43,000, respectively, received loans pursuant to the U.S. Small Business
Administration Paycheck Protection Program. The loans mature in two years and incur interest at 1%. Management believes that it has fully complied with the terms of
forgiveness as set forth by the Small Business Administration, and subsequent to December 31, 2020, filed forgiveness applications.
Our subsidiary ONM received an Economic Injury Disaster loan from the U.S. Small Business Administration of $150,000. The term of the loan is 30 years and
has a 3.75% interest rate. Monthly payments of $800 begin July 2021.
Note 5. Share-Based Compensation
Restricted Stock Units
On May 28, 2019, our Compensation Committee, in conjunction with the approval of a new employment agreement for our Vice President of Operations and
President of our subsidiary ONM, granted Joseph L. Provenzano a restricted stock unit of 500,000 shares of common stock, subject to the execution of a “lock-up
agreement” whereby the shares remain unvested unless and until the earlier of (i) a sale of the Company, (ii) the successful commercialization of the Company’s products
or technologies as demonstrated by its receipt of at least $3,000,000 in cash, or the recognition of $3,000,000 in revenue, over a 12-month period from the sale of products
and/or the license of technology, and (iii) the Company’s breach of the employment agreement resulting in his termination.
Issuance of Common Stock in exchange for payment of payables
Payment of Officer Salaries
During the year ended December 31, 2020, we were unable to pay our officer salaries in full, as such, our officers agreed to convert $299,000 of accrued and
unpaid salary into 2,017,928 shares of our common stock. The unpaid salary is converted on the last day of each quarter as follows: December 31, 2020, we issued
652,100 shares of our common stock at $0.12 per share; on September 30, 2020, we issued 349,670 shares of our common stock at $0.15; on June 30, 2020, we issued
367,403 shares of our common stock at $0.16; on March 31, 2020, we issued 648,755 shares of our common stock at $0.17 per share.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we were unable to pay our officer salaries in full, as such, our officers agreed to convert $210,000 of accrued and
unpaid salary into 1,080,951 shares of our common stock. The unpaid salary is converted on the last day of each quarter as follows: September 30, 2019, we issued 35,080
shares of our common stock at $0.31 per share; June 28, 2019, we issued 465,875 shares of our common stock at $0.23 per share; March 29, 2019, we issued 579,996
shares of our common stock at $0.16 per share.
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Shares issued to Officers are unvested at the date of grant and subject to a lock-up agreement restricting vesting and sale until the earlier of (i) the
consummation of a sale (in a single transaction or in a series of related transactions) of BioLargo by means of a sale of (a) a majority of the then outstanding common
stock of BioLargo (whether by merger, consolidation, sale or transfer of common stock, reorganization, recapitalization or otherwise) or (b) all or substantially all of the
assets of BioLargo; and (ii) the successful commercialization of BioLargo’s products or technologies as demonstrated by its receipt of at least $3,000,000 in cash, or the
recognition of $3,000,000 in revenue, over a 12-month period from the sale of products and/or the license of technology; and (iii) the Company’s breach of the
employment agreement between the Company and Officer and resulting in Officer’s termination.
Payment of Consultant Fees
During 2020, we were unable to pay our consultant fees in full, as such, agreed to convert $366,000 accrued and unpaid obligations into 2,440,803 shares of our
common stock. The unpaid obligation is converted on the last day of each quarter as follows: December 31, 2020, we issued 373,438 shares of our common stock at $0.12
per share; September 30, 2020, we issued 270,000 shares of our common stock at $0.15 per share; June 30, 2020, we issued 1,406,630 shares of our common stock at $0.16
per share; March 31, 2020, we issued 390,735 shares of our common stock at $0.17 per share.
During 2019, we were unable to pay our consultant fees in full, as such, agreed to convert $500,000 of accrued and unpaid obligations into 2,237,539 shares of
our common stock. The unpaid obligation is converted on the last day of each quarter as follows: December 31, 2019, we issued 528,001 shares of our common stock at
$0.23 per share; September 30, 2019, we issued 594,118 shares of our common stock at $0.26 per share; June 30, 2019, we issued 515,809 shares of our common stock at an
average of $0.21 per share; March 29, 2019, we issued 649,545 shares of our common stock at $0.17 per share.
All of these offerings and sales were made in reliance on the exemption from registration contained in Section 4(2) of the Securities Exchange Act and/or
Regulation D promulgated thereunder as not involving a public offering of securities.
Payment of Interest
During 2020, pursuant to terms included in our debt agreements, we converted $184,000 accrued interest into 1,728,331 shares of our common stock as follows:
September 30, 2020, we issued 1,412,052 shares of our common stock at $0.11 per share; June 30, 2020, we issued 297,001 shares of our common stock at $0.16 per share;
March 31, 2020, we issued 19,278 shares of our common stock at $0.17 per share.
During 2019, pursuant to terms included in our debt agreements, we converted $200,000 accrued interest into 927,318 shares of our common stock as follows:
December 31, 2019 we issued 292,380 shares of our common stock at $0.18 per share, we issued 395,944 shares of our common stock at $0.27 per share; during the three
months ended June 30, 2019, we issued 87,478 shares of our common stock, at an average of $0.17 per share; during the three months ended March 31, 2019, we issued
139,362 shares of our common stock at an average of $0.18 per share.
All of these offerings and sales were made in reliance on the exemption from registration contained in Section 4(2) of the Securities Exchange Act and/or
Regulation D promulgated thereunder as not involving a public offering of securities.
Stock Option Expense
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we recorded an aggregate $1,821,000 and $1,552,000, in selling general and administrative expense related
to the issuance of stock options. We issued options through our 2018 Equity Incentive Plan, our now expired 2007 Equity Incentive Plan, and outside of these plans. See
Note 8 for information on stock option expense for options issued by subsidiary Clyra Medical.
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2018 Equity Incentive Plan
On June 22, 2018, our stockholders adopted the BioLargo 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (“2018 Plan”) as a means of providing our directors, key employees and
consultants additional incentive to provide services. Both stock options and stock grants may be made under this plan for a period of 10 years. It is set to expire on its
terms on June 22, 2028. Our Board of Director’s Compensation Committee administers this plan. As plan administrator, the Compensation Committee has sole discretion
to set the price of the options. The plan authorizes the following types of awards: (i) incentive and non-qualified stock options, (ii) restricted stock awards, (iii) stock
bonus awards, (iv) stock appreciation rights, (v) restricted stock units, and (vi) performance awards. The total number of shares reserved and available for awards
pursuant to this Plan as of the date of adoption of this 2018 Plan by the Board is 40 million shares. The number of shares available to be issued under the 2018 Plan
increases automatically each January 1st by the lesser of (a) 2 million shares, or (b) such number of shares determined by our Board.
Activity for our stock options under the 2018 Plan during the year ended December 31, 2019, and the year ended December 31, 2020, is as follows:

Options
Outstanding
Balance, December 31, 2018
1,318,517
7,895,839
Granted
Balance, December 31, 2019
9,214,356
Granted
11,197,687
(1,546,518)
Expired
Balance, December 31, 2020
18,865,525
(6,418,622)
Non-vested
12,446,903
Vested, December 31, 2020
(1) – Aggregate intrinsic value based on closing common stock price of $0.12 at December 31, 2020.

Exercise
Price per share
$0.22 – 0.43
$0.16 – 0.40
$0.16 – 0.43
$0.12 – 0.40

$
$
$
$

Weighted
Average
Price per
share
0.30
0.25
0.25
0.15

$0.16 – 0.40
$0.17 – 0.45
$0.16 – 0.45

$
$
$

0.19
0.19
0.18

Aggregate
intrinsic
Value(1)

$

—

The options granted under the 2018 Plan to purchase 11,197,687 shares during 2020 were issued to officers, board of directors, employees and consultants: (i)
we issued options to purchase 4,880,945 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $0.14 per share to employees and consultants as a bonus during the COVID19 pandemic. These options vest quarterly over one year and the fair value totaled $616,000; (ii) we issued options to purchase 517,500 shares of our common stock at
an exercise price range of $0.14 – $0.21 per share to our CFO, with 492,500 shares having vested during 2020, and the remaining shares to vest 25,000 in January 31, 2021,
the fair value of the options issued to our CFO totals $100,000; (iii) we issued options to purchase 1,746,434 shares of our common stock at an exercise price on the
respective grant date of $0.17 ,$0.16, $0.15 and $0.12 per share to members of our board of directors for services performed, all options vested at issuance and the fair
value of these options totaled $250,000; (iv) we issued options to purchase 2,019,556 shares of our common stock to employees as part of an employee retention plan at
an exercise price on the respective date of $0.17, $0.16, $0.15 and $0.12 per share; the fair value of employee retention plan options totaled $277,000 and vest quarterly
over four years as long as they are retained as employees; (v) we issued options to purchase 531,298 shares of our common stock to consultants in lieu of cash for
unpaid obligations totaling $74,000; and (vi) we issued options to purchase 1,501,954 shares of common stock at an exercise price ranging between $0.14 – $0.17 per
share to employees to convert accrued and unpaid obligations and for previously issued options that expire. All of these options vested at issuance and the fair value
totaled $198,000. All stock option expense is recorded on our consolidated statement of operations as selling, general and administrative expense.
The options to purchase 7,895,839 shares granted during the year ended December 31, 2019 are comprised of options issued to employees, consultants,
officers, and directors. We issued options to purchase 6,614,381 shares of our common stock employees as part of their employment agreement and as part of an
employee retention program on their respective grant dates ranging between $0.16 – $0.40 per share. The vesting terms for employment agreements generally called for a
portion of option to vest immediately and the remaining portion to vest over four years. Certain option issuances to our officers and employees have vesting terms that
are based on metrics over a period of time, these are described in more detail below. We issued options to purchase 1,281,458 shares of our common stock to members of
our board of directors for services performed, in lieu of cash, at an exercise price on the respective grant dates ranging between $0.16 – $0.32 per share.
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Chief Financial Officer Contract Extension
On January 16, 2019, we agreed to extend the engagement agreement dated February 1, 2008 (the “Engagement Agreement”, which had been previously
extended multiple times) with our Chief Financial Officer, Charles K. Dargan, II. The Engagement Extension Agreement dated as of January 16, 2019 (the “Engagement
Extension Agreement”) provides for an additional term to expire September 30, 2019 (the “Extended Term”), and is retroactively effective to the termination of the prior
extension on September 30, 2018. Mr. Dargan has been serving as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer since such termination pursuant to the terms of the December
31, 2018 extension.
For the Extended Term, Mr. Dargan was issued an option (“Option”) to purchase 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, at a strike price equal to the
closing price of the Company’s common stock on January 16, 2019 of $0.22, to expire January 16, 2029, and to vest over the term of the engagement with 75,000 shares
having vested as of December 31, 2018, and the remaining shares to vest 25,000 shares monthly beginning January 31, 2019, and each month thereafter, so long as the
Engagement Agreement is in full force and effect. The Option was issued pursuant to the Company’s 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.
The issuance of the Option is Mr. Dargan’s sole source of compensation for the Extended Term. As was the case in all prior terms of his engagement, there is
no cash component of his compensation for this term. Mr. Dargan is eligible to be reimbursed for business expenses he incurs in connection with the performance of his
services as the Company’s Chief Financial Officer (although he has made no such requests for reimbursement in the past). All other provisions of the Engagement
Agreement not expressly amended pursuant to the Engagement Extension Agreement remain the same, including provisions regarding indemnification and arbitration of
disputes.
See also Note 14, Subsequent Events.
Vice President of Operations Contract Extension
On May 28, 2019, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the terms of an employment agreement for Joseph L. Provenzano to
continue his work as Vice President of Operations and President of our subsidiary ONM, and granted to Mr. Provenzano an incentive stock option to purchase 1,000,000
shares of the Company’s common stock pursuant to the terms of our 2018 Plan. The exercise price and fair value of the option is equal to the closing price of our
common stock on the May 28, 2019 grant date, at $0.17 per share. The option will vest annually in 200,000 increments over five years. The option may be exercised for up
to ten years following the grant date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any portion of the option which has not yet vested shall be immediately vested in the event of,
and prior to, a change of control, as defined in Mr. Provenzano’s employment agreement.
Vice President of Sales
On May 28, 2019, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the terms of an employment agreement for our Vice President of Sales and
issued him options to purchase an aggregate 1,200,000 shares of the Company’s common stock pursuant to the terms of our 2018 Plan. The exercise price of the first
option to purchase 200,000 shares is equal to the closing price of our common stock on the May 28 grant date, at $0.17 per share. One-third of the option vests upon
grant, the next third at the first anniversary of the grant, and the final third upon the second anniversary of the grant. The remaining options to purchase an aggregate
1,000,000 shares are unvested at grant date, and contingent upon certain performance metrics based on sales of our ONM subsidiary, none of which have been met. As
such, no additional fair value was recorded and we are unable to estimate at this time if these metrics will be met. Upon execution of his employment agreement on July 5,
2019, an additional option to purchase 300,000 shares was granted, with an exercise price as of July 5 ($0.25), vesting 100,000 shares on the first, second and third
anniversary of the agreement.
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Director of Business Development for ONM
On July 23, 2019, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the terms of an employment agreement for ONM’s Director of Business
Development, who also serves as BioLargo’s Director of Corporate Development, and issued him options to purchase an aggregate 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock at $0.35 per share pursuant to the terms of our 2018 Plan. The first option allows the purchase of 400,000 shares and vests 100,000, 90 days after issuance,
100,000 shares on the first anniversary, and 200,000 shares on the second anniversary of the employment agreement. The remaining options to purchase an aggregate
600,000 shares are unvested at grant date, and contingent upon certain performance metrics based on sales of our ONM subsidiary, none of which have been met. As
such, no additional fair value was recorded and we are unable to estimate at this time if these metrics will be met. This individual resigned in August, 2020, and unvested
options ceased vesting after that date.
2007 Equity Incentive Plan
On September 7, 2007, and as amended April 29, 2011, the BioLargo, Inc. 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (“2007 Plan”) was adopted as a means of providing our
directors, key employees and consultants additional incentive to provide services. Both stock options and stock grants may be made under this plan for a period of 10
years, which expired on September 7, 2017. The Board’s Compensation Committee administers this plan. As plan administrator, the Compensation Committee has sole
discretion to set the price of the options. As of September 2017, the Plan was closed to further stock option grants.
Activity for our stock options under the 2007 Plan for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020 is as follows:

Balance, December 31, 2018
Expired
Balance, December 31, 2019
Expired
Balance, December 31, 2020
(1)

Options
Outstanding
9,691,586
(922,135)
8,769,451
(3,080,088)
5,689,363

Exercise
price per share
0.22 – 0.94
0.45 – 0.55
$0.22 – 0.94
0.22 – 0.58
$0.23 – 0.94

$
$

Weighted
Average
Price per
share
0.43
0.49
0.43
0.38
0.44

Aggregate
intrinsic
Value(1)

$

—

– Aggregate intrinsic value based on closing common stock price of $0.12 at December 31, 2020.
Non-Plan Options issued

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we issued options to purchase 1,145,476 shares of our common stock at exercise prices ranging between $0.12 –
$0.21 per share to vendors for fees for services. The fair value of the options issued totaled $167,000 and is recorded in our selling, general and administrative expense.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we issued options to purchase 1,226,586 shares of our common stock at exercise prices ranging between $0.16 –
$0.32 per share to vendors for fees for services. The fair value of the options issued totaled $260,000 and is recorded in our selling, general and administrative expense.
F-26

Table of Contents
BIOLARGO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Activity of our non-plan stock options issued for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

Non-plan
Options
outstanding
19,319,496
1,226,586
(941,975)
19,604,107
1,145,476
20,749,583
(2,369,708)
18,379,875

Balance, December 31, 2018
Granted
Expired
Balance, December 31, 2019
Granted
Balance, December 31, 2020
Unvested
Vested and outstanding, December 31, 2020

0.23
0.16
0.45
$0.16
0.12
$0.12
$0.23

Exercise
price per share
– 1.00
– 0.32
– 0.55
– 1.00
– 0.21
– 1.00
0.45
– 1.00

$
$
$

Weighted
average
price per
share
0.43
0.21
0.52
0.43
0.15
0.41
0.45
0.41

Aggregate
intrinsic
value(1)

$

—

(1) – Aggregate intrinsic value based on closing common stock price of $0.12 at December 31, 2020.

Note 6. Warrants
We have certain warrants outstanding to purchase our common stock, at various prices, as described in the following table:

Warrants
Exercise
outstanding
price per share
Balance, December 31, 2018
26,872,430
$0.25 – 1.00
Granted
24,490,687
0.25 – 0.48
Exercised
(7,544,456)
0.30
(587,500)
Expired
0.40
Balance, December 31, 2019
43,231,161
$0.25 – 1.00
Granted
5,594,314
0.13 – 0.27
(15,844,486)
Expired
0.18 – 0.70
32,980,989
Balance, December 31, 2020
$0.13 – 1.00
(1) – Aggregate intrinsic value based on closing common stock price of $0.12 at December 31, 2020.

$

$

$

Weighted
average
price per
share
0.43
0.29
0.30
0.40
0.35
0.20
0.43
0.29

Aggregate
intrinsic
value(1)

$

—

Warrants issued in 2020 Unit Offering
During the year ended December 31, 2020, pursuant to our 2020 Unit Offering (see Note 3), we issued six-month stock purchase warrants to purchase an
aggregate 2,318,194 shares of our common stock at prices from $0.18 - $0.22 per share, and five-year stock purchase warrants to purchase an aggregate 2,318,194 shares
of our common stock at prices from $0.23 - $0.27 per share.
Warrants Issued to One-Year Noteholders
In conjunction with two investments of one-year convertible notes (see Note 4, “Convertible notes, mature August 12 and 16, 2021”) we issued warrants in
July 2017 to purchase an aggregate 400,000 shares to two investors at an exercise price of $0.65 per share. Each of these warrants contained provisions that required a
reduction to the exercise price and increase to the number of warrant shares in the event that we sold our common stock at a lower price than the exercise price (subject
to some exceptions). During the year ended December 31, 2020, in conjunction with extensions of the maturity dates of these notes, we adjusted downward the warrant
exercise price to $0.13, resulting in an increase of 957,926 warrants available for exercise. The increase in warrants resulted in a fair value totaling $117,000, recorded as a
deemed dividend in our consolidated statement of stockholders’ equity.
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Warrants issued as part of debt extension and extinguishment
On March 5, 2019, we executed amendments extending the maturity dates of notes issued to Vernal Bay and Chappy Bean (see Note 4, subsection titled “Notes
payable, mature August 12 and 16, 2020 (previously due September 6, 2019)”). As consideration for this extension, we agreed to reduce the exercise price from $0.25
to $0.20 per share, and increase the number of shares purchasable by the warrants from 1,987,500 to 2,484,375. In doing so, the maximum investment amount under each
warrant remained the same.
In conjunction with the refinance of the Vernal and Chappy Bean notes in August 2019, Vernal received a warrant to purchase 2,095,588 shares of our common
stock, expiring in five years, and which may be exercised at $0.25 per share, and Chappy Bean received a warrant to purchase 330,882 shares of our common stock under
the same terms.
Warrants issued as part of line of credit extinguishment
In July and August 2019, we issued warrants to purchase an aggregate 1,130,515 shares of our common stock to three line of credit holders who had agreed to
convert their line of credit into an amended and restated note plus a warrant (see Note 4, “Line of credit, due on demand”). The warrant expires in five years and may be
exercised at $0.25 per share.
Warrants issued as part of 2018 OID extinguishment
On September 12 and September 16, 2019, the holders of a convertible note in the aggregate principal amount of $100,000, agreed to satisfy the note through the
issuance of an amended and restated convertible promissory note due in 12 months, September 12 and September 16, 2020, including a 25% original issue discount (see
Note 4) and a warrant to purchase 551,471 shares of our common stock. The warrant expires in five years and may be exercised at $0.25 per share.
Warrants issued as consent for variable rate debt waiver
On January 7 and January 31, 2019, Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC agreed to waive the provisions of the Purchase Agreement dated August 25, 2017,
prohibiting variable rate transactions. As consideration for the waivers, we issued to Lincoln Park a warrant to purchase 300,000 shares of our common stock at $0.25 per
share, expiring five years from the date of grant. The fair value of these warrants totaled $54,000 and was recorded as a discount on note payable on our consolidated
balance sheet and will amortize to interest expense in 2019 over the term of the notes. (See Note 4.)
Warrants issued concurrently with the Nine-month OID notes
In conjunction with the issuance of nine-month OID notes, we issued each investor a warrant to purchase common stock for $0.25 per share, expiring 5 years
from the date of issuance. During the three months ended March 31, 2019, we issued warrants to purchase 637,500 shares of our common stock to the three investors.
The fair value of these warrants totaled $89,000 and was recorded as a discount on note payable on our consolidated balance sheet and will amortize to interest expense
over the term of the notes. On June 7, 2019, we reduced the conversion prices of the notes from $0.25 to $0.17, and this resulted in an increase in the number of warrants
purchasable by the investors by 300,000 to 937,500, which resulted our recording the fair value of $84,000, which is recorded as a deemed dividend.
Warrants Issued concurrently with Twelve-month OID notes
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we issued warrants to purchase 12,325,370 shares of our common stock to purchasers of our Twelve-month OID
Notes (see Note 4). The warrants allow the holder to purchase common stock for $0.25 per share, expiring 5 years from the date of issuance. The number of shares
purchasable under each warrant was equal to the 75% of the principal balance of the investor’s note, divided by $0.17 (thus, for example, a $300,000 investment would
yield a note with principal balance of $375,000, and a warrant allowing for the purchase of up to 1,654,412 shares). The fair value and BCF of these warrants totaled
$2,240,000 and was recorded as a discount on note payable on our consolidated balance sheet and will amortize to interest expense over the term of the notes.
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Warrants Issued concurrently with the Convertible Note due August 9, 2021
In conjunction with an August 2019 investment and the issuance of a convertible note due August 9, 2021 (see Note 4), we issued an investor a warrant to
purchase 1,200,000 shares of our common stock for $0.30 per share, expiring 5 years from the date of issuance. The fair value and BCF of these warrants totaled $198,000
and was recorded as a discount on note payable on our consolidated balance sheet and will amortize to interest expense over the term of the note.
Exercise of Warrants
During the year ended December 31, 2019, we issued 7,544,456 shares of our common stock from the exercise of outstanding stock purchase warrants and in
exchange we received proceeds totaling $560,000.
On June 24, 2019, Vista Capital exercised its stock purchase warrant issued September 12, 2018, electing to utilize the cashless exercise feature in the warrant.
The cashless exercise formula required the issuance of 2,877,790 shares of common stock. The increase of 2,520,780 available shares under the warrant was the result of
the downward adjustment of the exercise price (pursuant to price protection features in the warrant), resulting in a fair value totaling $355,000, which is recorded as a
deemed dividend in our statement of stockholders’ equity.
Fair Value – Interest Expense
To determine interest expense related to our outstanding warrants issued in conjunction with debt offerings, the fair value of each award grant is estimated on
the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the relative fair values are amortized over the life of the warrant. For the determination of expense of
warrants issued for services, extinguishment of debt and settlement management also uses the option-pricing model. The principal assumptions we used in applying this
model were as follows:
2020
– 0.23%
– 112%
—
—
2 – 5

Risk free interest rate
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield
Forfeiture rate
Expected life in years

2019
– 2.13%
– 110%
—
—
1 – 5

0.10
100

1.42
101

The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Treasury yields in effect at the time of grant. Expected volatilities are based on historical volatility of our common
stock. The expected life in years is based on the contract term of the warrant.
Note 7. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses included the following (in thousands):
As of December 31, 2020 (in thousands):

Category
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Accrued interest

$

BioLargo
125
23
42

$

ONM
73
42
—

Total
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$

BLEST
56
91
—

$

Water
103
—
—

$

Elim
(42) $
—
—
$

Totals
315
156
42
513
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As of December 31, 2019 (in thousands):

Category
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Accrued interest
Total

$

BioLargo
102
11
71

$

ONM
35
34
—

$

BLEST
46
82
—

$

Water
43
—
—

$

Elim
(31) $
—
—
$

Totals
195
128
71
394

See Note 10, “Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses”, for the accounts payable and accrued expenses of Clyra Medical.
Note 8. Provision for Income Taxes
Given our historical losses from operations, income taxes have been limited to the minimum franchise tax assessed by the State of California. Since 2016, we
have not consolidated for tax purposes, our subsidiary, Cyyra Medical, as our ownership interest was less than 80%. Our subsidiary BLEST is a Tennessee limited
liability company and as such, is not consolidated in our corporate tax return. As a pass-through entity, it does not pay federal taxes. However, the state of Tennessee
charges franchise and excise taxes for limited liability companies, and thus BLEST will incur a nominal franchise tax and will not pay an excise tax unless and until it is
profitable.
At December 31, 2020, we had federal and California tax net operating loss carry-forwards (“NOLs”) of approximately $104,000,000 and $47,000,000 respectively.
Due to changes in our ownership through common stock issuances throughout the year, the utilization of NOLs may be subject to annual limitations and discounts
under provisions of the Internal Revenue Code. We have not conducted a complete analysis to determine the extent of these limitations or any future limitation. Such
limitations could result in the permanent loss of a significant portion of the NOLs. Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“TCJA”) signed into law on December 22, 2018,
post‑2018 NOLs may be carried forward indefinitely, and pre‑2018 NOLs have a 20-year limitation on carryforwards; however, the NOLs are limited to the lesser of (1) the
aggregate of the NOL carryovers to such year, plus the NOL carry-backs to such year, or (2) 80% of taxable income (determined without regard to the deduction)
(Internal Revenue Code Sec. 172(a)). Generally, NOLs can no longer be carried back but are allowed to be carried forward indefinitely (Sec. 172(b)(1)(A), which applies to
2018 and later NOLs only). Nevertheless, for California purposes, the additional taxable income limitations on NOL carryforwards as well as the indefinite time to use the
NOLs have not been adopted. Therefore, for California, NOLs expire after 20 years. As such, ours will begin to expire in for the tax period ending December 31, 2021. On
March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act was signed into law, under which federal NOLs could be carried back for five years
against taxable income. Since BioLargo does not have any taxable income, this provision of the CARES Act will not affect any tax position. Realization of our deferred
tax assets, which relate to operating loss carryforwards and timing differences, is dependent on future earnings. The timing and amount of future earnings are uncertain
and therefore we have established a 100% valuation allowance.
Note 9. In-process Research and Development
On September 26, 2018, BioLargo and Clyra Medical entered into a transaction (the “Scion Transaction”) whereby BioLargo would acquire, and then license
back to Clyra, the intangible assets of Scion Solutions, LLC (“Scion”), and in particular its in-process research and development of the “SkinDisc,” a method for treating
advanced hard-to-treat wounds including diabetic ulcers. In addition to a pending patent application, the assets included the technical know-how and data developed
by the Scion team.
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The consideration provided to Scion is subject to an escrow agreement dated September 26, 2018 (“Escrow Agreement”) and earn out provisions and includes:
(i) 21,000 shares of the Clyra Medical common stock; (ii) 10,000 shares of Clyra Medical common stock redeemable for 7,142,858 BioLargo common shares (detailed
below); and (iii) a promissory note in the principal amount of $1,250,000 owed by Clyra Medical to be paid through new capital investments and revenue, as detailed
below. This consideration was initially held in escrow pending Clyra Medical raising $1 million “base capital” to fund its business operations.
On December 17, 2018, the parties entered into a closing agreement (“Closing Agreement”) reflecting the satisfaction of the obligation to raise $1 million “base
capital”; at that time, one-half of the shares of Clyra Medical common stock exchanged for the Scion assets were released to Scion. The remaining Clyra Medical
common shares (a total of 15,500 shares) remained subject to the Escrow Agreement’s performance metrics, each vesting one-fifth of the remaining shares of common
stock: (a) notification of FDA premarket clearance of certain orthopedics products, or recognition by Clyra Medical of $100,000 gross revenue; (b) the recognition by
Clyra Medical of $100,000 in aggregate gross revenue; (c) the granting of all or any part of the patent application for the SkinDisc product, or recognition by Clyra
Medical of $500,000 in gross revenue; (d) recognition by Clyra Medical of $1 million in aggregate gross revenue; and (e) recognition by Clyra Medical of $2 million in
gross revenue.
Immediately following Clyra Medical’s purchase of Scion’s intangible assets, Clyra Medical sold to BioLargo the assets, along with 12,755 Clyra Medical
common shares. In exchange, BioLargo issued Clyra Medical 7,142,858 shares of BioLargo common stock. Concurrently, BioLargo licensed back to Clyra Medical the
Scion assets. Scion may exchange its 10,000 Clyra Medical common shares for the 7,142,858 shares of BioLargo common stock issued to Clyra Medical, subject to the
escrow and earn-out provisions described above. The fair value of the 7,142,858 BioLargo shares as of the date of December 31, 2019, was $1,893,000.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, Clyra’s gross revenue exceeded $200,000, and thus the first and second performance metrics in the Escrow
Agreement were met. As a result, Scion vested 6,200 Clyra common shares, of which 2,200 are redeemable for 1,428,571 BioLargo shares. The fair value of the newly
vested shares totals $257,000. On our balance sheet, the In-Process Research and Development asset, and Common Stock Held for Redemption liability, each increased
by that amount as of December 31, 2020.
Note 10. Noncontrolling Interest – Clyra Medical
As discussed in Note 2, above, we consolidate the operations of our partially owned subsidiary Clyra Medical, of which we owned 45% of its outstanding
shares as of December 31, 2020.
Debt Obligations of Clyra Medical
Note Payable (Scion)
In conjunction with the Scion Transaction (see Note 9), Clyra issued a promissory note to Scion in the principal amount of $1,250,000 on September 26, 2018
(“Clyra-Scion Note”), accruing interest at an annual rate of 5%. Clyra is obligated to make principal and interest payments periodically, based on a percent (25%) of
investment proceeds, and 5% of revenues. Payments are scheduled to be made annually beginning on June 26, 2021 and each June 26t h thereafter until paid. At
December 31, 2020 and 2019, the balance due on the Clyra Medical Note Payable totaled $1,007,000.
Line of Credit
On June 30, 2020, Clyra entered into a Revolving Line of Credit Agreement whereby Vernal Bay Capital Group, LLC committed to provide a $1,000,000 inventory
line of credit to Clyra. Clyra received $260,000 in draws and made repayments totaling $36,000. As of December 31, 2020, the balance outstanding on this line of credit
totals $224,000.
Clyra is required to use funds from the line of credit to produce inventory. Additional draws are conditional upon Clyra presenting invoices or purchase orders
to the lender equal to the greater of one-half of principal outstanding on the line of credit, and $200,000. The line of credit note earns interest at 15%, matures in one year,
and requires Clyra pay interest and principal from gross product sales. For the first 180 days, on a monthly basis, Clyra is required to pay 30% of gross product sales to
reduce amounts owed, and thereafter 60% of gross sales. Clyra issued Vernal Bay 323 shares of its common stock as a commitment fee for the line of credit, valued at
$70,000. A security agreement of the same date grants Vernal Bay a security interest in Clyra’s inventory, as that term is defined in the Uniform Commercial Code. Clyra
may prepay the note at any time.
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Consulting Agreement
On December 30, 2015, Clyra entered into a consulting agreement with Beach House Consulting, LLC, through which Jack B. Strommen will be providing
consulting services to Clyra related to its sales and marketing activities, and in exchange receive $23,000 per month for a period of four years. On June 30, 2020, at Clyra’s
request, Beach House Consulting agreed to accept 3,639 shares of Clyra common stock, in lieu of cash, as full prepayment of the consulting fee. The obligation to
provide the consulting services is dependent on Clyra generating an average of $250,000 in monthly sales over three consecutive months, which has not been met. The
value of the shares issued to Beach House totaled $788,000 and is recorded as a non-current asset on our balance sheet.
Equity Transactions
As of December 31, 2020, Clyra had the following common shares outstanding:
Shareholder
BioLargo, Inc.
Sanatio Capital
Scion Solutions(1)
Other
Total

(1)

Shares
49,207
18,704
21,700
19,118
108,729

Percent
45%
17%
20%
18%

Does not include an additional 9,300 shares held in escrow subject to performance metrics.
Common Shares

During the year ended December 31, 2020, Clyra sold 2,742 shares of its common stock for $851,000 to private investors at $310 per Clyra share.
In June 2020, BioLargo increased its investment in Clyra by 23,004 shares. Of this amount, 22,513 shares were issued to BioLargo pursuant to an amendment to
the BioLargo/Clyra license agreement whereby BioLargo has granted Clyra rights to commercialize its technology in certain medical fields. The amendment provided,
among other things, for the payment of the “initial license fee” through the issuance of 22,513 shares of Clyra common stock. Additionally, BioLargo acquired 490 shares
of Clyra common stock by making vendor payments on Clyra’s behalf in exchange for the equity, at a price of $310 per share.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, Clyra sold 2,680 shares of its common stock for $536,000 at $200 per Clyra share.
Series A Preferred shares
Sanatio Capital purchased Clyra Series A Preferred shares in 2015. Sanatio Capital is owned by Jack B. Strommen, who subsequently joined BioLargo’s board of
directors. Clyra’s Preferred Shares accrue an annual dividend of 8% for a period of five years.
On December 31, 2019, Sanatio Capital agreed to convert the accrued dividend of $270,000, and its preferred shares, into 3,544 shares of Clyra common stock.
The dividend is recorded on our December 31, 2019 statement of stockholders’ deficit.
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Stock Options
During 2019, Clyra began issuing options to its employees and consultants in lieu of compensation owed. As of December 31, 2019, the Company had issued
options to purchase 7,624 shares of Clyra stock. During 2020, Clyra issued options to purchase 3,943 shares of its common stock. Each option issued has an exercise
price of $1.00 per share, are vested upon issuance and an expiration date 10 years from the date of grant. The fair value of the options issued in 2020, totaled $853,000,
which exceeded the amount of compensation owed, and the additional fair value totaling $214,000 was recorded as a loss on extinguishment of debt in our consolidated
statement of operations. We used the Black-Scholes model to calculate the initial fair value, assuming a stock price on date of grant of $310 per share. Because Clyra is a
private company with no secondary market for its common stock, the resulting fair value was discounted by 30%.
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
At December 31, 2020, Clyra had the following accounts payable and accrued expenses:
Category

Amount
(in thousands)

Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Accrued interest

$

402
32
102

Total

$

536

Note 11. BioLargo Engineering, Science and Technologies, LLC
In September 2017, we commenced a full-service environmental engineering firm and formed a Tennessee entity named BioLargo Engineering, Science &
Technologies, LLC (“BLEST”). In conjunction with the start of this subsidiary, we entered into a three-year office lease in the Knoxville, Tennessee area, and entered
into employment agreements with six scientists and engineers. (See Note 12 “Business Segment Information”.) The company was capitalized with two classes of
membership units: Class A, 100% owned by BioLargo, and Class B, held by management of BLEST, and which initially have no “profit interest,” as that term is defined in
Tennessee law. However, over the succeeding five years, the Class B members can earn up to a 30% profit interest. They also have been granted options to purchase up
to an aggregate 1,750,000 shares of BioLargo, Inc. common stock. The profit interest and option shares are subject to a five year vesting schedule tied to the
performance of the subsidiary, including gross revenue targets that increase over time, obtaining positive cash flow by March 31, 2018 (which was not met), collecting
90% of its account receivables, obtaining a profit of 10% in its first year (and increasing in subsequent years), making progress in the scale-up and commercialization of
our AOS system, and using BioLargo research scientists (such as our Canadian team) for billable work on client projects. These criteria are to be evaluated annually by
BLEST’s compensation committee (which includes BioLargo’s president, CFO, and BLEST’s president), beginning September 2018. Given the significant performance
criteria, the Class B units and the stock options will only be recognized in compensation expense if or when the criteria are satisfied.
The BLEST Compensation Committee has met regularly since the subsidiary commenced operations. In 2018, it reviewed the operating performance and
determined that the performance metrics were not met and as a result, did not award any Class B units or stock options. In November 2019, it determined that a portion of
the performance metrics were met, and that one-half of the eligible profits interests would be vested (2.5% in the aggregate), and therefore one-half of the option
interests (10%) would be vested (175,000 options shares in the aggregate). The vesting of option shares resulted in a fair value totaling $44,000, recorded on our
consolidated statement of operations as selling, general and administrative expense. The fair value of the profit interest was nominal and not booked. In January 2021,
the committee again reviewed the operating performance and determined that a portion of the performance metrics were met. It was agreed that one-half and one-quarter
of the eligible profits interests would be vested (3.75% in the aggregate), and therefore one-half of the option interests (15%) would be vested (262,500 options shares in
the aggregate). The vesting of option shares resulted in a fair value totaling $65,000, recorded on our consolidated statement of operations as selling, general and
administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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Note 12. Business Segment Information
BioLargo currently has four operating business segments, plus its corporate entity which is responsible for general corporate operations, including
administrative functions, finance, human resources, marketing, legal, etc. The four operational business segments are:
1.
2.
3.
4.

ONM Environmental (formerly Odor-No-More, Inc.) (“ONM”) -- which sells odor and volatile organic control products and services (located in
Westminster, California);
Clyra Medical Technologies (“Clyra Medical”) -- which develops and sells medical products based on our technologies;
BLEST -- which provides professional engineering services on a time and materials basis for outside clients and supports our internal operations as
needed (located in Oak Ridge, Tennessee); and
BioLargo Water (“Water”) -- which historically focused entirely on R&D, and has now shifted its focus to commercializing the AOS technology
(located in Edmonton, Alberta Canada).

Historically, none of our operating business units have operated at a profit and therefore each required additional cash to meet its monthly expenses. The
additional sources of the cash to fund the shortfall from operations of ONM, BLEST and BioLargo Water have been provided by BioLargo’s sales of debt or equity,
research grants, and tax credits. Clyra Medical has been funded by third party investors who invest directly in Clyra Medical in exchange for equity ownership in that
entity.
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The segment information for the years December 31, 2020 and 2019, is as follows (in thousands):
2020
Revenues
BioLargo corporate
ONM Environmental
Clyra Medical
BLEST
BioLargo Water
Intersegment revenue
Total

$

$

Operating loss
BioLargo corporate
ONM Environmental
Clyra Medical
BLEST
BioLargo Water
Total

$

$

Interest expense
BioLargo corporate
ONM Environmental
Clyra Medical
Total

$

$

Research and development
BioLargo corporate
BLEST
Clyra Medical
BioLargo Water
BioLargo corporate - intercompany
Total
As of December 31, 2020
Tangible assets
Investment in South Korean joint venture
Intangible assets
As of December 31, 2019
Tangible assets
Intangible assets

$

$

$

$

BioLargo
603
63
2,150
BioLargo
1,050
1,893

$

$

ONM
624
—
—
ONM
420
—

$

$

Clyra
1,125
—
—
Clyra
3
—

$

$

BLEST
314
—
—
BLEST
264
—

$

$

Water
105
—
—
Water
50
—

2019

14
1,568
240
1,050
37
(477)
2,432

$

(3,947)
(493)
(1,827)
(619)
(697)
(7,583)

$

(1,823)
—
(100)
(1,923)

$

(754)
(351)
(164)
(505)
436
(1,338)

$

$

$

—
1,459
—
999
—
(597)
1,861

$

$

$

$

(3,651)
(335)
(1,233)
(749)
(728)
(6,696)

(3,944)
(2)
(50)
(3,996)

(892)
(354)
(219)
(610)
603
(1,472)

Elimination
(42) $
—
—

Total
2,729
63
2,150

Elimination
(59) $
—

Total
1,728
1,893

Note 13. Commitments and Contingencies
Provenzano Employment Agreement

On June 18, 2019, we and the head of our ONM subsidiary, Joseph L. Provenzano, entered into an employment agreement (the “Provenzano Employment
Agreement”), replacing in its entirety the previous employment agreement with Mr. Provenzano dated January 1, 2008.
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The Provenzano Employment Agreement provides that Mr. Provenzano will serve as our Executive Vice President of Operations, as well as the President and
Chief Executive Officer of our wholly owned subsidiary ONM. Mr. Provenzano’s base compensation will remain at his current rate of $170,000 annually. In addition to
this base compensation, the agreement provides that he is eligible to participate in incentive plans, stock option plans, and similar arrangements as determined by the
our Board of Directors, health insurance premium payments for himself and his immediate family, a car allowance covering the expenses of his personal commercial grade
truck which the company uses in company operations on a continual basis, paid vacation of four weeks per year, and bonuses in such amount as the Compensation
Committee may determine from time to time.
In conjunction with this agreement, our Compensation Committee awarded Mr. Provenzano an option to purchase common stock and restricted stock units
under our 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (see Note 5).
The Provenzano Employment Agreement has a term of five years, unless earlier terminated in accordance with its terms. The Provenzano Employment
Agreement provides that Mr. Provenzano’s employment may be terminated by the Company due to his death or disability, for cause, or upon a merger, acquisition,
bankruptcy or dissolution of the Company. “Disability” as used in the Provenzano Employment Agreement means physical or mental incapacity or illness rendering
Mr. Provenzano unable to perform his duties on a long-term basis (i) as evidenced by his failure or inability to perform his duties for a total of 120 days in any 360-day
period, or (ii) as determined by an independent and licensed physician whom Company selects, or (iii) as determined without recourse by the Company’s disability
insurance carrier. “Cause” means that Mr. Provenzano has (i) engaged in willful misconduct in connection with the Company’s business; or (ii) been convicted of, or
plead guilty or nolo contendre in connection with, fraud or any crime that constitutes a felony or that involves moral turpitude or theft. If Mr. Provenzano’s employment
is terminated due to merger or acquisition, then he will be eligible to receive the greater of (i) one year’s compensation plus an additional one-half year for each year of
service since the effective date of the employment agreement or (ii) one year’s compensation plus an additional one-half year for each year remaining in the term of the
agreement. Otherwise, he is only entitled to receive compensation due through the date of termination.
The Provenzano Employment Agreement requires Mr. Provenzano to keep certain information confidential, not to solicit customers or employees of the
Company or interfere with any business relationship of the Company, and to assign all inventions made or created during the term of the Provenzano Employment
Agreement as “work made for hire”.
Office Leases
We have long-term operating leases for office, industrial and laboratory space in Westminster, California, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, and Alberta, Canada.
Payments made under operating leases are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Comprehensive Loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
operating lease agreement. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, rental expense was $228,000 and $208,000, respectively. On January 1, 2019, we adopted
ASC 842 which resulted in a right-of-use asset and lease liability. Short-term leases are not included in our analysis. The adoption resulted in an immaterial cumulative
effect of an accounting change that was not recorded. The lease of our Westminster facility qualifies for the new treatment; it originated in August 2016, was originally
scheduled to expire August 2020, contains a yearly escalation of 3%, and includes a four-year renewal option whereby the base rent is adjusted to then market value.
During 2020, we exercised our option to extend the lease for four years. It is too early for management to determine if it will extend another four years, therefore the
additional four-year extension is not included in the analysis. The lease of our Oak Ridge, Tennessee facility also qualifies, and it had one three-year extension to
September 2022, and has one renewal option for another five years where the rental rate would adjust to greater of the current price and fair market value. No
determination has been made whether to exercise the five-year renewal option for the Oak Ridge facility. The lease of our Canadian facility is less than one year. None of
our leases have additional terms related to the payments or mechanics of the lease. The leases have no additional payment terms such as common area maintenance
payments, tax sharing payments or other allocable expenses. Likewise, the leases do not contain other terms and conditions of use, such as variable lease payments,
residual value guaranties or other restrictive financial terms. Since there is no explicit interest rate in our leases, management used its incremental borrowing rate, which
is estimated to be 18% to determine lease liability.
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As of December 31, 2020, our weighted average remaining lease term is three years and the total remaining operating lease payments is $522,000. Our minimum
lease payments over the next five years are as follows:
Years ending
December 31, 2021
December 31, 2022
December 31, 2023
December 31, 2024
December 31, 2025
Total minimum lease payments

$

$

BioLargo
Corp / ONM
111,000
115,000
118,000
70,000
-414,000

BLEST
$

$

Total
65,000
43,000
---108,000

$

$

176,000
158,000
118,000
70,000
-522,000

Note 14. Subsequent Events.
Management has evaluated subsequent events through the date of the filing of this Annual Report and management noted the following for disclosure.
Lincoln Park Capital Purchase of Shares
From January 1, 2021, through March 24, 2021, we have sold 12,511,674 shares of common stock to Lincoln Park pursuant to our the 2020 LPC Purchase
Agreement (see Note 3), and received $2,020,000 in gross and net proceeds. These sales were registered with the SEC on Form S-1 (file number 333-237651).
Satisfaction of Notes
On March 1, 2021, we paid in cash the outstanding principal of $600,000, and $7,371 in accrued interest, on the promissory note issued August 9, 2019, and
scheduled to mature on August 9, 2021
On March 1, 2021, we paid in cash the outstanding principal of $50,000, and $1,455 in accrued interest, on the remaining amount due on a line of credit in which
was due on demand at any time after September 1, 2019. There is no remaining balance on this line of credit, and we no longer have the ability to draw on the line of
credit.
Amendment to Note payable matures on 60 day’s notice (or March 8, 2023)
On March 1, 2021, we and the holder of a $50,000 note payable modified the note to set a specific maturity date of March 1, 2023, and allow the investor to
convert the note to our common stock at a price of $0.16 per share. In lieu of interest during the extended period of the note, we issued the investor a warrant to
purchase 225,000 shares of our common stock at $0.16 per share for a period of five years.
Chief Financial Officer Contract Extension
On March 18, 2021, we and our Chief Financial Officer Charles K. Dargan, II formally agreed to extend the engagement agreement dated February 1, 2008 (the
“Engagement Agreement”, which had been previously extended multiple times), pursuant to which Mr. Dargan has been and continues to serve as the Company’s Chief
Financial Officer. The Engagement Extension Agreement dated as of March 18, 2021 (the “Engagement Extension Agreement”) provides for an additional one-year term
to expire January 31, 2022 (the “Extended Term”).
F-37

Table of Contents
BIOLARGO, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As the sole compensation for the Extended Term, Mr. Dargan was issued an option (“Option”) to purchase 25,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for
each month during the Extended Term (thus, an option to purchase 300,000 shares reflecting an extended term of 12 months). The Option vests over the period of the
Extended Term, with 25,000 shares having vested as of March 15, 2021, and the remaining shares to vest 25,000 shares monthly beginning March 31, 2021, and each
month thereafter, so long as the agreement is in full force and effect. The Option is exercisable at $0.174 per share, the closing price of BioLargo’s common stock on the
March 18, 2021 grant date, expires ten years from the grant date, and was issued pursuant to the Company’s 2018 Equity Incentive Plan.
The Option is Mr. Dargan’s sole compensation for the Extended Term. As was the case in all prior terms of his engagement, there is no cash component of his
compensation for the Extended Term. Mr. Dargan is eligible to be reimbursed for business expenses he incurs in connection with the performance of his services as the
Company’s Chief Financial Officer (although he has made no such requests for reimbursement in the past). All other provisions of the Engagement Agreement not
expressly amended pursuant to the Engagement Extension Agreement remain the same, including provisions regarding indemnification and arbitration of disputes.
PPP loan forgiveness
We received a notice dated March 19, 2021, that the Small Business Administration had approved our application for forgiveness of Paycheck Protection Act
loan to Clyra Medical in the amount of $43,000.
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Amendment to Promissory Note
THIS AMENDMENT TO PROMISSORY NOTE (the “Amendment”) is entered into as of March 1, 2021 (the “Effective Date”), by and among BioLargo, Inc., a
Delaware corporation (“BioLargo”), and Bruce Kelber (“Kelber”), with reference to the following described “Note”:
Issuance Date: March 8, 2018
Maturity Date: none – demand note
Note No. 33097
Principal Amount: $50,000
Holder: Bruce Kelber
NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledges, the parties agree to amend the Note as
follows.
1. Maturity Date. Kelber and BioLargo agree to set a fixed date of March 1, 2023, as the maturity date for the Note. All outstanding principal and interest shall
be due on such date. The provisions of the Note allowing for demand payment with sixty days’ notice are hereby deleted in their entirety.
2. Interest. BioLargo agrees to issue a warrant to Kelber allowing for the purchase of 225,000 shares of its common stock at $0.16 per share for a period of five
years. This warrant shall compensate Kelber for interest over the extended term of the Note.
3. Conversion. Kelber may convert all or any portion of principal or interest due on the Note to BioLargo common stock at any time by notifying BioLargo of
his election to do so, at a rate of $0.16 per share, as may be adjusted for stock splits.
4. Amendment to Warrant. The parties agree to amend the 150,000 share warrant to allow for cashless exercise.
5. Miscellaneous.
5.1 Effect of Amendment. Except to the extent the Note is modified by this Amendment, the remaining terms and conditions of the Note shall remain
unmodified and in full force and effect. In the event of any conflict between the terms and conditions of the Note and the terms and conditions of this Amendment, the
terms and conditions of this Amendment shall prevail and control.
5.2 Entire Agreement. The Note, together with this Amendment, embodies the entire understanding between the parties hereto with respect to its
subject matter and can be changed only by an instrument in writing signed by the parties hereto.
-1-

5.3 Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in two (2) or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which
together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Counterparts may be delivered via facsimile, electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature complying
with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000, e.g., www.docusign.com) or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly
and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Amendment to Promissory Note as of the date first above written.

BIOLARGO, INC.

By: /s/ Dennis P Calvert
Name: Dennis P. Calvert
Title: President
Date signed: 3/1/2021
HOLDER

By: /s/ Bruce Kelber
Name: Bruce Kelber
Date signed: 3/1/2021

-2-

Exhibit 4.50
BIOLARGO, INC.
WARRANT TO PURCHASE COMMON STOCK
THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED
(THE “SECURITIES ACT”) OR APPLICABLE STATE SECURITIES LAWS, AND, ACCORDINGLY, MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD EXCEPT
PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT FOR SUCH SECURITIES UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE
SECURITIES LAWS OR PURSUANT TO AN OPINION OF COUNSEL REASONABLY SATISFACTORY TO THE COMPANY THAT THERE IS AN
AVAILABLE EXEMPTION FROM THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT.

INSTRUMENT NO. 33606

ISSUED: March 1, 2021

THIS CERTIFIES THAT, for value received, Bruce Kelber (the “Holder”), is entitled upon the terms and subject to the limitations on exercise and the
conditions hereinafter set forth, at any time on or after the date issued set forth above (the “Exercise Date”) and on or prior to the close of business on March 1, 2026
(the “Termination Date”) but not thereafter, to subscribe for and purchase from BioLargo, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), up to Two Hundred TwentyFive Thousand (225,000) shares (the “Warrant Shares”) of common stock, par value, $0.00067, of the Company (the “Common Stock”). The exercise price per share of the
Common Stock under this Warrant shall be $0.16 subject to adjustment hereunder (the “Exercise Price”).
1. Method of Exercise; Payment; Issuance of New Warrant.
(a) Exercise of Warrant. Exercise of the purchase rights represented by this Warrant may be made, in whole or in part, at any time or times on or after
the Exercise Date and on or before the Termination Date by delivery to the Company (or such other office or agency of the Company as it may designate by notice in
writing to the registered Holder at the address of the Holder appearing on the books of the Company) of a duly executed facsimile copy of the Notice of Exercise Form
annexed hereto; and, within three (3) Trading Days (for purposes herein, “Trading Day” means a day on which any of the following markets or exchanges on which the
Common Stock is listed or quoted is open for trading on the date in question (“Trading Market”): the NYSE AMEX, the Nasdaq Capital Market, the Nasdaq Global
Market, the Nasdaq Global Select Market, the New York Stock Exchange or the OTC Markets (or any successors to any of the foregoing)), of the date said Notice of
Exercise is delivered to the Company, the Company shall have received payment of the aggregate Exercise Price of the shares thereby purchased by wire transfer or
cashier’s check drawn on a United States bank. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Holder shall not be required to physically surrender this Warrant to
the Company until the Holder has purchased all of the Warrant Shares available hereunder and the Warrant has been exercised in full, in which case, the Holder shall
surrender this Warrant to the Company for cancellation within three (3) Trading Days of the date the final Notice of Exercise is delivered to the Company. Partial
exercises of this Warrant resulting in purchases of a portion of the total number of Warrant Shares available hereunder shall have the effect of lowering the outstanding
number of Warrant Shares purchasable hereunder in an amount equal to the applicable number of Warrant Shares purchased. The Holder and the Company shall
maintain records showing the number of Warrant Shares purchased and the date of such purchases. The Company shall deliver any objection to any Notice of Exercise
Form within one Business Day of receipt of such notice. In the event of any dispute or discrepancy, the records of the Holder shall be controlling and determinative in
the absence of manifest error. The Holder and any assignee, by acceptance of this Warrant, acknowledge and agree that, by reason of the provisions of this paragraph,
following the purchase of a portion of the Warrant Shares hereunder, the number of Warrant Shares available for purchase hereunder at any given time may be less
than the amount stated on the face hereof.
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(b) Mechanics of Exercise.
(i) Delivery of Certificates Upon Exercise. Certificates for shares purchased hereunder shall be transmitted by the Transfer Agent (“Transfer
Agent” means American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, the current transfer agent of the Company, with a mailing address of 6201-15th Avenue, Brooklyn, New York
11219 and a facsimile number of 718-236-2641, and any successor transfer agent of the Company) to the Holder by crediting the account of the Holder’s prime broker
with the Depository Trust Company through its Deposit Withdrawal Agent Commission (“DWAC”) system if the Company is then a participant in such system and
there is an effective Registration Statement permitting the issuance of the Warrant Shares to or resale of the Warrant Shares by Holder, by the date that is three (3)
Trading Days after the latest of (A) the delivery to the Company of the Notice of Exercise Form, (B) surrender of this Warrant (if required) and (C) payment of the
aggregate Exercise Price as set forth above (such date, the “Warrant Share Delivery Date”). This Warrant shall be deemed to have been exercised on the first date on
which all of the foregoing have been delivered to the Company. The Warrant Shares shall be deemed to have been issued, and Holder or any other person so designated
to be named therein shall be deemed to have become a holder of record of such shares for all purposes, as of the date the Warrant has been exercised, with payment to
the Company of the Exercise Price (or by cashless exercise, if permitted) and all taxes required to be paid by the Holder, if any, pursuant to Section 1(c)(vi) prior to the
issuance of such shares, having been paid. If the Company fails for any reason to deliver to the Holder certificates evidencing the Warrant Shares subject to a Notice of
Exercise by the Warrant Share Delivery Date, the Company shall pay to the Holder, in cash, as liquidated damages and not as a penalty, for each $1,000 of Warrant
Shares subject to such exercise (based on the VWAP of the Common Stock on the date of the applicable Notice of Exercise), $5 per Trading Day (increasing to $10 per
Trading Day on the fifth Trading Day after such liquidated damages begin to accrue) for each Trading Day after such Warrant Share Delivery Date until such certificates
are delivered or Holder rescinds such exercise. In the event that there is not an effective Registration Statement permitting the issuance of the Warrant Shares to or
resale of the Warrant Shares by Holder, shares purchased hereunder shall be delivered to the Holder by credit the account of the Holder at the Company’s Transfer
Agent by the date that is ten Trading Days after the latest of (A) the delivery to the Company of the Notice of Exercise Form, (B) surrender of this Warrant (if required)
and (C) payment of the aggregate Exercise Price as set forth above (such date, the “Warrant Share Delivery Date”).
(ii) Delivery of New Warrants Upon Exercise. If this Warrant shall have been exercised in part, the Company shall, at the request of a
Holder and upon surrender of this Warrant certificate, at the time of delivery of the certificate or certificates representing Warrant Shares, deliver to Holder a new
Warrant evidencing the rights of Holder to purchase the unpurchased Warrant Shares called for by this Warrant, which new Warrant shall in all other respects be
identical with this Warrant.
(iii) Rescission Rights. If the Company fails to cause the Transfer Agent to transmit to the Holder a certificate or the certificates
representing the Warrant Shares pursuant to Section 2(d)(i) by the Warrant Share Delivery Date, then, the Holder will have the right to rescind such exercise.
(iv) Compensation for Buy-In on Failure to Timely Deliver Certificates Upon Exercise. In addition to any other rights available to the
Holder, if the Company fails to cause the Transfer Agent to transmit to the Holder a certificate or the certificates representing the Warrant Shares pursuant to an exercise
on or before the Warrant Share Delivery Date, and if after such date the Holder is required by its broker to purchase (in an open market transaction or otherwise) or the
Holder’s brokerage firm otherwise purchases, shares of Common Stock to deliver in satisfaction of a sale by the Holder of the Warrant Shares which the Holder
anticipated receiving upon such exercise (a “Buy-In”), then the Company shall (A) pay in cash to the Holder the amount, if any, by which (x) the Holder’s total purchase
price (including brokerage commissions, if any) for the shares of Common Stock so purchased exceeds (y) the amount obtained by multiplying (1) the number of Warrant
Shares that the Company was required to deliver to the Holder in connection with the exercise at issue times (2) the price at which the sell order giving rise to such
purchase obligation was executed, and (B) at the option of the Holder, either reinstate the portion of the Warrant and equivalent number of Warrant Shares for which
such exercise was not honored (in which case such exercise shall be deemed rescinded) or deliver to the Holder the number of shares of Common Stock that would have
been issued had the Company timely complied with its exercise and delivery obligations hereunder. For example, if the Holder purchases Common Stock having a total
purchase price of $11,000 to cover a Buy-In with respect to an attempted exercise of shares of Common Stock with an aggregate sale price giving rise to such purchase
obligation of $10,000, under clause (A) of the immediately preceding sentence the Company shall be required to pay the Holder $1,000. The Holder shall provide the
Company written notice indicating the amounts payable to the Holder in respect of the Buy-In and, upon request of the Company, evidence of the amount of such
loss. Nothing herein shall limit a Holder’s right to pursue any other remedies available to it hereunder, at law or in equity including, without limitation, a decree of
specific performance and/or injunctive relief with respect to the Company’s failure to timely deliver certificates representing shares of Common Stock upon exercise of
the Warrant as required pursuant to the terms hereof.
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(v) No Fractional Shares or Scrip. No fractional shares or scrip representing fractional shares shall be issued upon the exercise of this
Warrant. As to any fraction of a share which the Holder would otherwise be entitled to purchase upon such exercise, the Company shall, at its election, either pay a
cash adjustment in respect of such final fraction in an amount equal to such fraction multiplied by the Exercise Price or round up to the next whole share.
(vi) Charges, Taxes and Expenses. Issuance of certificates for Warrant Shares shall be made without charge to the Holder for any issue or
transfer tax or other incidental expense in respect of the issuance of such certificate, all of which taxes and expenses shall be paid by the Company, and such certificates
shall be issued in the name of the Holder or in such name or names as may be directed by the Holder; provided, however, that in the event certificates for Warrant Shares
are to be issued in a name other than the name of the Holder, this Warrant when surrendered for exercise shall be accompanied by the Assignment Form attached hereto
duly executed by the Holder and the Company may require, as a condition thereto, the payment of a sum sufficient to reimburse it for any transfer tax incidental thereto.
(vii) Closing of Books. The Company will not close its stockholder books or records in any manner which prevents the timely exercise of
this Warrant, pursuant to the terms hereof.
(viii)“ VWAP” means, for any date, the price determined by the first of the following clauses that applies: (a) if the Common Stock is then
listed or quoted on a Trading Market, the daily volume weighted average price of the Common Stock for such date (or the nearest preceding date) on the Trading Market
on which the Common Stock is then listed or quoted as reported by Bloomberg L.P. (based on a Trading Day from 9:30 a.m. (New York City time) to 4:02 p.m. (New York
City time), (b) if the OTC Bulletin Board is not a Trading Market, the volume weighted average price of the Common Stock for such date (or the nearest preceding date)
on the OTC Bulletin Board, (c) if the Common Stock is not then listed or quoted for trading on the OTC Bulletin Board and if prices for the Common Stock are then
reported in the “Pink Sheets” published by OTC Markets, Inc. (or a similar organization or agency succeeding to its functions of reporting prices), the most recent bid
price per share of the Common Stock so reported, or (d) in all other cases, the fair market value of a share of Common Stock as determined by an independent appraiser
selected in good faith by the Company and reasonably acceptable to a majority in interest of the Securities then outstanding, the fees and expenses of which shall be
paid by the Company.
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2. Stock Fully Paid; Reservation of Shares. All Shares that may be issued upon the exercise of the rights represented by this Warrant will, upon issuance, be
fully paid and nonassessable, and free from all preemptive rights, taxes, liens and charges with respect to the issue thereof; provided, however, that the Company shall
not be required to pay any transfer taxes with respect to the issue of shares in any name other than that of the registered holder hereof. During the period within which
the rights represented by this Warrant may be exercised, the Company will at all times have authorized, and reserved for the purpose of the issue upon exercise of the
purchase rights evidenced by this Warrant, a sufficient number of shares of Common Stock to provide for the exercise of the rights represented by this Warrant. The
Company shall at all times take all such action and obtain all such permits or orders as may be necessary to enable the Company lawfully to issue such Common Stock
as duly and validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable shares upon exercise in full of this Warrant.
3. Cashless Exercise. In lieu of exercising this Warrant by payment in cash or check, Holder may elect to pay the Per Share Exercise Price by reducing the
number of Shares issuable upon exercise of this Warrant in accordance with the following formula:

X = Y(A‑B)
A
Where:

X = the number of Shares to be issued to the Holder.
Y = the number of Shares requested to be exercised under this Warrant.
A = the Fair Market Value of one (1) Share of Common Stock as of the date such Warrant is exercised.
B = the Per Share Exercise Price.

4. Adjustment. This Warrant shall be subject to adjustment from time to time upon the occurrence of certain events, as follows:
(a) Adjustment for Stock Splits and Combinations. If the Company shall at any time or from time to time after the date hereof effect a subdivision of
the outstanding Common Stock, the Exercise Price then in effect immediately before that subdivision shall be proportionately decreased. If the Company shall at any
time or from time to time after the date hereof combine the outstanding Common Stock, the Exercise Price then in effect immediately before the combination shall be
proportionately increased. Any adjustment under this subsection shall become effective at the close of business on the date the subdivision or combination becomes
effective.
(b) Adjustment for Certain Dividends and Distributions. In the event the Company at any time or from time to time after the date hereof shall make or
issue a dividend or other distribution payable in additional shares of Common Stock, then and in each such event the Exercise Price shall be decreased as of the time of
such issuance, by multiplying the Exercise Price by a fraction:
(x)

the numerator of which shall be the total number of shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the time of
such issuance; and

(y)

the denominator of which shall be the total number of shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the time
of such issuance plus the number of shares of Common Stock issuable in payment of such dividend or distribution.
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(c) Adjustment of Number of Shares. Upon each adjustment of the Exercise Price pursuant to either Section 4(a) or 4(b) of this Warrant, the number
of shares of Common Stock purchasable upon exercise of this Warrant shall be adjusted to the number of shares of Common Stock, calculated to the nearest one
hundredth of a share, obtained by multiplying the number of shares of Common Stock purchasable immediately prior to such adjustment upon the exercise of the
Warrant by the Exercise Price in effect prior to such adjustment and dividing the product so obtained by the new Exercise Price.
(d) Adjustment for Reclassification, Exchange and Substitution. If the Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of this Warrant are changed into the
same or different number of shares of any class or classes of stock, whether by recapitalization, reclassification or otherwise (other than a subdivision or combination
provided for in Section 4(a) above, a dividend or distribution provided for in Section 4(b) above, or a reorganization, merger, consolidation or sale of assets, provided for
in Section 4(e) below), then and in any such event the Holder shall have the right thereafter to exercise this Warrant into the kind and amount of stock and other
securities receivable upon such recapitalization, reclassification or other change, by holders of the number of shares of Common Stock for which this Warrant might
have been exercised immediately prior to such recapitalization, reclassification or change.
(e) Reorganization, Mergers, Consolidations or Sales of Assets. If at any time or from time to time there is a capital reorganization of the Common
Stock (other than a subdivision or combination provided for in Section 4(a) above, a dividend or distribution provided for in Section 4(b) above, or a reclassification or
exchange of shares provided for in Section 4(d) above) or a merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another entity, or a sale of all or substantially all of the
Company’s properties and assets to any other person or entity, then, as a part of such reorganization, merger, consolidation or sale, provision shall be made so that the
Holder shall thereafter be entitled to receive upon exercise of this Warrant the number of shares of stock or other securities, money or property of the Company, or of the
successor entity resulting from such merger or consolidation or sale, to which a holder of Common Stock deliverable upon conversion would have been entitled on such
capital reorganization, merger, consolidation, or sale. The Company shall not effect any reorganization, merger, consolidation or sale unless prior to the consummation
thereof each entity or person (other than the Company) that may be required to deliver any cash, securities or other property upon the exercise of this Warrant shall
assume, by written instrument delivered to the Holder, the obligation to deliver to the Holder such cash, securities or other property as in accordance with the foregoing
provisions the Holder may be entitled to receive. The foregoing provisions of this Section 4(e) shall similarly apply to successive reorganizations, mergers,
consolidations and sales.
(f) No Impairment. The Company will not, by amendment of its Articles of Incorporation or through any reorganization, transfer of assets,
consolidation, merger, dissolution, issue or sale of securities or any other voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance of any of the terms to
be observed or performed hereunder by the Company but will at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out of all the provisions of this Section and in the taking of
all such action as may be necessary or appropriate in order to protect the conversion rights of the Holder against dilution or other impairment. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, the Company will not issue any capital stock of any class which is preferred as to dividends or as to the distribution of assets upon the
voluntary or involuntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company.
(g) Notice of Adjustments. Whenever this Warrant shall be adjusted pursuant to this Section 4, the Company shall make a certificate signed by an
officer of the Company setting forth, in reasonable detail, the event requiring the adjustment, the amount of the adjustment, the method by which such adjustment was
calculated, and the new Exercise Price and the type or the number of Shares purchasable after giving effect to such adjustment, and shall cause copies of such certificate
to be mailed (by first class mail, postage prepaid) to the Holder.
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5. Notice of Record Date. In the event:
(1)

that the Company declares a dividend (or any other distribution) on any of its capital stock (including without limitation, its Common Stock);

(2)

that the Company repurchases or redeems any of its capital stock (including without limitation, its Common Stock) or any rights to acquire
such capital stock;

(3)

that the Company subdivides or combines its outstanding shares of Common Stock;

(4)

of any reclassification of the Common Stock, or of any consolidation, merger or share exchange of the Company into or with another entity, or
of the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company;

(5)

of the involuntary or voluntary dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Company; or

(6)

of any offer of its Common Stock or any rights to acquire such Common Stock for consideration paid per share of Common Stock less than the
Exercise Price then in effect.

then the Company shall notify the Holder at least 30 days prior to the date specified in (A), (B) or (C) below, in writing stating:
(A)
the record date of such dividend, distribution, repurchase, redemption, subdivision or combination, or, if a record is not to be taken, the date
as to which the holders of Common Stock of record to be entitled to such dividend, distribution, repurchase, redemption, subdivision or combination are to be
determined;
(B)
the date on which such reclassification, consolidation, merger, share exchange, sale, dissolution, liquidation or winding up is expected to
become effective, and the date as of which it is expected that holders of Common Stock of record shall be entitled to exchange their shares of Common Stock for
securities or other property deliverable upon such reclassification, consolidation, merger, sale, dissolution or winding up; or
(C)
the date on which such offering of its Common Stock or any rights to acquire such Common Stock for consideration paid per share of
Common Stock less than the Exercise Price is expected to become consummated.
6. Transfer of Warrant.
(a) Transferability. This Warrant and all rights hereunder (including, without limitation, any registration rights) are transferable, in whole or in part,
upon surrender of this Warrant at the principal office of the Company or its designated agent, together with a written assignment of this Warrant substantially in the
form attached hereto duly executed by the Holder or its agent or attorney and funds sufficient to pay any transfer taxes payable upon the making of such transfer. Upon
such surrender and, if required, such payment, the Company shall execute and deliver a new Warrant or Warrants in the name of the assignee or assignees, as
applicable, and in the denomination or denominations specified in such instrument of assignment, and shall issue to the assignor a new Warrant evidencing the portion
of this Warrant not so assigned, and this Warrant shall promptly be cancelled. The Warrant, if properly assigned in accordance herewith, may be exercised by a new
holder for the purchase of Warrant Shares without having a new Warrant issued.
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(b) New Warrants. This Warrant may be divided or combined with other Warrants upon presentation hereof at the aforesaid office of the Company,
together with a written notice specifying the names and denominations in which new Warrants are to be issued, signed by the Holder or its agent or attorney. Subject to
compliance with Section 6(a), as to any transfer which may be involved in such division or combination, the Company shall execute and deliver a new Warrant or
Warrants in exchange for the Warrant or Warrants to be divided or combined in accordance with such notice. All Warrants issued on transfers or exchanges shall be
dated the initial issuance date set forth on the first page of this Warrant and shall be identical with this Warrant except as to the number of Warrant Shares issuable
pursuant thereto.
(c) Warrant Register. The Company shall register this Warrant, upon records to be maintained by the Company for that purpose (the “Warrant
Register”), in the name of the record Holder hereof from time to time. The Company may deem and treat the registered Holder of this Warrant as the absolute owner
hereof for the purpose of any exercise hereof or any distribution to the Holder, and for all other purposes, absent actual notice to the contrary.
(d) Understandings or Arrangements. Such Holder is acquiring this Warrant as principal for its own account and has no direct or indirect
arrangement or understandings with any other persons to distribute or regarding the distribution of such Warrant (this representation and warranty not limiting such
Holder’s right to sell the Warrant pursuant to the Registration Statement or otherwise in compliance with applicable federal and state securities laws.) Such Holder is
acquiring this Warrant hereunder in the ordinary course of its business.
7. Miscellaneous.
(a) No Rights as Stockholder Until Exercise. This Warrant does not entitle the Holder to any voting rights, dividends or other rights as a stockholder
of the Company prior to the exercise hereof as set forth in Section 1(d)(i).
(b) Loss, Theft, Destruction or Mutilation of Warrant. The Company covenants that upon receipt by the Company of evidence reasonably
satisfactory to it of the loss, theft, destruction or mutilation of this Warrant or any stock certificate relating to the Warrant Shares, and in case of loss, theft or
destruction, of indemnity or security reasonably satisfactory to it (which, in the case of the Warrant, shall not include the posting of any bond), and upon surrender and
cancellation of such Warrant or stock certificate, if mutilated, the Company will make and deliver a new Warrant or stock certificate of like tenor and dated as of such
cancellation, in lieu of such Warrant or stock certificate.
(c) Saturdays, Sundays, Holidays, etc. If the last or appointed day for the taking of any action or the expiration of any right required or granted
herein shall not be a business day, then, such action may be taken or such right may be exercised on the next succeeding business day.
(d) Authorized Shares.
(i) The Company covenants that, during the period the Warrant is outstanding, it will reserve from its authorized and unissued Common
Stock a sufficient number of shares to provide for the issuance of the Warrant Shares upon the exercise of any purchase rights under this Warrant. The Company further
covenants that its issuance of this Warrant shall constitute full authority to its officers who are charged with the duty of executing stock certificates to execute and
issue the necessary certificates for the Warrant Shares upon the exercise of the purchase rights under this Warrant. The Company will take all such reasonable action as
may be necessary to assure that such Warrant Shares may be issued as provided herein without violation of any applicable law or regulation, or of any requirements of
the Trading Market upon which the Common Stock may be listed. The Company covenants that all Warrant Shares which may be issued upon the exercise of the
purchase rights represented by this Warrant will, upon exercise of the purchase rights represented by this Warrant and payment for such Warrant Shares in accordance
herewith, be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and free from all taxes, liens and charges created by the Company in respect of the issue
thereof (other than taxes in respect of any transfer occurring contemporaneously with such issue).
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(ii) Except and to the extent as waived or consented to by the Holder, the Company shall not by any action, including, without limitation,
amending its certificate of incorporation or through any reorganization, transfer of assets, consolidation, merger, dissolution, issue or sale of securities or any other
voluntary action, avoid or seek to avoid the observance or performance of any of the terms of this Warrant, but will at all times in good faith assist in the carrying out of
all such terms and in the taking of all such actions as may be necessary or appropriate to protect the rights of Holder as set forth in this Warrant against
impairment. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company will (i) not increase the par value of any Warrant Shares above the amount payable therefor
upon such exercise immediately prior to such increase in par value, (ii) take all such action as may be necessary or appropriate in order that the Company may validly
and legally issue fully paid and nonassessable Warrant Shares upon the exercise of this Warrant and (iii) use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all such
authorizations, exemptions or consents from any public regulatory body having jurisdiction thereof, as may be, necessary to enable the Company to perform its
obligations under this Warrant.
(iii) Before taking any action which would result in an adjustment in the number of Warrant Shares for which this Warrant is exercisable or in
the Exercise Price, the Company shall obtain all such authorizations or exemptions thereof, or consents thereto, as may be necessary from any public regulatory body or
bodies having jurisdiction thereof.
(e) Jurisdiction. All questions concerning the construction, validity, enforcement and interpretation of this Warrant shall be determined in
accordance with the provisions of Delaware law.
(f) Restrictions. The Holder acknowledges that the Warrant Shares acquired upon the exercise of this Warrant, if not registered, will have restrictions
upon resale imposed by state and federal securities laws.
(g) Nonwaiver and Expenses. No course of dealing or any delay or failure to exercise any right hereunder on the part of Holder shall operate as a
waiver of such right or otherwise prejudice Holder’s rights, powers or remedies. Without limiting any other provision of this Warrant, if the Company willfully and
knowingly fails to comply with any provision of this Warrant, which results in any material damages to the Holder, the Company shall pay to Holder such amounts as
shall be sufficient to cover any costs and expenses including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys’ fees, including those of appellate proceedings, incurred by
Holder in collecting any amounts due pursuant hereto or in otherwise enforcing any of its rights, powers or remedies hereunder.
(h) Notices. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all notices and other communications provided for hereunder shall be in writing
(including electronic mail and facsimile) and delivered to the applicable party at its address specified opposite its signature below, or at such other address as shall be
designated by such party in a written notice to the other. All such notices and communications shall, when mailed, telegraphed, telexed, telecopied or cabled or sent by
overnight courier, be effective when deposited in the mails, delivered to the telegraph company, cable company or overnight courier, as the case may be, or sent by telex
or telecopier.
(i) Limitation of Liability. No provision hereof, in the absence of any affirmative action by Holder to exercise this Warrant to purchase Warrant
Shares, and no enumeration herein of the rights or privileges of Holder, shall give rise to any liability of Holder for the purchase price of any Common Stock or as a
stockholder of the Company, whether such liability is asserted by the Company or by creditors of the Company.
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(j) Remedies. The Holder, in addition to being entitled to exercise all rights granted by law, including recovery of damages, will be entitled to specific
performance of its rights under this Warrant. The Company agrees that monetary damages would not be adequate compensation for any loss incurred by reason of a
breach by it of the provisions of this Warrant and hereby agrees to waive and not to assert the defense in any action for specific performance that a remedy at law would
be adequate.
(k) Successors and Assigns. Subject to applicable securities laws, this Warrant and the rights and obligations evidenced hereby shall inure to the
benefit of and be binding upon the successors and permitted assigns of the Company and the successors and permitted assigns of Holder. The provisions of this
Warrant are intended to be for the benefit of any Holder from time to time of this Warrant and shall be enforceable by the Holder or holder of Warrant Shares.
(l) Amendment. This Warrant may be modified or amended or the provisions hereof waived with the written consent of the Company and the Holders
holding Warrants at least equal to a majority of the Warrant Shares issuable upon exercise of all then outstanding Warrants.
(m) Severability. Wherever possible, each provision of this Warrant shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable
law, but if any provision of this Warrant shall be prohibited by or invalid under applicable law, such provision shall be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or
invalidity, without invalidating the remainder of such provisions or the remaining provisions of this Warrant.
(n) Headings. The headings used in this Warrant are for the convenience of reference only and shall not, for any purpose, be deemed a part of this
Warrant.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Warrant to be executed and delivered by its duly authorized officer on the day and year first above written.
BIOLARGO, INC.

By:
/s/ Dennis P Calvert
Name: Dennis P. Calvert, President
Address:14921 Chestnut St.
Westminster, CA 92683
Original Holder: Bruce Kelber
Issuance Date: March 1, 2021
Instrument Number: 33606
Shares purchasable: 225,000
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EXHIBIT A
NOTICE OF EXERCISE – WARRANT

TO:

BIOLARGO, INC.

(1) The undersigned hereby elects to purchase _____________ common shares of the Company (maximum allowed: 225,000) pursuant to the terms
of the attached Warrant, and tenders herewith payment of the exercise price in full, together with all applicable transfer taxes, if any.
(2) Unless said Warrant Shares will be delivered electronically via DWAC, please issue the Warrant Shares in the name of the undersigned or in such
other name as is specified below in “book entry” form at the Company’s transfer agent.
If the Warrant Shares will be delivered electronically via DWAC, please issue them to the following account:
Name of DTC Participant (broker-dealer at which the account of Holder to be credited with the Warrant Shares is maintained):

DTC Participant Number:
Name of Account at DTC Participant to be credited with the Shares:

Account Number at DTC Participant to be credited with the Shares:

[SIGNATURE OF HOLDER]
Name of Investing Entity:
Signature of Authorized Signatory of Investing Entity:
Name of Authorized Signatory:
Title of Authorized Signatory:
Date:
Address for delivery of shares (no PO boxes):
Social Security Number / Tax Identification Number:

EXHIBIT B
NOTICE OF TRANSFER –WARRANT
(To be signed only upon transfer of Warrant and subject to other conditions of this Warrant)
FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned hereby sells, assigns and transfers unto ____________________________________________ the right
represented by the attached Warrant to purchase __________ shares of the Common Stock of BIOLARGO, INC., to which the attached Warrant relates, and appoints
_____________________ as Attorney-in-fact to transfer such right on the books of BIOLARGO, INC., with full power of substitution in the premises.
The undersigned understands that any transfer of the attached Warrant is subject to full compliance with Federal and applicable state securities laws and
other requirements, which requirements shall be determined and which issues shall be decided by BIOLARGO, INC., in its sole and absolute discretion, prior to
consenting to and recognizing such transfer.
Dated:

(Signature must conform in all respects to the name of the Holder as specified on the face of the Warrant)

(Address)

Signed in the presence of:

Exhibit 21.1
List of Subsidiaries of Registrant

BioLargo Life Technologies, Inc., a California Corporation
ONM Environmental, Inc., a California Corporation
Clyra Medical Technologies, Inc., a California Corporation*
BioLargo Water Investment Group, Inc., a California Corporation
BioLargo Water, Inc., a Canadian Corporation**
BioLargo Development Corp., a California Corporation
BioLargo Engineering, Science & Technologies, LLC, a Tennessee limited liability company

* All subsidiaries are wholly owned except for Clyra Medical Technologies, Inc.
** A wholly owned subsidiary of BioLargo Water Investment Group, Inc.

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements of BioLargo, Inc. on Form S-8 (File Nos. 333-225821, 333-153193, 333-113443, 333-103479,
333-102226, and 333-97839) of our report dated March 30, 2021, appearing in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of BioLargo, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2020.
Our report dated March 30, 2021 contains an explanatory paragraph that states the Company has experienced recurring losses, negative cash flows from operations, has
limited capital resources, a net stockholders’ deficit and significant debt obligations coming due in the near term. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this
uncertainty.

/s/ HASKELL & WHITE LLP

Irvine, California
March 30, 2021

Ex. 31.1
I, Dennis P. Calvert, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of BioLargo, Inc. (the “Registrant”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting; and

The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Dated: March 30, 2021

/s/ DENNIS P. CALVERT
Dennis P. Calvert
Chief Executive Officer

Ex. 31.2
I, Charles K. Dargan, II, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of BioLargo, Inc. (the “Registrant”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting; and

The Registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Dated: March 30, 2021

/s/ CHARLES K. DARGAN II
Charles K. Dargan, II
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Dennis P. Calvert, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report of
BioLargo, Inc. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of
BioLargo, Inc.
Dated: March 30, 2021

/s/ DENNIS P. CALVERT
Dennis P. Calvert
Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to BioLargo, Inc. and will be retained by BioLargo, Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.
I, Charles K. Dargan II, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual Report
of BioLargo, Inc. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of
BioLargo, Inc.
Dated: March 30, 2021

/s/ CHARLES K. DARGAN II
Charles K. Dargan II
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to BioLargo, Inc. and will be retained by BioLargo, Inc. and furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

